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UNITED STATES
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For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011
TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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Commission file number: 001-34528
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90 days. Yep Noo
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilitigs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K @& montained herein, and will not be contained, to
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amendment to this Form 10-K.
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exge Act). Ye® No p
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PART |
Special Note Regarding Forwa-Looking Statements

Information included or incorporated by referent¢his Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwérdking statements. All forward-looking
statements are inherently uncertain as they amdbas current expectations and assumptions comeefuiure events or future performance of the
Company. Readers are cautioned not to place umatiaece on these forward-looking statements, whrehonly predictions and speak only as of the
date hereof. Forward-looking statements may coriterwords “estimate,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “pgct,” “forecast,” “plan,” “potential,” or similar
expressions, and are subject to numerous knowmiakmbwn risks and uncertainties. Additionally, etaents relating to implementation of business
strategy, future financial performance, acquisistrategies, capital raising transactions, perforceaf contractual obligations, and similar statetse
may contain forward-looking statements. In evahgasuch statements, prospective investors anékbhers should carefully review various risks
and uncertainties identified in this Report, inchglthe matters set forth under the captions “Fiaktors” and in the Company’s other SEC filings.
These risks and uncertainties could cause the Coyigactual results to differ materially from thdadicated in the forward-looking statements. The
Company disclaims any obligation to update or plfpnnounce revisions to any forward-looking steats to reflect future events or developments.

Although forward-looking statements in this Ann&aport on Form 16 reflect the good faith judgment of our managemeuth statements can ol
be based on facts and factors currently known by oasequently, forward-looking statements arerieity subject to risks and uncertainties, and
actual results and outcomes may differ materiatyynf the results and outcomes discussed in or patid by the forward-looking statements. Factors
that could cause or contribute to such differemgessults and outcomes include, without limitatitrose specifically addressed under the heading
“Risk Factors Related to Our Business” below, all asethose discussed elsewhere in this Annual RepoForm 10K. Readers are urged not to pli
undue reliance on these forward-looking statemevtig;h speak only as of the date of this Annuald&epn Form 10-K. We file reports with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Youread and copy any materials we file with the SE@@ SEC’s Public Reference Room, 100 F.
Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. You can obdalditional information about the operation of theolc Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-
800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains aerfét site (www.sec.gov) that contains reportsxpand information statements, and other
information regarding issuers that file electroficavith the SEC, including us.

We disclaim any obligation to revise or update &oryard-looking statements in order to reflect awent or circumstance that may arise after the
date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Readeeswaged to carefully review and consider the vasidisclosures made throughout the entirety of
this Annual Report, which attempt to advise inter@parties of the risks and factors that may aféec business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Our Business

Headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utah, ZAGG Inc aobsidiaries (the “Company” or “ZAGG") designs,méactures and distributes protective
coverings, audio accessories and power solutiansoissumer electronic and hand-held devices uiebtand names invisibleSHIELD®,
ZAGGskins™, ZAGGbuds™, ZAGGsparq™, ZAGGmate™, ZAGI&™, ZAGGkeys™, iFrogz™ and Earpollution™,

Our flagship product, the invisibleSHIELD, is m&dem a protective film covering that was developejinally to protect the leading edges of rotary
blades of military helicopters. We determined thé same film product could be configured to fitmthe surface of electronic devices and marketed
to consumers for use in protecting such devices uery day wear and tear, including scratchespgs, debris and other surface blemishes. The film
also permits touch sensitivity, meaning it can beduon devices that have a towstineen interface. The invisibleSHIELD film mateiighighly reliabl
and durable because it was originally developedi$erin a high friction, high velocity context wittthe aerospace industry. The film provides long
lasting protection for the surface of electroniwides subject to normal wear and tear. The film fsrm of polyurethane substance, akin to a very th
pliable, flexible and durable clear plastic thabewks to the surface and shape of the object tohwihis applied.

The invisibleSHIELD is designed specifically for plp ® iPods ® , iPhones ® and iPads ® , laptopk pt®nes, digital cameras, watch faces, GPS
systems, gaming devices, and other items. (ApBled,iiPad, and iPhone are all registered tradenudrkpple, Inc.) The product is “cutd fit specific
devices and packaged together with a moistureatetty solution which makes the invisibleSHIELD aght the surface of the device, literalliké a
second skin,” and virtually invisible to the eyEhe invisibleSHIELD is not ornamental, but rathes\ades a long lasting barrier to preserve the thran
new look of the surface of an electronic deviae e&rly 2010, we introduced the invisibleSHIELD DRAhich is a protective film made from the se
material as the original invisibleSHIELD, and eregned to be clearer, smoother to the touch, anliedppithout the need for fluid. In the beginning
of 2011, we added the invisibleSHIELD Smudge-Ptodjur line, which added features to the invisitlES_D film that eliminate smudges,
fingerprints, and glare from the device displayJémuary 2012, we introduced the invisibleSHIELD,HDhew premium version of the
invisibleSHIELD that offers industry-leading clariand finish, online at www.ZAGG.colend at select retail partners.




On June 7, 2011, United States Patent No. 7,957iB4 “Protective Covering for an Electronic Des”, was issued to the Company. The patent is
directed to protective covers for electronic desisach as our full body invisibleSHIELD productseTpatent protects film-based body covers which
may include one or more films or sets of films thalbstantially cover an electronic device and conftw its shape. The Company has commenced
litigation against third parties whom the Compaslidves are infringing this patent.

As of the date of this report, ZAGG offered ove3®) precision pre-cut invisibleSHIELD designs wdtlifetime replacement warranty through online
channels, big-box retailers, electronics specstityes, resellers, college bookstores, Mac staresmall kiosks. We plan to increase our produets!
to offer new electronic accessories to our techagaustomer base, as well as an expanded arrayisibhleSHIELD products for other

industries. Given the amazing success of theilleSHIELD (evidenced by an increase in sales, amng 2010 to 2011 of 49%, from $69.3 million
to $103.2 million), ZAGG has the unique opporturyoffer additional accessories from a trusteds®to gadget enthusiasts worldwide.

The ZAGGaudio brand of electronics accessoriespaoducts was first released in late 2008, and naes to focus on innovation and superior

value. The flagship product within ZAGGaudio ig tward winning ZAGGsmartbuds™ line, which includ@ssGaquabuds, a wateesistant earbt
introduced in late 2010. A previous winner of toveted CES Design and Innovation award, the ZAG&#mds line has been very well received by
professional reviewers, experts and the consunes. l62n January 12, 2010, we were awarded patertteruds D 607,875 by the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office, covering design elements of ZA@@dbuds in-ear headphones.

ZAGGskins were introduced in November 2009, andliamcustomizable, high-resolution images withgbeatch protection of ZAGG'’s
invisibleSHIELD. To create a ZAGGskin, consumeetkest from a library of professional designs oroagl their own high-resolution personal photos
or images. The printed image, custom designethgr device, is then merged with the exclusiveadiough, patented invisibleSHIELD film, which
allows customers to both protect and individualieeir gadgets with a single product.

In early 2009, we introduced the ZAGGsparq, a smalverful, portable battery that can rechargewguenungry “smartphone” up to four times
before the ZAGGsparq itself needs to be rechargedturing a 6000ma lithium polymer cell, the ZA@&s) plugs into a wall outlet and provides t
USB ports for charging mobile devices. An adaelso included that fits many international semadd. The ZAGGsparq is compatible with any
USB-charged device, including the Apple iPad, iRod iPhone, as well as cell phones, handheld gasyistems, and digital cameras.

We introduced ZAGG LEATHERSsKins in early 2010. Z&E&EATHERSsKkins are thin, pliable cases that apjigally to personal electronics like a
film, and are created from genuine leather. Avddan typical leather shades and premium animtiepss, ZAGG LEATHERSskins use an adhesive
that holds the skin firmly in place on the devibet can be removed if necessary. Later in 201(hmwadened the line to include ZAGG
sportLEATHER products, which are also created fgenuine leather and feature authentic recreatibbaseball, football and basketball

textures. ZAGG LEATHERskins and sportLEATHERS available for the most popular personal electranics

We introduced the ZAGGmate in November 2010. TA&Bmate is a protective and functional companiotheoApple iPad and iPad 2, as well as
the new iPad, that accentuates both the appeaaawlcetility of Apple's innovative device. Made fraincraft-grade aluminum with a high quality
finish, the patent-pending ZAGGmate matches thedetok and feel of the iPad and iPad 2. The Bx@te line features two models, one with a
simple, innovative stand and built-in wireless Baggh® keyboard that allows for fast, responsivgryg, and interaction with the iPad's featurese Th
second model replaces the keyboard with a moratilerstand that provides multiple angles for ushe ZAGGmate was the recipient of several
prestigious industry awards, including the Macwdtkpo 2011 Best of Show and recognition as a CESJations Design and Engineering Honoree.
On April 7, 2011, we partnered with Logitech on B#GGmate product and renamed it the Logitech KeybdCase by ZAGG. Under the partnership
with Logitech, we receive royalty payments forwdits sold by Logitech.

As a follow up to our very successful ZAGGmate,lauenched the ZAGGfolio in July 2011. The ZAGGfoi#oa stylish and functional case for the
iPad 2 and Samsung Galaxy tablet that not onlyofidl protection, but increases productivity thot a removable, Bluetooth keyboard. Operating
with Bluetooth 3.0, the integrated battery willtlésr months between charges. A true 3-in-1 solutiith a keyboard, stand and full protective cover
the patent pending ZAGGfolio is the winner of mpii awards including the 2012 CES Innovations Desigd Engineering Showcase Honors. In fall
of 2011, we expanded the ZAGGfolio family to inctutll different colors, textures and patterns indlgdenuine leather.

In November 2011, ZAGG launched the ZAGGkeys FLEXprtable Bluetooth keyboard and stand. As indghg its name, the FLEX offers flexible
function for the two most popular tablet and smotge operating systems; a switch on the keyboaglés between the Apple iOS and Android®.
The ZAGGkeys FLEX utilizes same keyboard layoubasawardwinning Logitech Keyboard Case and ZAGGfolio, efsgia true typing experienc
The ZAGGkeys FLEX includes a unique keyboard cdkat easily converts into a stable stand compatilith nearly any tablet or smartphone. The
ZAGGkeys FLEX was named an honoree at the 2012 I8&S/ations Design and Engineering Showcase.




We maintain our corporate offices and operatioaaility at 3855 South 500 West, Suites B, C, 3, K, L, M, N, O, and S, Salt Lake City, Utah,
84115. The telephone number of the Company is 8RL599. Our website address is www.ZAGG.coinformation contained on, or accessible
through, our website is not a part of, and is nobiporated by reference into, this report.

Acquisition of iFrogz

On June 21, 2011, the Company, ReminderBand,dbe. jFrogz (“iFrogz”), and the owners of iFrogzesed into a Stock Purchase Agreement
pursuant to which ZAGG acquired 100% of the outditagn shares of iFrogz. The combination of ZAGG &gz represents an opportunity to create
a market leader in the mobile device accessorthssiny by building on complementary brands andaasing overall market share by growing product
lines and expanding distribution.

iFrogz is headquartered in Logan, Utah, and desigasiufactures and distributes protective coverarmgbdigital audio accessories for consumer
electronic and hand-held devices under the branteeaFrogz™ and Earpollution™.

iFrogz began in 2006 by creating protective coversPods with a unique combination of fashion gpelity that was received well by the marketp
through online sales only. In early 2007, iFroggdredistributing through large retailers. Subsetjyetine iFrogz product offering has expanded into
cell phones, other music devices, and a wider tyaakfashion assortments for mobile devices, whdetinuing to expand its retail customer base.

In the summer of 2007, iFrogz released its first lof audio products under the Earpollution brdriek eclectic selection of Earpollution™ earbuds
headphones targets a younger demographic, yeagpitals to a wide demographic of consumers.

iFrogz continues to innovate its product lines\alfg it to remain ahead of the curve in the eledtalevice accessory fashion market.
Strategy

At ZAGG, we are “ Z ealousA boutG reat G adgets” We believe that hand-held devices and gadgets edest enjoyed with the right mix of (1)
protection to prevent the device from getting strat or damaged and (2) accessories that enhancerteumers’ experience with their electronic
device. The mix of our full product offering thatcludes the invisibleSHIELD, ZAGGskins, iFrogz mctive cases, ZAGG and iFrogz audio
accessories, ZAGGspargs, and our keyboard linasdaehe end consumer with unparalleled devicegat@in and enhanced enjoyment of their
mobile electronic device.

We will continue to expand our product offeringfogusing on innovative products and services ttetan target market to our customers based on
their purchase history. Our current lines of asoggitems, including our brands ZAGGskins™, ZAGBEATHERskins™, ZAGGbuds™,
ZAGGsparg™, ZAGGmate™, ZAGGfolio™, ZAGGkeys™, ZAG8Js™ FLEX, iFrogz™ cases, and Earpollution™ audaxpcts are available to
our customers through our websites at www.ZAGG.emich www.iFrogz.com and through our retail distribution channels.

As we continue to develop and enhance our branckreard reputation, we anticipate expanding to nedymt lines that complement our overall
strategy and enhance our market presence.

Design and Packaging

We design theinvisibleSHIELD product for application on thousamaf specific electronic devices. We acquire raaterials from third party sourc
that are delivered to our facilities and assembdegackaging. In addition, we out-source the highume precision-cutting of the materials, which we
consider to be more cost effective. We then paelthg configured materials together with an inatedh kit consisting of a moisture adhesive-
activating solution, a squeegee, and instructiongpplication on specific electronic devices. #l& outsource some of these packaging processes t
independent third parties. We have establishedioeiships with package assembly, shipping, anidtiog companies that allow us to expand our
production and shipping capacity as we continugréov.

We also custom design each cutout for each eléctdmvice and currently have over 5,900 uniquegtesi The cutout designs are developed
internally and owned exclusively by us. We do owh the patent for the base materials, which ale wethe supplier. Our supplier has verbally
agreed to not sell the base materials to any otompetitors. We believe that our relationshighwite manufacturer of the raw material is on exct
terms and anticipate no interruption in our abitdyacquire adequate supplies of raw materialspmoduce products.




We manufacture our mobile device accessories (ZAaes ZAGGmate, ZAGGfolio, ZAGGkeys, ZAGGbuds, ifrocases, and Earpollution audio
accesories) using third party manufacturers. We lestablished relationships with third-party mantifeers, package assembly, warehousing,
shipping, and logistics companies that allow usx¥pand our production and shipping capacity asemtitue to grow.

We developed our retail packaging with the inputnafjor retailers to appeal to the consumer. We ltsigned the hard plastic and cardboard box
packaging to be informative and attractive for paifisale displays.

Market for Products

The portable electronic device market, notably hafdidevices, is continuing to see advancemergsiformance and functionality in existing

models. Furthermore, the market is expanding akeaged by new product developments in portabletelric devices. Correspondingly, the
aesthetics of such devices are increasingly impboes buyers typically consider the look and féeduzh devices, as much as performance, in making
their purchasing decisions.

As a result, an industry and significant market éx@erged for (1) protecting portable electronicices, notably the “high end” devices — both in term
of price, and design/functionality, and (2) enhagdihe consumer experience with accessories foilenelectronic devices.

We sell each of our product lines directly via aabsites, and through our distributors and retdiess, to consumers of electronic household and

hand-held devices. We sell a significant amourgrotiuct for use on Apple’s iPad, iPhone, and iBedces. According to industry sources, over
38.6 million iPods, 93.1 million iPhones, and 4ilion iPads were sold by Apple during 2011. Theates numbers could increase in 2012 when
considering current Apple product offerings andrédease of a new models of the iPad, iPhone, Rod devices.

In addition to Apple, the handheld electronics istdyihas continued to market and develop devicés twuch screen interfaces, and several major
manufacturers, including Samsung, Motorola, Len®4d) and HTC continue to release innovative prodwzch year. The invisibleSHIELD is the
ideal device protection offering for all types afdgets, in particular touch-screen devices, agdsdot interfere with the functionality of the v
while offering complete scratchproof protectionur@®eyboard product line is ideal for tablet ancagiphone users as our product line includes
keyboards that are both device specific (ZAGGmatélfe Apple iPad and iPad 2; ZAGGfolio for the ApPad, iPad 2, and Samsung Galaxy) and
device agnostic (ZAGGkeys) that are compatible widmy tablet and smart phone devices. In additiorvdGGaudio and Earpollution product lines
offer excellent enhancement to any mobile device.Mll continue to focus our marketing and innowatefforts around these types of gadgets that
protect and enhance mobile devices.

On April 7, 2011, we partnered with Logitech on B®GGmate product and renamed it the Logitech Keyd&Case by ZAGG. Under the partnership
with Logitech, we receive a royalty payment forwalits sold. Currently, we have not entered intp similar arrangements for any other products.

As of the date of this report, we have not partdevith any manufacturers of electronic devicesundie our products with such devices on initiaés
or to include as part of the device, the applicatbour products. In the future, we may seek @archrrangement or an alternative co-marketing
agreement, but we have not entered into definitegotiations for such an arrangement at this time.

Market Segments

With over 5,900 invisibleSHIELD products/producinéigurations available, we have a protective cavgfor all major market segments of handheld
electronic devices, including: iPods and othentri®IP3 players; iPads and other notebook compateidablets; cell phones, laptops, GPS devices,
watch faces, and similar devices and surfaces.nféad to continue to configure the invisibleSHIEpEduct for use in newly developed consumer
devices. The invisibleSHIELD can be quickly configd, packaged, and shipped to customers for neweatesas they enter the consumer marketplace,
making the invisibleSHIELD available for purchasetee time of or within days of the launch of nelatronic devices.

One of our fastest growing market segments isertphone and tablet consumer. Most often, smantpland tablet buyers are drawn to the device
by its elegant design, as well as its easy-to-usetionality. However, everyday use often marsfitish of these devices, screen and other aresds th
receive wear and tear. The invisibleSHIELD ana@zrcases offer excellent device protection, whdeimpeding the form or functionality of the
smart phones and tablets, and do not inhibit thehsensitivity for smartphones and tablets witictoscreen technology.




As sales of electronics continue to grow, we apétg that sales of our complementary accessoryuptedavill continue to grow, as well. Four of the
largest areas of our market opportunities relatates of iPods, cellular telephones, digital camend tablet computing devices. According to
industry sources, over 38.6 million iPods, 93.1lionliPhones, and 40.5 million iPads were sold Ippke during 2011. In addition, industry sources
project that the worldwide global accessories mankii increase from an estimated $41.0 billioneaue industry during 2011 to an estimated $61.0
billion industry in 2015. Management believes tBAGG is positioned to serve market needs withis thdustry with our multiple products lines that
include protection, audio, mobile power, and keydgaoducts.

Marketing and Distribution

We sell our products directly on our websites, tigto distributors, through kiosk vendors in shoppimagls and retail centers, and through electronics
retailers. Our products are available for saleldweide via our websites. Currently we advertise products primarily on the Internet, through print
advertisements in conjunction with our retail part and through point of sale displays at retaifitions. We also advertise our products on tsiew
and radio both locally and nationally. We intendstrategically expand our advertising activitie2012. We are also seeking to create strategic
partnerships with makers of cellular phone devaras electronic accessories.

Indirect Channels

We sell our invisibleSHIELD products through inditehannels including big box retailers, domestid aternational distributors, independent Apple
retailers, university bookstores, and small indeleertly owned consumer electronics stores. Foyélae ended December 31, 2011, we sold
approximately $138.9 million of product throughghendirect channels, or approximately 78% of ougrall net sales for 2011. We require all indi
channel partners to enter into a reseller agreemigmius.

We continue to utilize multiple distributors to rkat and place our products for sale in the UnitedeS and abroad. We have entered into distributio
agreements for many geographic locations incluttiegunited States, Canada, the United Kingdom, raliat Hong Kong, Saudi Arabia, South Kol
Mexico, Japan, Germany, Sweden, the NetherlandsSanth America for the marketing, distribution aade of our products.

We are continuously negotiating for new distribotrelationships in the United States and abroadd@ase the marketing and sale of our products in
retail locations.

Website Sales

We sell our products worldwide directly to consusnen our websites at www.ZAGG.cand www.iFrogz.com For the year ended December 31,
2011, we sold approximately $26.9 million of protian our website, or approximately 15% of our ollerat sales for 2010.

We also generated revenue from shipping chargessimmers. For the year ended December 31, 204 yiewerated approximately $2.0 million from
shipping charges, primarily from our internet cuséos, or approximately 1% of our overall net sée<2011.

Mall Kiosk Vendors

We sell our invisibleSHIELD and other products to kiosk vendiorshopping malls and retail centers. We enter agreements with such vendors
who purchase the products and resell them to coasunior the year ended December 31, 2011, weapplidbximately $11.4 million of product, or
approximately 6% of our overall net sales for 2thtough our corporate owned mall carts and tanBeel cart owners. The third party licensed cart
owners are required to enter into a standard leeansl resale agreement with us wherein we chargefaont license fee that is recognized into
revenue over the life of the license. For the yaated December 31, 2011, we recognized $0.2 milétated to these license agreements.

Company Organization

Our operations are divided into two operating geougAGG and iFrogz. Within ZAGG and iFrogz, we arganized as follows: marketing and sales,
which includes the development and maintenanceioivebsites, customer service, production, distidlouand shipping, art and graphics, product
design, and general and administration functidbperations of HzO are completely separate of thosee Company.

Warranties

We offer a lifetime guaranty of the durability afiro invisibleSHIELD products. If the invisibleSHIELB iever scratched or damaged (in the course of

normal use), a customer simply needs to send Iec&ltl product and we will replace it for free. elproducts that the invisibleSHIELD is applied to,
typically have relatively short lives which helgslimit our exposure for warranty claims.




Intellectual Property Rights

ZAGG owns U.S. Patents for a number of its produntduding its invisibleSHIELD protective films felectronic devices. ZAGG continues to
actively pursue further protection for its invi®8IHIELD® protective films in the United States andoreign countries, having filed patent
applications for (i) durable transparent films thaver and protect all of the outer surfaces ofocaomer electronic devices; (ii) both wet and dry
application processes for securing protective filsmsonsumer electronic devices; and (iii) dry-&mlon protective films. ZAGG has also obtained
and continues to seek patent protection for itaupoin-ear headphones. In addition, ZAGG haslfatent applications for its ZAGGmate protective
cases, which provide protection for tablet computeithout distracting from their appearance, andiynat our other current and expected product
offerings.

ZAGG owns more than 5,900 invisibleSHIELD proteetfilms designs for protecting a variety of consuelectronic devices. New designs are
routinely added to ZAGG's portfolio. ZAGG also owthasigns for its ZAGGmate products. ZAGG has fikedign applications in the United States
and abroad to protect many of its most populargiesiand has received exclusive design rights iemamber of jurisdictions.

Additionally and as described in detail below, ZAGIEims common law protection, has applied to tegiand/or has secured trademark registrations
for a variety of trademarks in the United Stated @mnforeign countries.

ZAGG has strategically developed exclusive relatiops and exclusive agreements with a number af garty vendors, suppliers and partners.
ZAGG's longstanding relationships with its raw materials siggpland its manufacturers expand the scope ohpaténtellectual property protectic
available to ZAGG including development of innovatsolutions for protective films. These exclusigitionships also provide ZAGG with a
reasonable expectation that it will be able to spp customers with products long into the future

ZAGG regularly files applications to protect itw@ntions, designs and trademarks. While ZAGG bebahat the ownership of intellectual property
protection is important to its business, and ttesuccess is based in part upon the ownershigtelfdctual property rights, ZAGG's success is also
based upon the innovation competencies of its iveetgam.

Patents

ZAGG has been awarded U.S. Patent No. 7,957,53&4] Brotective Covering for An Electronic DeviceThis patent provides ZAGG with exclusive
patent rights to protective coverings and systemasmaethods for covering mobile electronic devicé whin protective films. ZAGG is seeking
further patent protection for (i)Rrotective Covering for An Electronic Devitteough the patent application that has been pudadiss U.S. Patent
Application Publication No. 2011/0236629, and &protective Covering with a Customizable Image foiEectronic Devicehrough the patent
application that has been published as U.S. Pajgplication Publication No. 2010/0270189, whichrigended to protect ZAGG’s ZAGGskins™
products.

The United States Patent and Trademark Office (‘IS has also granted U.S. Patent No. D607,87&dtieadset with Earphones Configured for
Connection to Electronic Devite ZAGG. This patent provides ZAGG with exclusivghts to certain design elements of ZAGG'’s populagar
headphones. ZAGG is seeking further patent prioteéor its in-ear headphones through the pateplieation that has been published as U.S. Patent
Application Publication N0.2010/0272305, titleladset with Earphones

ZAGG has acquired the U.S. Patents 7,389,869 etbiisplay Protective Film Application Kand 7,784,610 entitleldrotective Film Application Kit
and Method (See Item 3 — Legal Proceedings, below) Thesenpaprovide ZAGG with exclusive rights to certkits and methods for applying
protective films to mobile electronic devices.

ZAGG is also seeking patent protection for its petive cases for mobile computing devices throlghpiatent applications that have been publish
U.S. Patent Application Publication No. 2012/00082&led Protective Cover for a Mobile Computing Device,t8yss Including Protective Covers,
and Associated Methodsnd U.S. Patent Application Publication No. 201 D&8P99, titledSystem and Apparatus for Protecting a Mobile Device

Additional yet-to-be published patent applicatitiase been filed by ZAGG to protect a variety ofiiisovations.




Trademarks
ZAGG is the owner of the following Trademark Regitibns from the USPTO:

« Shield Design, Registration No. 3,923,393

« INVISIBLE SHIELD, Registration No. 3,825,458
« ZAGG, Registration No. 3,838,237

« EARPOLLUTION, Registration No. 3,744,404

« MYFROGZ, Registration No. 3,813,731

« IFROGZ, Registration No. 3,309,320

« SHIELDZONE, Registration No. 4,096,424

ZAGG is the owner of the following Trademark Applions pending with the USPTO:

o ZAGG, Application No. 85116623

« ZAGG (and design), Application No. 851117

« ZAGG, Application No. 8510934

« LUXE, Application No. 8513016

« Z (and design), Application No. 851117

« ZAGGFOLIO, Application No. 8539130

« ZAGGMATE, Application No. 8539101

« EARPOLLUTION, Application No. 8555618

« EARPOLLUTION, Application No. 85095022

« Frog Design, Application No. 85087016

« IFROGZ (and design), Application No. 85087013

« IFROGZ, Application No. 85087009

« INVISIBLE SHIELD, Application No. 85127327

« SHIELDZONE, Application No. 85511820

« APPSPACE, Application No. 85511940

« Soundwave Design, Application No. 85095082

« EAR POLLUTION (and design), Application No. 8509206
« STICKIT TO YOUR DEVICE, Application No. 85494957
« NANO-MEMORY TECHNOLOGY (and design), Application No.8%1435
« MILITARY GRADE (and design), Application No. 854909
« MATE, Application No. 85391035

« SPARQ, Application No. 85126213

« MADE FOR SMART PHONES Z (and design), Application.N85121209
« MADE FOR SMARTPHONES, Application No. 85118000
« SOLO, Application No. 85480307

« ZAGGKEYS FLEX, Application No. 85480247

« FLEX, Application No. 85480072

« ZAGGKEYS, Application No. 85478884

« APPSPACE, Application No. 77804158

ZAGG also claims common law trademark rights inth8. to each of the trademarks listed above akagéb the following marks: the “SHIELD
SPRAY,” “ULTIMATE SCRATCH PROTECTION,” “ZAGGFOAM,” “ZAGGWIPES,” “ZEALOUS ABOUT GREAT GADGETS,”
“ZAGGSKINS,” “ZAGGAUDIO,” “ZAGGSPARQ,” “ZAGGSMARTBUDS,” “ZAGGAQUABUDS,” “ZAGGBUD,” “ZAGGKEYS SOLO,”
“SPORTLEATHER,” “LEATHERSKINS,” “LEATHERCREAM,” “ZAGGBAG,” “ZAGGBAG DIVIDE,” “IN-EAR BLISS,” “ENDLESS POWER,
TO GO,” “ON-THE-GO POWER,” “TAGZAGG,” “ZAGG DAILY,” “ZAGG ZEALOTS,” and “ENHANCING AND PROTECTING THBMOBILE
EXPERIENCE.”




ZAGG has also received the following trademark sggtions outside of the U.S.:

o ZAGG, Reg. No. 6328215 — EUROPEAN COMMUNITY

o ZAGG, Reg. No. 5234734 — JAPAN

o ZAGG, Reg. No. 1266121 — AUSTRALIA

o ZAGG, Reg. No. 301217754 — HONG KONG

« ZAGG, Reg. No. 40-2008-0048050 — SOUTH KOREA

o ZAGG, Reg. No. 1098228 — MEXICO

o ZAGG, Reg. No. 1230111 — MEXICO

o ZAGG, Reg. No. 7444833 — CHINA

« ZAGG, Reg. No. 1070970 — CHINA (Extension of Intational Registration)
o ZAGG, Reg. No. 1742932 — INDIA

« INVISIBLE SHIELD, Reg. No. 413209 — COLOMBIA

« INVISIBLE SHIELD, Reg. No. 801915 - CANADA

« INVISIBLE SHIELD (and design), Reg. No. 8492051 URROPEAN UNION
« APPSPACE, Reg. No. 8879819 — EUROPEAN COMMUNITY

« APPSPACE, Reg. No. 8076456 — CHINA

« APPSPACE, Reg. No. 8076457 — CHINA

« APPSPACE, Reg. No. 5411181 — JAPAN

« EARPOLLUTION, Reg.
« EARPOLLUTION, Reg.
« EARPOLLUTION, Reg.
« EARPOLLUTION, Reg.
« EARPOLLUTION, Reg.
« EARPOLLUTION, Reg.
« EARPOLLUTION, Reg.
« Soundwave Design, Reg.
« Soundwave Design, Reg.
« Soundwave Design, Reg.
« Soundwave Design, Reg.
« Soundwave Design, Reg.
« Soundwave Design, Reg.
« Soundwave Design, Reg.

No.
No.
No.
No.
No.
No.
No.
No. 1066131 — AUSTRALIA @asion of International Registration)

No. 931226 — CHILE

No. 9291832 — EUROPEAN CONMY

No. 1066~ International Registratio

No. 835¢ NEW ZEALAND

No. 1066'-= NORWAY (Extension of International Registratic

No. 1066'- RUSSIAN FEDERATION (Extension of International Regation)

9196262 — EUROPEAN COMMUNITY

1067272 — AUSTRALIA (Extensi of International Registration)
931138 — CHILE

9291915 - EUROPEAN COMMUNITY

1067272 — International Regition

835859 — NEW ZEALAND

9292277 — EUROPEAN COMMUNITY

« IFROGZ, Reg. No. 10672¢~ AUSTRALIA (Extension of International Registratio

o IFROGZ, Reg. No. 93122- CHILE

« IFROGZ, Reg. No. 54163(- CHINA

« IFROGZ, Reg. No. 9274671 — EUROPEAN COMMUNITY

« IFROGZ, Reg. No. 1067284 — International Registrati

« IFROGZ, Reg. No. 5018172 — JAPAN

« IFROGZ, Reg. No. 835856 — NEW ZEALAND

« IFROGZ, Reg. No. 1067284 — NORWAY (Extension offmiational Registration)

« IFROGZ (and design), Reg. No. 9274754 — EUROPEANVMNITY

1066905 — AUSTRALIA (Extemsad International Registration)
931224 — CHILE

9274853 — EUROPEAN COMMUNITY

1066905 — International Reggisn

835857 — NEW ZEALAND

1066905 — NORWAY (Extensibimternational Registration)

« Frog Design, Reg. No.
« Frog Design, Reg. No.
« Frog Design, Reg. No.
« Frog Design, Reg. No.
« Frog Design, Reg. No.
« Frog Design, Reg. No.




ZAGG has also filed trademark applications for onenore of its above-identified trademarks in tbiofving jurisdictions:

« Argentina

« Australia

» Brazil

« Canada

« Chile

« China

« European Community
« Hong Kong

« India

« lIsrael

« Japan

« Mexico

« Norway

« Russian Federation
« South Korea

« Switzerland

« Thailand

o Turkey

« Venezuela

Government Regulations

Our operations are subject to various federalestat local employee workplace protection regutatiocluding those of the Occupational Safety and
Health Administration (“OSHA”"). We believe that cpliance with federal OSHA regulations, as well g¢esand local work-place protection
regulations, will not have a material adverse eféecour capital expenditures, earnings and cortipetand financial position. Although we believe
that our worker and employee safety procedureadeguate and in compliance with law, we cannot detaly eliminate the risk of injury to our
employees, or the possibility that we may occasipnanintentionally, be out of compliance with djgable law. In such event, we could be liable for
damages or fines or both.

Employees

We have 215 full-time employees and 46 part timplegrees, including our management team. We ha@eeployees in the United States and
Ireland that support the ZAGG operating segmewtuifing 22 employees employed on an hourly or paré-basis at our retail cart/kiosk locations
addition, we have 56 employees in the United StateisFrance that support our iFrogz operating segrireluding 24 hourly or part-time

employees. No employee is represented by a lationuand we have never suffered an interruptiobpusiness caused by labor disputes. We believe
our relationship with our employees is good.

Our Corporate History

We were formed as a Nevada corporation on Api2®4, under the name Amerasia Khan Enterprise$'BE”). On February 8, 2007, AKE
executed an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Blefgreement”) by and between AKE and its whollynewd subsidiary, SZC Acquisition, Inc., a
Nevada corporatior“*Subsidiary”) on the one hand, and ShieldZone Cration, a Utah corporation (“ShieldZone”) on theathand. Pursuant to the
Merger Agreement, ShieldZone merged with Subsidiaith ShieldZone surviving the merger and Subsid@easing to exist (the “Merger”).

Following the Merger, ShieldZone was reincorporateNevada as a subsidiary of AKE. On March 7, 2(&MeldZone was merged into AKE and
AKE changed its name to ZAGG Incorporated (latexreed to ZAGG Inc). As a result of these transastithe historical financial statements of
ZAGG Incorporated are the historical financial staénts of ShieldZone. The fiscal year end of then@amy is December 31.

We changed our name from ShieldZone CorporatidAGG Incorporated (later to ZAGG Inc) to better iios the company to become a large
enterprise in the electronics’ accessories indukiigugh organic growth and through making targeteglisitions. The ShieldZone name was very
specific to the invisibleSHIELD product line, anithaugh the invisibleSHIELD® is and will continue be our core product, the name change has
brought us the opportunity to easily add new preglt our product offering. During 2011, we changed name from ZAGG Incorporated to ZAGG
Inc.

On June 21, 2011, ZAGG acquired 100% of the oudétgnshares of iFrogz, which further diversifie@ #ixisting ZAGG product line, particularly for
audio and protective case accessories under tipolitdion and Frogz brand names.

ZAGG will continue to search out other complimegtaroven products and companies that fit the ZAG@&wgh strategy.
Seasonal Business

The Company has historically experienced increastdales in its fourth fiscal quarter comparedtter quarters in its fiscal year due to increased
holiday seasonal demand. This historical patteaukhnot be considered a reliable indicator of @menpany’s future sales or financial performance.






ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Because of the following factors, as well as ofaetors affecting the Company’s financial conditenmd operating results, past financial performance
should not be considered to be a reliable indicatduture performance, and investors should nethistorical trends to anticipate results or treinds
future periods.

Risks Related to our Financial Conditio

If we are unable to maintain our term loan and lineof credit facility, we could face a deficiency irour short term cash needs that would
negatively impact our business.

On June 21, 2011, and in conjunction with the agitjon of iFrogz, we entered into a financing agneat (the “Financing Agreement”) with Cerberus
Business Finance, LLC (“Cerberus”) and PNC Bankidwal Association (“PNC”), which is acting as thenainistrative bank. The term loan is for
$45.0 million, which was fully outstanding at Dedsen 31, 2011. The revolving credit facility is set to the Company’s borrowing base, but has a
maximum facility of $45.0 million, $23.3 million afhich was outstanding at December 31, 2011. Tivere no letters of credit at December 31, 2
though a $5.0 million facility exists, which is almset of the revolving credit facility. At Decemisst, 2011, we had financing availability of $21.7
million under the revolving credit facility, subjeto the applicable borrowing base. There areaheduled payments on the debt, though the term loar
matures on June 20, 2016 and the revolving lingedit matures on June 20, 2014. However, then€ing Agreement calls for prepayment of the
Term Loan if certain conditions are met. The py@pant requirement commences with the fiscal yededrbecember 31, 2011, and is calculated
based on a percentage of “excess cash flow” asetefn the Financing Agreement. Payment is reduineébe made within ten days of issuing the year-
end consolidated financial statements. Based memiuprojections, the Company estimates that pgyment of $2.4 million will be required to be
made during March 2012. This amount has beenifitasas current in the consolidated balance shefte the remaining Term Loan balance and
Revolving Credit Facility balance is classifiedrescurrent.

Attached to the Financing Agreement are a numbénahcial and norfinancial debt covenants. If we are not compliaith the covenants, Cerber
and PNC may decide to limit our ability to accdssitevolving credit facility. In such event, otnost-term cash requirements may exceed available
cash on hand resulting in material adverse consegseo our business.

The restrictive covenants contained in our Credit Rcility may limit our activities.

Our obligations under the Financing Agreement veex@ured by all or substantially all of the Compamgssets . Under the term loan we are subject to
specified affirmative covenants customary for loahthis type, including but not limited to the @ations to maintain good standing, provide various
notices to the Lenders, deliver financial stateménthe Lenders, maintain adequate insurance,gitpiiischarge all taxes, protect our intellectual
property and protect the collateral. We are aldzjesui to certain negative covenants customarydans of this type, including but not limited to
prohibitions against certain mergers and consatidat certain management and ownership changesitating a "change of control," and the
imposition of additional liens on Collateral or ettof our assets, as well as prohibitions agaidditi@nal indebtedness, certain dispositions opprty
changes in our business, name or location, payofetividends, prepayment of certain other indebésdn certain investments or acquisitions, and
certain transactions with affiliates, in each caslgiect to certain customary exceptions, includirgeptions that allow us to enter into non-exclesiv
and/or exclusive licenses and similar agreememigiging for the use of our intellectual propertycollaboration with third parties provided certain
conditions are met.

Failure to comply with the restrictive covenant®ir term loan could accelerate the repayment pidat outstanding under the term loan.
Additionally, as a result of these restrictive coaets, we may be at a disadvantage compared twoaypetitors that have greater operating and
financing flexibility than we do.

Our level of indebtedness reduces our financial figbility and could impede our ability to operate.

The revolving credit facility requires us to payaxiable rate of interest, which will increase ecrkase based on variations in certain financisxas
and fluctuations in interest rates can significadecrease our profits. We do not have any hedgeradlar contracts that would protect us against
changes in interest rates.

The amount of our indebtedness could have impodamséequences for us, including the following:

* requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion wf cash flow from operations to make payments ondalbt, thereby reducing fur
available for operations, future business oppotiesiand other purpose

limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes in our business and the industghinh we operate

making it more difficult for us to satisfy our debbligations, and any failure to comply with sudbligations, including financial a
other restrictive covenants, could result in améwé default under the Financing Agreement, whiohld lead to, among other things
acceleration of our indebtedness or foreclosurthefcollateral, which could have a material advef§ect on our business or financ
condition;

limiting our ability to borrow additional funds, do sell assets to raise funds, if needed, for imgricapital, capital expenditur
acquisitions or other purposes; ¢

increasing our vulnerability to general adversenecoic and industry conditions, including changesterest rates
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We may not generate sufficient cash flow from opiers to service and repay our debt and relateidatibns and have sufficient funds left over to
achieve or sustain profitability in our operatiomget our working capital and capital expenditigeds or compete successfully in our industry

Risks Related to our Company and Busine

Because sales of consumer electronic accessories @ependent on new products, product development drconsumer acceptance, we could
experience sharp decreases in our sales and prdfitargin if we are unable to continually introduce nev products and achieve consumer
acceptance.

The consumer and mobile electronics accessory fridsisre subject to constantly and rapidly chaggionsumer preferences based on performance
features and industry trends. Currently, we gdaegabstantially all of our sales from our consuar mobile electronics accessories business. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to contiougrow the revenues of our business or maintaifitpbility. Our consumer accessories business
depends, to a large extent, on the introductionaaadability of innovative products and technolegi Significant sales of our products in the niche
consumer electronic accessories market have file¢ececent growth of our business. We believe dbafuture success will depend in large part upon
our ability to enhance our existing products anddwelop, introduce, and market new products anmiorements to our existing products.

However, if we are not able to continually innovatel introduce new products that achieve consugtapsance, our sales and profit margins may
decline. Our revenues and profitability will depesrdour ability to maintain existing and generaddiional customers and develop new products. A
reduction in demand for our existing products wdwde a material adverse effect on our business stiktainability of current levels of our business
and the future growth of such revenues, if anyl @gpend on, among other factors:

the overall performance of the economy and dismnetly consumer spendir
competition within key market:

continued customer acceptable of our prodt

customer acceptance of newly developed productk

the demand for other products and servi

wn wn W W W

We cannot provide assurance that we will maintaimorease our current level of revenues or préfds sales from the consumer and mobile
electronics accessories in future periods.

While we are pursuing and will continue to pursuedpict development opportunities, there can bessarance that such products will come to frui

or become successful. Furthermore, while a numbose products are being tested, we cannot pecsity definite date by which they will be
commercially available. We cannot provide assurdhatthese products will prove to be commerciaible. We may experience operational
problems with such products after commercial inticitbn that could delay or defeat the ability oflsyroducts to generate revenue or operating
profits. Future operational problems could increasecosts, delay our plans or adversely affectreputation or our sales of other products whigh, i
turn, could have a material adverse effect on aocess and our ability to satisfy our obligatione cannot predict which of the many possible future
products will meet evolving industry standards aadsumer demands. We cannot provide assurance¢hatl!l be able to adapt to such technological
changes, offer such products on a timely basistabéish or maintain a competitive position.

Because we face intense competition, including corfition from companies with significantly greater resources than ours, if we are unable to
compete effectively with these companies, our markshare may decline and our business could be harme

Our market is highly competitive with numerous catifprs. Some of our competitors may have substiytjreater financial, technical, marketing,
and other resources than we possess, which mayl dffem competitive advantages over us. As atesul competitors may introduce products that
have advantages over our products in terms of festfunctionality, ease of use, and revenue piaduymtential. They may also have more fully
developed sales channels for consumer sales ingjudige retail seller arrangements and internatidistribution capabilities. In addition, new
companies may enter the markets in which we comfpigther increasing competition in the consumectbnics accessories industry. Increased
competition may result in price reductions, redupeafit margins, loss of market share and an ittghib generate cash flows that are sufficient to
maintain or expand our development and marketingeaf products, which would adversely impact ouafiicial performance.
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Because we are dependent on third party sources &zquire sufficient quantities of raw materials to poduce our products, any interruption in
those relationships could harm our results of opergons and our revenues.

We acquire substantially all of our raw materi&lattwe use in our products from a limited numbeswgpliers. Accordingly, we can give no assurance
that:

our supplier relationships will continue as prebeint effect,

our suppliers will not become competitc

our suppliers will be able to obtain the componemsessary to produce h-quality, technologicall-advanced products for L

we will be able to obtain adequate alternativesuiosupply sources should they be interrup

if obtained, alternatively sourced products of Hatitory quality would be delivered on a timely ibagompetitively priced, comparal
featured or acceptable to our customers,

our suppliers have sufficient financial resourcefutfill their obligations.

wn wn W W W W

Our inability to supply sufficient quality and gudies of products that are in demand could redugeprofitability and have a material adverse dffec
on our relationships with our customers. If ourdigy relationship was terminated or interruptee, @ould experience an immediate or long-term
supply shortage, which could have a material a@veffect on our business.

Because we do not develop the technology for a nuerbof our key products, including the invisibleSHIB_D, the impact of technological
advancements may cause price erosion and adversetypact our profitability and inventory value

Because we do not develop the technology for a mumbour key products, including the invisibleSHIE we cannot provide assurance that we will
be able to source technologically advanced prodoatsder to remain competitive. Furthermore, thieaduction or expected introduction of new
products or technologies may depress sales ofigxigtoducts and technologies. This may resuldiding prices and inventory obsolescence.
Because we maintain a substantial investment idymtainventory, declining prices and inventory dbsoence could have a material adverse effect on
our business and financial results.

Our estimates of excess and obsolete inventorypmaye to be inaccurate; in which case the proviséguired for excess and obsolete inventory may
be understated or overstated. Although we makeyeféort to ensure the accuracy of our forecagfsitore product demand, any significant
unanticipated changes in demand or technologicatldpments could have a significant impact on thiee of our inventory and operating results.

There can be no guarantee that we will be able tocpand into additional complementary product lines @ to continue configure our products to
match new products or devices.

Although we anticipate expanding into additionaingdementary product lines to provide support tosttategy to protect mobile electronic devices
and enhance the experience of users through oavatine accessories, there can be no guarantew¢hatll be successful in innovating and
expanding into additional product lines. Numertagors, including market acceptance, finding atdining contract partners that are acceptable to
ZAGG, and general market and economic conditioogldcprevent us from participating in these commatary product lines, which could limit our
ability to implement our business strategy.

Similarly, although we intend to continue to config the invisibleSHIELD and other product lines fi@w products and devices, there can be no
guarantee that we will be able to either matchdgrand for our products as new devices and prodwetsitroduced, or that purchasers of such
devices and products will want to purchase our pectgifor use in connection with them. Any limigatiin our ability to match demand or gain market
acceptance of our products in connection with newiaks and products could have a material advéfeset @n our business.

If we fail to maintain proper inventory levels, our business could be harmed.

We produce a number of our key products, includiregginvisibleSHIELD, prior to the time we receivestomers’ purchase orders. We do this to
minimize purchasing costs, the time necessarylltoustomer orders and the risk of non-deliverywdoer, we may be unable to sell the products we
have produced in advance. Inventory levels in exoésustomer demand may result in inventory wilibevns, and the sale of excess inventory at
discounted prices could significantly impair ouatd image and have a material adverse effect onrrating results and financial condition.
Conversely, if we underestimate demand for our petlor if we fail to produce the quality produtttat we require at the time we need them, we may
experience inventory shortages. Inventory shortagght delay shipments to customers, negativelyaichglistributor relationships, and diminish br.
loyalty.

The products that we protect with the invisibleSHIRypically have short life cycles. We may bet leith obsolete inventory if we do not accurately

project the life cycle of different mobile electiomevices. The charges associated with resefeinglow-moving or obsolete inventory as a reséilt o
not accurately estimating the useful life of motalectronics could negatively impact the value wf ioventory and operating results.

12




As we continue to grow our business, increased sal® indirect customers may put pressure on our giss profit margins.

Sales of products through indirect customers tflyicasult in increased sales volume, but at lomargins than sales directly to end customers made
on our websites. As the Company expands and cattittugrow existing relationships with indirecttusers, increases in sales to our indirect
customers likely will adversely impact our groseffirmargins. Accordingly, there is no assurarie# tve will continue to recognize similar gross
profit margins in the future to those currentlyrizgerealized.

The Company has contractual rights customary in théndustry to use its Internet addresses, but if thge rights were lost, the loss could have a
material effect on the Company’s financial positiorand results from operations.

The Company has protected the right to use itsrieteaddresses to the extent possible, and the &oyrgoes not expect to lose its rights to use the
Internet addresses. However, there can be noaas=in this regard, and such loss could have ariabadverse effect on the Company’s financial
position and results of operations.

Because we are dependent for our success on keyar#ve officers, our inability to retain these offcers would impede our business plan and
growth strategies, which would have a negative imm& on our business and the value of your investment

Our success depends on the skills, experience erfiokmance of key members of our management tealmdimg Robert G. Pedersen Il, our CEO;
Brandon T. O’Brien, our CFO; Randy Hales, our C@@x Derek Smith, our CMO. We do not have an empéntragreement with Mr. Pedersen, Mr.
O’Brien, or Mr. Smith. Other than Mr. Hales and dw@y employee at iFrogz who has an employment aggaethat expires on June 21, 2013, we do
not have employment agreements with any other mesrdf@ur senior management team. Each of thoseidludls without long-term employment
agreements may voluntarily terminate his employmeétit the Company at any time upon short noticer&\ee to lose one or more of these key
executive officers, we would be forced to expemphificant time and money in the pursuit of a reptaent, which would result in both a delay in the
implementation of our business plan and the dieersif working capital. We can give you no assuraheg¢we could find satisfactory replacements
these key executive officers at all, or on terna thould not be unduly expensive or burdensombedompany. Although we routinely to issue s
options or other equity-based compensation tociténad retain employees, such incentives may nsuffecient to attract and retain key personnel.

Two of our retailers, Best Buy and Walmart, accounffor a significant amount of our net sales, and théoss of, or reduced purchases from, the:
or other retailers could have a material adverse &tct on our operating results.

In 2011, Best Buy and Walmart accounted for 30% Ht#b, respectively of our net sales. We do noeHamgierm contracts with any of our retaile
including Best Buy and Walmart, and all of our ilet@ generally purchase from us on a purchaser trasis. As a result, these retailers generally,
with little or no notice or penalty, cease orderamgl selling our products, or materially reduceértbeders. If certain retailers, including BestyBar
Walmart, ceased to sell our products, to slow trae of purchase of our products or to decreasauimber of products they purchase, our results of
operations would be adversely affected.

We may be adversely affected by the financial contitbn of our retailers and distributors.

Some of our retailers and distributors have expegd financial difficulties in the past. A retailer distributor experiencing such difficulties will
generally not purchase and sell as many of ourymtsdas it would under normal circumstances and eaagel orders. In addition, a retailer or
distributor experiencing financial difficulties gemally increases our exposure to uncollectibleiveddes. We extend credit to our retailers and
distributors based on our assessment of their ¢iahnondition, generally without requiring collea& While such credit losses have historicallyrbee
within our estimated reserves for allowances fat #abts, we cannot assure you that this will catito be the case. Financial difficulties on the pa
of our retailers or distributors could have a miateadverse effect on our results of operationsfarahcial condition. As of December 31, 2011sBe
Buy accounted for 55% of accounts receivable, whittount is presently being paid on terms satisfadd us.

If we fail to attract, train and retain sufficient numbers of our qualified personnel, our prospectshusiness, financial condition and results of
operations will be materially and adversely affectd.

Our success depends to a significant degree upoabdlity to attract, retain and motivate skillenldequalified personnel. Failure to attract andireta
necessary technical personnel, sales and markstirsgnnel and skilled management could adverstdgtadur business. If we fail to attract, train and
retain sufficient numbers of these highly qualifiggbple, our prospects, business, financial camaind results of operations will be materially and
adversely affected.
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If our products contain defects, our reputation cold be harmed and our results of operations adversglaffected.

Some of our products may contain undetected deflertgo imperfections in the underlying base maketised in production or manufacturing defe
The occurrence of defects or malfunctions couldltés financial losses for our customers and imtincrease warranty claims from our customers
diversion of our resources. Any of these occurrsrxeild also result in the loss of or delay in reddcceptance of our products and loss of sales.

Because we experience seasonal and quarterly fluetions in demand for our products, no one quarters indicative of our results of operations
for the entire fiscal year.

Our quarterly results may fluctuate quarter to tpraas a result of market acceptance of our predtiee mix, pricing and presentation of the prosluct
offered and sold, the timing of inventory write dwsythe cost of materials, the incurrence of otipesrating costs and factors beyond our controh suc
as general economic conditions and actions of ctitope We are also affected by seasonal buyingesyaf consumers, such as the holiday season,
and the introduction of popular consumer electrarscich as a new introduction of products from AppITC, Samsung, RIM, and

others. Accordingly, the results of operationaiy quarter will not necessarily be indicativelod tesults that may be achieved for a full fisesryor
any future quarter.

Because we have limited protection on the intelleaal property underlying our products, we may not beable to protect our products from the
infringement of others or may be prevented from maketing our products.

We do not own proprietary rights with respect te fim we use in our invisibleSHIELD products. lddition, we own and keep confidential the de:
configurations of the film and the product cut desi which are our copyrights. We seek to protecirgellectual property rights through
confidentiality agreements with our employees, attasts and partners, and domestic and foreigmpatesecution and similar means. However, no
assurance can be given that such measures wiliffieient to protect our intellectual property righor that the intellectual property rights that heve
are sufficient to protect other persons from crepind marketing substantially similar productsvéf cannot protect our rights, we may lose our
competitive advantage. Moreover, if it is deternditieat our products infringe on the intellectuageerty rights of third parties, we may be prevented
from marketing our products.

Presently, we are not subject to any intellectuapprty infringement claims. However, any clairakting to the infringement of third-party
proprietary rights, even if not meritorious, couvdsult in costly litigation, divert management’seation and resources, or require us to either émtie
royalty or license agreements which are not adegemas to us or pay material amounts of damageaddition, parties making these claims may be
able to obtain an injunction, which could prevesftom selling our products.

The current economy is affecting consumer spendingatterns, which could adversely affect our business

Consumer spending patterns, especially discretyosending for products such as mobile, consumeaanessory electronics, are affected by, among
other things, prevailing economic conditions, egergsts, raw material costs, wage rates, inflatiatierest rates, consumer debt, consumer confidence
and consumer perception of economic conditionseegal slowdown in the U.S. and certain internati@conomies, or an uncertain economic
outlook could have a material adverse effect onsales and operating results.

The disruptions in the national and internatiorreomies and financial markets since 2008 andedfa¢ed increases in unemployment are depressing
consumer confidence and spending. If such conditmmrsist, consumer spending will likely declingHter and this would have an adverse effect on
our business and our results of operations.

If we are unable to effectively manage our growthour operating results and financial condition willbe adversely affected.

We intend to grow our business by expanding owssadministrative and marketing organizations. growth in or expansion of our business is

likely to continue to place a strain on our managenand administrative resources, infrastructutesystems. As with other growing businesses, we
expect that we will need to refine and expand asiress development capabilities, our systems esmkpses and our access to financing sources. Wi
also will need to hire, train, supervise and manage employees. These processes are time consamihgxpensive, will increase management
responsibilities and will divert management attemtiWe provide assurance that we will be able to:

expand our systems effectively or efficiently omitimely manner

allocate our human resources optima

meet our capital need

identify and hire qualified employees or retainuead employees; ¢

incorporate effectively the components of any besénor product line that we may acquire in ourretimachieve growtr

w W W W W
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If our competitors misappropriate our proprietary k now-how and trade secrets, it could have a materiadverse effect on our business.

We depend heavily on the expertise of our prodadeg@am. If any of our competitors copies or otheeagains access to similar products
independently, we might not be able to competdfastevely. The measures we take to protect ourgissmay not be adequate to prevent their
unauthorized use. Further, the laws of foreign t@esmay provide inadequate protection of sucélliettual property rights. We have brought and in
the future may need to bring legal claims to erdascprotect such intellectual property rights. Aitigation, whether successful or unsuccessfulld
result in substantial costs and diversions of recesi

If any of our facilities were to experience catastphic loss, our operations would be seriously harnte

Our facilities could be subject to a catastropbgslfrom fire, flood, earthquake or terrorist aitgiv Our activities, including sales and marketing
customer service, finance and other critical bussr@perations are in three locations. Our manuifiact activities are conducted at other facilities
separate from our corporate headquarters. Angirafhic loss at these facilities could disrupt operations, delay production, and revenue andtr
in large expenses to repair or replace the facilityhile we have obtained insurance to cover mostrgial losses, we cannot provide assurance tir
existing insurance coverage will be adequate agalhsther possible losses.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of intenal control over financial reporting, we may not beable to accurately report our financial
results, and current and potential stockholders mayose confidence in our financial reporting.

We are required by the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2060&stablish and maintain adequate internal contret financial reporting that provides reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of our finahoégorting and the preparation of financial stagets in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP). We are likewise reqdi on an annual basis, to evaluate the effeas®of our internal controls and to disclose on a
quarterly basis any material changes in thoseriateontrols.

As described in Iltem 9A — Controls and Procedutssvehere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, wentifeed a material weakness in our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 3110, resulting from the lack of a sufficient nienlof accounting professionals with the necessary
experience and training. Additionally, our prinaligxecutive officer and principal financial offifoeoncluded that a material weakness in internal
control over financial reporting existed as of Dmber 31, 2011, resulting from the lack of a suffitinumber of accounting and IT professionals with
the necessary experience and training due to tingp@oy’s significant and continued growth. Giveis tinaterial weakness, management concluded
that we did not maintain effective internal contekr financial reporting as of December 31, 2011.

We have devoted and plan to continue to devoteuress to the remediation and improvement of owrirel control over financial reporting. The
elements of our remediation plan can only be acdishgd over time and we can offer no assurancethiese initiatives will ultimately have the
intended effects. Any failure to maintain such ing controls could adversely impact our abilityréport our financial results on a timely and aaterr
basis. If our financial statements are not accumtestors may not have a complete understandingrooperations or may lose confidence in our
reported financial information. Likewise, if ounéincial statements are not filed on a timely basisequired by the SEC and The Nasdaqg Global
Market, we could face severe consequences frone thaihorities. In either case, it could result material adverse effect on our business or have a
negative effect on the trading price of our commtutk. We can give no assurance that the measerésive taken and plan to take in the future will
remediate the material weakness identified ordhgtadditional material weaknesses or restateneémtsr financial statements will not arise in the
future due to a failure to implement and maintaleguate internal control over financial reportimgiocumvention of those controls.

Because we distribute products internationally, eawomic, political and other risks associated with ouinternational sales and operations could
adversely affect our operating results.

Because we sell our products worldwide, our busimesubject to risks associated with doing busineternationally. Our sales to customers outside
the United States accounted for approximately 12%uonet sales in fiscal 2011, including significgrowth at ZAGG International in Shannon,
Ireland. Accordingly, our future results couldhmemed by a variety of factors, including:

changes in foreign currency exchange re

exchange control:

changes in regulatory requiremer

changes in a specific country's or region's palitar economic condition:

tariffs, other trade protection measures and impoexport licensing requiremen
potentially negative consequences from changesxitaivs or application of such tax lav
difficulty in staffing and managing widespread ag@ms;

changing labor regulation

requirements relating to withholding taxes on résnites and other payments by subsidia
different regimes controlling the protection of antellectual property

restrictions on our ability to own or operate sdizies, make investments or acquire new businésgbsse jurisdictions; ar
restrictions on our ability to repatriate dividerfdsm our subsidiaries

wn W W W N W D) WD WD LW LW LN
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Our international operations are affected by gl@zainomic and political conditions, only some ofiehhare described above. Changes in econon
political conditions in any of the countries in whiwe operate could result in exchange rate movemew currency or exchange controls or other
restrictions being imposed on our operations. VAfmot provide assurance that such changes wiliag an adverse effect on our foreign operations
and our financial results.

There can be no guarantee that additional amountspgnt on marketing or advertising will result in addtional sales or revenue to the Compan

In 2012, management intends to expand our advegtisd to continue our marketing efforts relatiogxisting products and potential new product
introductions. However, there can be no guarathaiesuch increased advertising or marketing effand strategies will result in increased sales.

Risks Related to the Compa’'s Securities

Because the price of our common stock has been, anthy continue to be, volatile, our shareholders mapot be able to resell shares of ol
common stock at or above the price paid for such sies.

The price for shares of our common stock has etddhbiigh levels of volatility with significant votoe and price fluctuations, which makes our
common stock unsuitable for many investors. Fongda, for the two years ended December 31, 20El¢lttsing price of our common stock ranged
from a high of $16.62 to a low of $2.00 per shatetimes, the fluctuations in the price of our coomstock may have been unrelated to our operating
performance. These broad fluctuations may neggtingbact the market price of shares of our commiooks The price of our common stock may ¢
have been influenced by:

fluctuations in our results of operations or thempions of our competitors or custome

the aggregate amount of our outstanding debt armeptons about our ability to make debt servicgnpents;
failure of our results of operations and sales meres to meet the expectations of stock market atsafnd investor:
perceived reductions in demand or expectationsdégafuture demand by our custome

changes in stock market analyst recommendatiormsdaty us, our competitors or our custom

the timing and announcements of product innovatioas products or financial results by us or ounpetitors;
the acquisition of iFrog:z

the acquisition of the $45 million term loan and #45 million revolving credit facility

increases in the number of shares of our commaxk stotstanding; an

changes in our industr

wn W W W N N N W W W

Based on the above, we expect that our stock piiiteontinue to be extremely volatile. Therefovee cannot guarantee that our investors will be able
to resell our common stock at or above the pricgrath they purchased it.

Because we may, at some time in the future, issudditional securities, shareholders are subject toithtion of their ownership.

Although we have no immediate plans to raise aoiutii capital, we may at some time in the futuresdoAny such issuance would likely dilute
shareholders’ ownership interest in our companyraag have an adverse impact on the price of oumommnstock. In addition, from time to time we
may issue shares of common stock in connection egthity financing activities or as incentives ta employees and business partners. We may
expand the number of shares available under stmeltive and option plans, or create new plansisaillances of common stock would be dilutive to
an existing investor’s holdings in the Companarifinvestor’s holdings are diluted, the overalleabf the shares may be diminished and the aldlity
influence shareholder voting will also be harmed.

Limitations on director and officer liability and i ndemnification of our officers and directors by usmay discourage stockholders from bringing
suit against a director.

Our articles of incorporation and bylaws providéhveertain exceptions as permitted by governiagestaw, that a director or officer shall not be
personally liable to us or our stockholders fordmte of fiduciary duty as a director, except forsamt omissions which involve intentional misconduct
fraud or knowing violation of law, or unlawful paymts of dividends. These provisions may discousagekholders from bringing suit against a
director for breach of fiduciary duty and may reeltice likelihood of derivative litigation broughy tockholders on our behalf against a director. In
addition, our articles of incorporation and bylguevide for mandatory indemnification of directansd officers to the fullest extent permitted by
governing state law.
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Because we do not expect to pay dividends for theréseeable future, investors seeking cash dividendsll not purchase our common stock.

We currently intend to retain any future earningsupport the development and expansion of ounkssiand do not anticipate paying cash dividends
in the foreseeable future. Our payment of any itlividends will be at the discretion of our boafdlirectors after taking into account various ¢ast
including but not limited to our financial conditipoperating results, cash needs, growth plansrenterms of any credit agreements that we may be a
party to at the time. In addition, our ability taypdividends on our common stock may be limitedtaye law. Accordingly, investors must rely on s

of their common stock after price appreciation,akhinay not occur in the future, as the only wasetize their investment.

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer own or control at least 10% of our outstandingcommon stock, which may limit your
ability and the ability of our other stockholders,whether acting alone or together, to propose or dect the management or overall direction of
our company. Additionally, this concentration of ownership could discourage or prevent a potential ta&over of our Company that might
otherwise result in shareholders receiving a premion over the market price for our shares.

We estimate that over 10% of our outstanding shafreemmon stock are owned and controlled by ouefdaxecutive Officer and our Chief Financ
Officer. Such concentrated control of our comparay adversely affect the price of our common sto©kir principal stockholders may be able to
control matters requiring approval by our stockleodd including the election of directors, mergersther business combinations. Such concentrated
control may also make it difficult for our stockdefs to receive a premium for their shares of oanrmon stock in the event we merge with a third
party or enter into different transactions whictiuiee stockholder approval. These provisions caigd limit the price that investors might be vaigi

to pay in the future for shares of our common stdacordingly, the existing principal stockholdeéogether with our directors and executive officers
will have the power to control the election of @irectors and the approval of actions for whichaperoval of our stockholders is required.

We may not be able to successfully integrate busisges we have acquired or which we may acquire ingHuture, and we may not be able to
realize anticipated cost savings, revenue enhancents, or other synergies from such acquisitions.

Our ability to successfully implement our businps1 and achieve targeted financial results is déget on our ability to successfully integrate the
iFrogz business we acquired in 2011 and other kasgs we may acquire in the future. The procesgegfrating an acquired business involves risks,
including but not limited to:

. demands on management related to timéisant increase in the size of our business;

. diversion of management's attention fthemmanagement of daily operations;

. difficulties in the assimilation of déffent corporate cultures and business practices;

. difficulties in conforming the acquiredmpany's accounting policies to ours;

. retaining the loyalty and business @f ¢histomers of acquired businesses;

. retaining employees that may be vitah®integration of acquired businesses or touheé  prospects of the combined businesses;
. difficulties and unanticipated expensaated to the integration of departments, inforarat technology systems, including

accounting systems, technologies, books and recands procedures, and maintaining uniform standards, asdhternal accountir
controls, procedures, and policies;

. costs and expenses associated with adigelosed or potential liabilities;
. the use of more cash or other finan@aburces on integration and implementation a@withan ~ we expect; and
. our ability to avoid labor disruptiomsdéonnection with any integration, particularlydgonnection  with any headcount reduction.

Failure to successfully integrate the iFrogz bussner other acquired businesses in the future esyltrin reduced levels of anticipated revenue,
earnings, or operating efficiency than might hagerbachieved if we had not acquired such businesses

In addition, any future acquisitions could resnolthie incurrence of additional debt and relatedrggt expense, contingent liabilities, and amadrtna
expenses related to intangible assets, which dualé a material adverse effect on our financiatlida@mn, operating results, and cash flow.

Techniques employed by short sellers may drive dowthe market price of the Company’s common stock.

Short selling is the practice of selling securitiest the seller does not own, but rather has badofrom a third party with the intention of buying
identical securities back at a later date to retartihe lender. The short seller hopes to prafitrfra decline in the value of the securities betwhen

sale of the borrowed securities and the purchaieeafeplacement shares, as the short seller exgephay less in that purchase than it receivedén
sale. As it is in the short seller’s best interéstghe price of the stock to decline, many sisetters publish, or arrange for the publicationm&fgative
opinions regarding the relevant issuer and itsrimssi prospects in order to create negative marketentum and generate profits for themselves after
selling a stock short. These short attacks haviaemast, led to selling of shares in the market.

In the past several years, our securities have tieesubject of short selling. Reports and infoiorahave been published about ZAGG which the
Company believes are mischaracterized or incoraext,which have occasionally been followed by didedn our stock price.

It is not clear what additional effects the negafublicity will have on the Company, if any, otltlean potentially affecting the market price of our
common stock. If the Company continues to be tigesti of unfavorable allegations, the Company mayetto expend a significant amount of
resources to investigate such allegations andfendétself. While the Company would strongly defeagainst any such short seller attacks, the
Company may be constrained in the manner in whichn proceed against the relevant short sellg@riogiples of freedom of speech, applicable state
law, or issues of commercial confidentiality. Sachituation could be costly and time-consuming, @ndd distract the Company’s management from
growing the Company. Additionally, such allegati@gzinst the Company could negatively impact itsiness operations and stockholders equity, and
the value of any investment in the Company’s stmmkld be reduced.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.



ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Real Property

Our principal executive offices facilities are antly located in 31,000 square feet of office aratelnouse space located at 3855 South 500 West,
Suites B, C, D, |, J, K, L, M, N, O and S, Salt eaRity, Utah 84115. In 2011, we renewed a masgsd agreement covering all of the suites that
expires June 30, 2015, at a straight line mon#gé rate of $28,543. We also lease kiosk faslibcated at five mall locations in Californiaficd
space in Logan, Utah for the office of iFrogz, afiice space in Shannon, Ireland for the offic&8iGG International. We believe these facilities ar
adequate for the foreseeable future.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Commercial Litigation

Wrapsol, LLC, v. ZAGG Inc, U.S. District Court, Dist of Massachusetts, 1:11-cv-11006-RG$he Company was engaged as the defendant in civil
litigation in Massachusetts in which Wrapsol, LL@Vfapsol”) alleged unfair competition and tortiom¢erference with business relations claiming
that the Company’s sales representatives attentptiearm Wrapsol by making false allegations. Thenfany denied these allegations. The parties
conducted extensive written discovery, and engagsdttlement negotiations. On March 2, 2012 cdee was dismissed with prejudice without
payment of any consideration by the Company to \&hp

Lorence A. Harmer, et al v ZAGG Inc et al, Thirdligial District Court, Salt Lake County, State afal, Civil No. 11091768. On September 20,
2011, Lorence A. Harmer, a former director of ZAG© and two of his affiliates, Harmer Holdings, LL&nd Teleportal, LLC, filed a lawsuit in Utah
state court against the Company, Robert G. Peddis@&iandon T. O’'Brien and KPMG LLP. KPMG has saljuently been dismissed from the
lawsuit. This case is discussed in greater detdildate 11, Notes Receivable of the Notes to Codat#d Financial Statements. Plaintiffs allege that
defendants defamed Mr. Harmer, breached a settlesige@ement and other agreements between theifftaamtd ZAGG, and interfered with other
rights of the plaintiffs. ZAGG has responded te faintiffs’ claims, denying all of the materidlegations made by the plaintiffs, and has asserted
affirmative defenses. Fact discovery has comnindée Company believes the Plaintiffs’ claim$&without merit and intends to vigorously
defend against them.
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On September 27, 2011, the Company and Focus, §&ifed an arbitration claim brought by Focus thatCompany was obligated to pay Focus a
finder’s fee in the amount of $2.0 million related to @@mpany's acquisition of iFrogz (see, Note 2, Asitioin of iFrogz in the Notes to Consolida
Financial Statements). Focus subsequently dismisghdrejudice all claim asserted against the Canyp The Company did not make any payme
Focus in consideration of the dismissal. In additigpon execution of the settlement agreement, botlus and the Company agreed to release and
discharge the other party of any and all claims.

ZAGG v. Trekstor, Regional Court, Dusseldorf, Gempnahe Company brought suit in Dusseldorf, Germanyregd rekstor for infringement of
ZAGG design registrations for ZAGGmate and the tegji Keyboard Case by ZAGG. As of the date of Report, all briefing had been completed,
but a hearing had not yet been scheduled.

Patent Litigation

ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Co. Inc. v. NIRdoducts, LLC, Wrapsol, LLC, U.S. District Courgral District of California, 2:10-cv-06511;
ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Co. Inc. v. Ghésmor, Griffin Technology, Russell B. Taylor, téui SGP, XO Skins, U.S. District Court,
District of Utah, 2:1(-cv-01257.The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, ZAGG Intetieal Property Holding Company, Inc. (“ZAGG IP}, i
engaged as the plaintiff in patent infringemeigdition pending in California and in Utah that se&kenforce rights under United States Patent No.
7,784,610. The defendants in these cases have @a$enses and, in some cases, asserted counterelgainst ZAGG IP that seek declarations of
unenforceability or non-infringement of the patertiese counterclaims do not assert any claimsffomative relief against ZAGG IP or the
Company, apart from a request for an award agZih&G IP of costs and attorneyfees. Several of the defendants have settledA®@G IP and th
remaining parties are engaged in discovery. Onbeflefendants filed a motion for summary judgniemespect of all of the claims of ZAGG IP, but
that motion was denied by the court. The partiehacently filed briefs relating to claims constian. In the opinion of management, the ultimate
disposition of these patent infringement claims|uding disposition of the counterclaims, will f@ve a material adverse effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial position, results of opemasi, or liquidity. Management believes the likebdoof an unfavorable outcome in this case is remote
and that any potential loss contingency is notresile at this time.

ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Co. Inc. v. NIRJoducts et al, U.S. District Court, District of &h, 2:11-cv-00517 ZAGG IP is also engaged as
the plaintiff in patent infringement litigation peing in Utah that seeks to enforce rights undetédhStates Patent No. 7,957,524 (one of the patents
acquired from Andrew Mason, see below). The defetwdia this case have raised defenses and, in sag®s, asserted counterclaims against ZAGG
IP, that seek declarations of unenforceability @m-mfringement of the patent. These counterclalmsot assert any claims for affirmative relief,
including claims for damages, against ZAGG IP er@ompany, apart from a request for an award ds@sl attorney’s fees to the prevailing party.
Discovery has not yet commenced in this case, heweeveral of the defendants have settled with GAB. Also, Wrapsol, one of the defendants has
filed a petition to reexamine Patent No. 7,957 ,8®dch is pending before the United States Patetiflandemark Office. In the opinion of
management, the ultimate disposition of these patéingement claims, including disposition of tbeunterclaims, will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial fosj results of operations, or liquidity.

The Company is not a party to any other litigatimrother claims at this time. While the Companyrently believes that the amount of any ultimate
potential loss for known matters would not be mateo the Company’s financial condition, the outemof these actions is inherently difficult to
predict. In the event of an adverse outcome, ttimale potential loss could have a material adveffget on the Company’s financial condition or
results of operations in a particular period.

Patent Acquisition (amounts in thousands, excepspare amounts

On August 31, 2010, Andrew Mason (“Mason”) filed@anplaint against the Company claiming infringemantnited States Patent No. 7,957,524 as
a result of the Company'’s invisibleSHIELD instailtet kits. On September 4, 2010, the Company filedunter complaint against Mason and his
company, eShields LLC (“eShields”). On Novembe?2®10, before either party had responded on thetsrterihe claims asserted, the Company,
Mason and eShields entered into an Asset Purchgieefent (“Purchase Agreement”) under which a whmlNned subsidiary of the Company,
ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Company, IncZAGG IP”), acquired all of the rights of Mason et (i) patents (United States Patent No.
7,957,524) which is the subject of the litigati@ii), patent application filed on August 13, 2018gt‘CIP Application”) and (iii) rights to sue for
infringement of the patents.

18




In consideration for the conveyance of Mason’s ssdescribed above, the Company agreed to paynwegdo Mason the following:

(@) afirst payment of $200 by November 11, 2010, asdand payment of $150 after December 31, 2

(b) issue to Mason five-year warrants (the “Wat'teto purchase 750 shares of the Compamgstricted Common Stock at an exercise priceleq
the closing bid price on November 9, 2010 ($8.58)vided that 500 of the 750 warrant shares areceseble only upon the issuance of a patent
from the CIP Application with at least one clainatlsatisfies the Claim Conditions (as defined bgj

(c) issue to Mason 70 shares of the Com|'s restricted Common Stock; a
(d) grant eShields a fully pe-up, perpetual, nc-exclusive license, with limited rights to transéersublicense, for the patents and CIP Applicati

The Company also agreed to dismiss the claimstassagainst Mason and eShields, and to make additgayments to Mason if the US Patent and
Trademark Office (“USPTQ") issues a U.S. patentl@nCIP Application that includes at least onerol#iat broadly encompasses any protective kit
that includes a package, as well as a squeegeagnaadhesive-coated protective film for a consunteatmnic device with a peel-away backing within
the package (collectively, the “Claim Conditiondf)the Claim Conditions are met, the Company will:

(@) pay Mason the sum of $500; a
(b) issue to Mason 430 shares of the Com/s restricted Common Stoc

If the Claim Conditions are not met, the Company ha obligation to make the payment or issue tleeshdescribed in the preceding paragraph and
Mason will not be able to exercise 500 of the WiatisaThere can be no assurance that the USPTGssuk a patent on the CIP Application that meets
the requirements of the Claim Conditions. As of ®aber 31, 2011, no applicable patent had beenddspthe USPTO.
ITEM 4. [REMOVED AND RESERVED.]

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
Our common stock is currently quoted on The NASD&IRQbal Market of The NASDAQ Market under the symBaIGG. The following table sets

forth, for each full quarterly period within the @wnost recent fiscal years, the high and low sales (in dollars per share) of our common stack a
reported or quoted on The NASDAQ Capital Market.

2011 Quarter Ended High Low
March 31, 201: $10.37 $6.31
June 30, 201 $15.02 $7.45
September 30, 201 $16.62 $9.92
December 31, 201 $13.93 $6.65

2010 Quarter Ended High Low
March 31, 201( $4.00 $2.01
June 30, 201 $3.34 $1.90
September 30, 201 $5.07 $2.42
December 31, 201 $9.18 $4.60

Holders of Common stock

At February 20, 2012, there were approximatelye®fstered holders or persons otherwise entitldwtd our common shares pursuant to a
shareholders’ list provided by our transfer agempire Stock Transfer. The number of registeredediolders excludes any estimate by us of the
number of beneficial owners of common shares hektreet name.

Dividends

There are no restrictions in our articles of inavgtion or bylaws that restrict us from declaringidends. The Nevada Revised Statutes, however, do
prohibit us from declaring dividends where, aftatirgy effect to the distribution of the dividend:

§ we would not be able to pay our debts as they beadue in the usual course of busines:

8 our total assets would be less than the sum ofadar liabilities, plus the amount that would beeded to satisfy the rights of shareholders
have preferential rights superior to those recejvire distribution

We have not declared or paid cash dividends ortaommon stock since our inception, and our BoarDigéctors currently intends to retain all
earnings for use in the business for the foresedahlre. Any future payment or dividends to hoédef common stock will depend upon our results of
operations, financial condition, cash requiremeautsl other factors deemed relevant by our Boaflirgfctors.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans (share amounts in thousands)

Number of
securities
Number of remaining
securities to available for
be issued future
upon exercise Weighted- issuances
of average under equity
outstanding exercise price compensatior
options and of plans
warrants, or outstanding (excluding
vesting of options, securities
restricted warrants and reflected in
Plan Category stock rights first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by security drs 1,72 $ 2.7% 5,21¢
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechadtgers — — —
Total 1,72: $ 2.7z 5,21¢

In 2007, the Company’s board of directors adoptetlia 2008 the Company’s shareholders approved AG Incorporated 2007 Stock Incentive
Plan which provides for the issuance of up to 2 §ires of common stock to the company’s directargloyees, consultants and advisors (the “2007
Incentive Plan”). On July 16, 2009, the Compargjiareholders approved an amendment to the 200itimedlan to increase the number of shares
issuable under the 2007 Incentive Plan to 5,000.J@e 23, 2011, The Company’s shareholders appavamendment to the 2007 Incentive Plan to
increase the number of shares issuable under Bi&I20entive Plant to 10,000. As of December 31,120here were 5,215 shares available for grant
under the 2007 Incentive Plan.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities (amountstinousands)
During the year ended December 31, 2011, we istheetbllowing securities:

We issued 10 shares of common stock valued at $&@0consultant in exchange for consulting ses/m®vided. The terms of the transaction were
privately negotiated, and did not involve any palalffering.

We issued 194 shares of common stock in exerciseaofints to purchase 198 shares. We received guead $700 related to the exercise of the
warrants. The terms of the transactions were miyategotiated, and did not involve any public dffg.

We also issued 4,444 shares of common stock inezimm with the purchase of iFrogz with a fair v@hf $46,200. The terms of the transaction were
privately negotiated, and did not involve any paldffering.

In each of the transactions listed above, the #&siwere issued pursuant to Section 4(2) of teusities Act of 1933, as amended, and rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder. None of thestiations involved a public offering.

Stock Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related infotima shall not be deemed "soliciting material” diléd" with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, nor shall such information be incorgedaby reference into any future filing under tlee@ities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, each as amended, except to the exterpeedisally incorporate it by reference into suding.

The following graph compares the cumulative totelreholder return on our common stock over thestared %2 year period (the Company’s common
stock began trading on July 25, 2007) ended Decethe2011, with the cumulative total return durgwgh period of the NASDAQ Stock Market
(U.S. Companies) and a peer group index composednslumer electronics accessory companies, the ererobwhich are identified below (the
“Peer Group”) for the same period. The followimggh assumes an initial investment of $100.00 diNfdends reinvested. The stock performance
shown on the graph below represents historicakgtecformance and is not necessarily indicativRitifre stock price performance.
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COMPARISON OF 53 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN®
Amang ZAGG, Inc, the Russell 3000 Index, the NASDAC Composite Index,
and aPeer Group

700 -
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$00 @Mﬂ“ﬂ =

$n i L i L i
25107 123107 12/3108 12:31/09 123110 1253141
—B— ZAGG, Inc. — —a—"-Rus=sell 3000 ---2---- HASDAGQ Composite —#— Peer Group
=51 00 invested on Ti25007 in stock or BX30007 in index index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fizcal year ending December 31.
7/25/07 12/31/07 12/31/0¢ 12/31/0¢ 12/31/1( 12/31/1:

ZAGG Inc. 100.0( 60.0(¢ 74.4C 313.6( 609.6( 565.6(
Russell 300( 100.0( 98.1¢ 61.5¢ 78.9¢ 92.3% 93.3(
NASDAQ Composite 100.0( 101.7( 60.4: 87.7¢ 103.4( 101.8¢
Peer Groug 100.0( 120.6¢ 53.0¢ 67.5¢ 80.9¢ 47.8¢

The Peer Group consists of consumer electroniassaocy companies that have securities traded oNdkdaq Stock Market. The members of the
Peer Group are: iGo, Inc., Plantronics Inc., Comalmc., Logitech International, S.A., and Univérskectronics Inc.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (in thousands, except per share amounts)

The selected historical financial data presentédvbare derived from our consolidated financiatestaents. The selected financial data should ke rea
in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussind Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuft®perations,” and our consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereto included elsewhéres report.

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
DATA:
Net sales $ 179,12 $ 76,13 $ 38,36: $ 19,79 $ 5,13¢
Operating income (los: 28,137 16,81+ 5,71C 2,37¢ (1,239
Net income (loss) attributable to stockhold 18,24¢ 9,967 3,381 2,09¢ (760)
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to stocldrst

Basic $ 067 $ 044 $ 0.1¢ $ 011 $ (0.05)

Diluted 0.62 0.41 0.1t 0.11 (0.0%)
Weighted average shar¢

Basic 27,13 22,51¢ 20,63« 18,97 16,13¢

Diluted 29,08: 24,26: 22,98¢ 19,26¢ 16,13¢
BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Total asset $ 202,32¢ % 57,43. $ 18,89¢ $ 8,45 $ 3,72¢
Current assel 108,23( 46,70¢ 17,43t 7,84¢ 3,31¢
Current liabilities 33,74( 23,09( 5,01z 2,63¢ 804
Total equity 102,62¢ 32,78: 13,88’ 5,817 3,36¢
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Certain statements, other than purely historidarination, including estimates, projections, stagats relating to our business plans, objectived, an
expected operating results, and the assumptions wh@&h those statements are based, are “forwankifig statements” within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 199%cHon 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Setf#4E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
These forward-looking statements generally aretified by the words “believes,” “project,” “expeg¢tsanticipates,” “estimates,” forecasts,”
“intends,” “strategy,” “plan,” “may,” “will,” “would,” “will be,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” and similar expressions. Additionally, statengent
relating to implementation of business strateggyriifinancial performance, acquisition strateg@agital raising transactions, performance of
contractual obligations, and similar statements owytain forward-looking statements. We intend sfactvard-looking statements to be covered by
the safe-harbor provisions for forward-looking staents contained in the Private Securities LitayaiReform Act of 1995, and are including this
statement for purposes of complying with those-saifdor provisions. Forward-looking statementsta®ed on current expectations and assumptions
that are subject to risks and uncertainties whiely pause actual results to differ materially frdra forward-looking statements. Our ability to poadi
results or the actual effect of future plans oategies is inherently uncertain. Factors which ddwalve a material adverse affect on our operatiods
future prospects on a consolidated basis includieate not limited to: changes in economic condgidegislative/regulatory changes, availability of
capital, interest rates, competition, and genewmlyepted accounting principles. These risks aweentainties should also be considered in evalgatin
forward-looking statements and undue reliance shoat be placed on such statements. We expressiiauih any obligation to update or revise
publicly any forward-looking statements, whetheaassult of new information, future events or otvise. Further information concerning our
business, including additional factors that coultenially affect our financial results, is includedrein and in our other filings with the SEC.

Overview
We believe that hand-held devices and gadgets edest enjoyed with the right mix of (1) protectiorprevent the device from getting scratched or
damaged and (2) accessories that enhance the cersaxperience with their electronic device. The of our full product offering that includes the

invisibleSHIELD, ZAGGskins, iFrogz protective casgaGG and iFrogz audio accessories, ZAGGspargs oam keyboard lines provide the end
consumer with unparalleled device protection arfthened enjoyment of their mobile electronic device.

22




We plan to expand our product offering and focusnmovative products and services that we can tangeket to our customers based on their
purchase history. Our current lines of accesgems, including our brands ZAGGskins, ZAGG LEATHEKRs, ZAGGbuds, ZAGGsparq,
ZAGGmate, ZAGGfolio, ZAGGkeys, ZAGGkeys FLEX, iFmpgases, and Earpollution audio products are a@taita our customers through our
websites at www.ZAGG.cormnd www.iFrogz.comand through our retail distribution channels.

As we continue to develop and enhance our branckreard reputation, we anticipate expanding to nedymt lines that complement our overall
strategy and enhance our market presence.

As of the date of this report, ZAGG offers over@%recision pre-cut designs with a lifetime reptaent warranty and a number of device accessory
products through www.ZAGG.coand www.iFrogz.com major retailers like Best Buy, Walmart, AT&T, Tgat, Verizon, Radio Shack, Staples and
Cricket; independent electronics resellers; collegekstores; independent Mac stores; mall kioskd,ather online retailers. During 2011, we had
customers that accounted for more than 10% of etisaes. The Company continues to increaseatiupt lines to offer additional electronic
accessories and services to its tech-savvy custbaser.

To recap our results for 2011 (in thousands):

« Our revenue grew 135% from $76,135 in 2010 to $IZ®,in 2011. iFrogz, which was acquired by ZAGG Jame 21, 2011, contribut
$36,046 to the 2011 revenue balar

« In addition to sales generated by iFrogz, our sgtesth in 2011 was the result of continued strdeghand from customers in our indit
channel category due to the addition of new distiitm partners and the continued consumer adomfoaur invisibleSHIELD produt
line. Our sales through our website and throughroall kiosk program also increased in absolutdag®lover 2010, but decreased
percentage of overall sales due to the signifisalgs in the indirect channel. We also realizgdiBtant growth from our keyboard prod
line that includes the ZAGGmate, ZAGGfolio, and Z&l&eys.

« Our gross profit grew 119% from $37,397 in 201884,924 in 2011. Gross profit as a percent of regatecreased from 49% in 2010 to ¢
in 2011, which was primarily related to (1) the teilp of inventory related to the iFrogz acquisitiamich was recorded through cost of s
when the inventory was sold during 2011, and (2prtinued sales mix shift, as a higher percentdgriototal sales was comprised of s
through our indirect channels, which are at Ic-margins than website sales directly to the consu

« Our full year 2011 operating income increased b%6@ $28,137 from $16,814 in 2010. Our operatireygin percentage decreased f
22% in 2010 to 16% in 2011. The decrease in opwyatiargin was due primarily to (1) the writp- of inventory related to the iFrc
acquisition, which was recorded through cost oésalhen the inventory was sold during 2011, (2pmtinued sales mix shift, as a hig
percentage of our total sales was comprised o§ sateugh our indirect channels, which are at lemargins than website sales directly to
consumer, (3) $1,947 in cost incurred related ®@abquisition of iFrogz, (4) an impairment of $94&corded on a note receivable, (5
overall increase in operations and loss at the blzgnent compared to the prior year, including aetion of intangibles of $972, (6) $3,7
in amortization expense incurred from intangibleguared in connection with the acquisition of iFzognd (7) $1,560 in shatmsed payme
expense recorded in Q2 2011 related to the modiicaf a previously granted stock optic

« Our full year 2011 fully diluted earnings per shatgibutable to stockholders increased by 54% @@410, while the number of shares use
the fully diluted earnings per share calculatiocré@ased by 20% during the same per

Our strategic business objectives for 2012 inclinéefollowing:
« Continue to expand the distribution of our produbteugh additional indirect channel partners;

« focus on our international sales opportunities uggtoour distribution facility in Ireland that winable us to better serve our custome
Europe;

« increase the number of SKUs with our existing corstis from both the ZAGG and iFrogz product lines;

« continue to grow our traffic and sales through wabsites www.ZAGG.comand www.iFrogz.com and

« continue to develop new products to introduce totech-savvy customer base.
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We intend for the following discussion of our fircéed condition and results of operations to providlermation that will assist in understanding our
consolidated financial statements, the changesri@io key items in those financial statements fp@riod to period, and the primary factors that
accounted for those changes, as well as how cextaiounting principles, policies and estimatescaifeir consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial caodiand results of operations are based on oundiahstatements, which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). The prajian of these financial statements requires
make estimates and judgments that affect the regp@rnounts of assets, liabilities, revenues andresgs, and related disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluateestimates based on historical experience andoous other assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the resulthioh form the basis for making judgments aboutdheying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actusiliits may differ from these estimates under diffeesssumptions or conditions. Significant items
subject to such estimates include the allowanceédabtful accounts, inventory reserve, sales retliability, the useful life of property and equipm,
the useful life of intangible assets, purchase @aeting, the recoverability of goodwill and indefiedived intangible assets, the fair value of theirete
interest in HzO, stock-based compensation, deféaedssets, and income tax uncertainties and otigingencies.

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical ifétjuires an accounting estimate to be made basedsumptions about matters that are highly
uncertain at the time the estimate is made, ikdéifit estimates reasonably may have been usdd;i@mriges in the estimate that are reasonablyylikel
to occur may materially impact the financial stages. Management believes the following criticalaunting policies affect our more significant
judgments and estimates used in the preparationrafonsolidated financial statemer

Revenue recognitiol

The Company’s revenue is derived from sales gfritglucts through its indirect channel includingilers and distributors, its direct channels
including www.ZAGG.com and www.iFrogz.com, its corpte owned and third-partywned mall kiosks, from the license fees for thHe sé exclusive
independent distributor licenses related to thslkjgrogram, and for royalties earned on producenbed to third parties. For product sales, the
Company records revenue, net of estimated retundsliscounts, when delivery has occurred and temer takes ownership and assumes risk of
loss, collection of the relevant receivable is ogeble assured, persuasive evidence of an arramgexists, and the sales price is fixed or
determinable. Shipping and other transportatiotscdsarged to buyers are recorded in both sales@stdf sales. Sales taxes collected from
customers and remitted to governmental authorétiesaccounted for on a net basis and thereforexataded from revenues. For kiosk license fees
Company recognizes revenue on a straight-line loagisthe term of the license which is generalhgéhyears. Royalties are recognized in the period
in which they are earned.

Promotional products given to customers or potentiatomers are recognized as a component of getieneral and administrative expenses. Sales
incentives provided to customers are recognizearagluction of the related sale price at the tifrgate, and, therefore, are a reduction in revenues

Reserve for sales returns and warranty liabili

For product sales, the Company records revenuefmstimated returns and discounts, when prodaretshipped and the customer takes ownership
and assumes risk of loss, collection of the relevaceivable is probable, persuasive evidence @freangement exists and the sales price is fixed or
determinable. Our return policy generally allovssenhd users and retailers to return purchased gigdn addition, the Company generally provides
the ultimate consumer a warranty with each prodbae to the nature of the invisibleSHIELD produngl returns are generally not salvageable and
are not included in inventory. We estimate a reséov sales returns and warranty and record thmatd reserve amount as a reduction of sales and
as a sales return reserve liability. When prodsiceiurned and is expected to be resold, as isase with returns of iFrogz products, the resesve i
recorded as a reduction of revenues and costed,sahd as a sales return reserve liability. Thimate for sales returns and warranty requires
management to make significant estimates regaraitugn rates for sales and warranty returns. Histbexperience, actual claims, and customer r
rights are the key factors used in determiningefténated sales return and warranty reserve.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We provide customary credit terms to our customéfs.perform ongoing credit evaluations of the ficiahcondition of our customers and maintair

allowance for doubtful accounts based upon histbdollections experience and judgments as to eéggemllectability of accounts. Our actual bad
debts may differ from our estimates.
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Valuation of Note Receivable

We engaged independent third-party appraisal fiovessist us in determining the fair values ofatellal of the note receivable. Such valuations
require significant estimates and assumptions. lament determined the value of the 80 shares of@AGmmon stock held by Mr. Harmer (see
Note 11, Notes Receivable, in the Notes to Conateidl Financial Statements) based on quoted markespThe real estate holdings were val
primarily based on the sales comparison approashlas of comparable properties were utilized. ifliestments in real estate companies, and private
company stock and warrants were valued utilizinggarable market sales, a discounted cash flow sisagnd other appropriate valuation
methodologies including the use of the Black-Schaolgtion pricing model for the private company \aats.

Management'’s estimates of fair value are based apsumptions believed to be reasonable, but whiiehaerently uncertain and unpredictable and,
as a result, actual results may differ from estgaat

Inventories

In assessing the realization of inventories, wereg@ired to make judgments as to future demanginemgents and to compare these with current
inventory levels. When the market value of inventsrless than the carrying value, the inventorsté® written down to the estimated net realizable
value thereby establishing a new cost basis. Quamnitory requirements may change based on our pedjetistomer demand, market conditions,
technological and product life cycle changes, lorggeshorter than expected usage periods, and fabtrs that could affect the valuation of our
inventories.

Income taxes

Deferred income tax assets are reviewed for reatméy, and valuation allowances are provided, whecessary, to reduce deferred income tax ¢
to the amounts that are more likely than not todadized based on our estimate of future taxatderire. Should our expectations of taxable income
change in future periods, it may be necessarytabksh a valuation allowance, which could affect cesults of operations in the period such a
determination is made. We record income tax promisir benefit during interim periods at a rate thdtased on expected results for the full year. If
future changes in market conditions cause actsgaltsefor the year to be more or less favorable thase expected, adjustments to the effective
income tax rate could be required.

The Company recognizes the effect of income taxipos only if those positions are more likely thaat of being sustained. Recognized income tax
positions are measured at the largest amountdhmaeater than 50% likely of being realized. Theedeination of the realization of certain income ta
positions is subject to significant estimates bagmeh the facts and circumstances of each position.

Long-lived Assets

We have significant long-lived tangible and intdiigiassets consisting of property, plant and eqeigndefinite-lived intangibles, indefinite-lived
intangibles, and goodwill. We review these assatsnfipairment whenever events or changes in cirtamegs indicate that the carrying amount of :
assets may not be recoverable. In addition, weoparéin impairment test related to indefinite-livethngibles and goodwill at least annually. Our
goodwill and intangibles are largely attributalweour acquisition of iFrogz and purchase of the He€hnology.

At least annually and when events and circumstawegsant an evaluation, we perform our impairmesseegsment of goodwill, which requires the use
of a fair-value based analysis. We determine thievédue of our reporting unit based on discourtash flows and market approach analyses as
considered necessary, and consider factors sughvaakened economy, reduced expectations for foasle flows coupled with a decline in the
market price of our stock and market capitalizafmma sustained period as indicators for potemfiaddwill impairment. If the reporting undé'carrying
amount exceeds its estimated fair value, a secepdsust be performed to measure the amount afdbdwill impairment loss, if any. The second
step compares the implied fair value of the repgrtinit's goodwill, determined in the same manner as thauatrof goodwill recognized in a busine
combination, with the carrying amount of such goild\ the carrying amount of the reporting unig®odwill exceeds the implied fair value of that
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in aroant equal to that excess.

Indefinite lived intangible assets are tested igpairment annually, or, more frequently upon theuorence of a triggering event. The Company
evaluates the recoverability of indefinite livedaingible assets by comparing the indefinite livetidmgible assets book value to its estimated livex
The fair value for indefinite lived intangible assés determined by performing cash flow analysid ather market evaluations. If the fair valuel t
indefinite lived intangible assets is less thankbealue, the difference is recognized as an impanoss.

We also assess other long-lived assets, specyfideafinite-lived intangibles and property, plantaguipment, for potential impairment given similar
impairment indicators. When indicators of impairmenist related to our long-lived tangible assetd definite-lived intangible assets, we use an
estimate of the undiscounted net cash flows in omé&as whether the carrying amount of the assetedeverable. Measurement of the amount of
impairment, if any, is based upon the differencsveen the asset’s carrying value and estimated/&ire. Fair value is determined through various
valuation techniques, including market and incoereaches as considered necessary.
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If forecasts and assumptions used to support #igzability of our goodwill and other long-lived sets change in the future, significant impairment
charges could result that would adversely affectresults of operations and financial condition.

Stocl-based compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsapn its consolidated financial statementsfeards granted to employees and non-
employees under its stock incentive plan, whichuide restricted stock, warrants, and stock opti&oglity-classified awards are measured at the grant
date fair value of the award. The fair value ot&toptions is measured on the grant date usin®lének-Scholes option pricing model (BSM), which
involves the use of assumptions such as expectatlig, expected term, dividend rate, and riskefrate. Volatility is a key factor used to detereni

the fair value of stock options in the BSM. Depergdon the expected term of the option, the Compatgrmines expected volatility based upon
historical volatility. For those options with anpected term that extends beyond the period in widficient historical data is unavailable, the
Company does not have sufficient historical datenmlied volatility information to determine voléity based upon its own information. Therefore, the
Company uses significant judgment to identify arggeup and determine the appropriate weightingrder to estimate an implied volatility rate for
use in the BSM.

Business Combination

We allocate the purchase price of acquired compani¢he tangible and intangible assets acquirddiahbilities assumed based on their estimated fair
values. The excess of the purchase price over fa@selues is recorded as goodwill. We engageeépendent third-party appraisal firms to assist us
in determining the fair values of assets acquiredilmbilities assumed. Such valuations require agament to make significant estimates and
assumptions, especially with respect to intangiisleets. The significant purchased classes of iiltlengssets recorded by us include customer
relationships, trademarks, non-compete agreemaeneloped technology, patents, and backlog. Thesédiles assigned to the identified intangible
assets are discussed in Note 2, Acquisition ofgEtlia the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement

Critical estimates in valuing certain intangibleets include but are not limited to: future expeéatash flows related to each individual asset, etark
position of the trademarks, as well as assumptdosit cash flow savings from the trademarks, asdadint rates. Management'’s estimates of fair
value are based upon assumptions believed to berralle, but which are inherently uncertain andentiptable and, as a result, actual results may
differ from estimates.

Estimates associated with the accounting for adgpris may change during the measurement peri@did#ional information becomes available
regarding the assets acquired and liabilities asslgs discussed in Note 2, Acquisition of iFrogthien Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Results of Operations (in thousands)
The following table sets forth our results of opienas expressed as a percentage of net salesefgetiinds indicated (amounts in thousands).

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Net sales $ 179,12! 100.% $ 76,13t 100.(% $ 38,36: 100.(%
Cost of sale: 97,20: 54.: 38,73¢ 50.¢€ 16,30¢ 42.F
Gross profit 81,92« 457 37,397 49.1 22,05 57.F
Advertising and marketin 10,24¢ 5.7 5,067 6.7 5,84¢ 15.2
Selling, general and administrati 39,59: 22.1 15,50¢ 20.4 10,49( 27.4
Amortization of definite-lived intangible 3,94¢ 2.2 12 0.C 7 0.C
Operating incomt 28,131 15.7 16,81« 22.1 5,71( 14.€
Interest expens (3,029 (2.7 (243%) (0.9 (232) (0.7
Gain on deconsolidation of Hz 1,90¢ 1.1 - 0.C - 0.C
Other income and (expense) (19 0.C 7 0.C 35 0.C
Income before income tax 27,00: 15.1 16,57¢ 21.€ 5,51: 14.4
Income tax provision (9,415 (5.9 (6,65() (8.7) (2,137) (5.6)
Net income 17,58¢ 9.8 9,92¢ 13.C 3,381 8.8
Net loss attributable to noncontrollil

interest 664 0.4 35 0.C — —
Net income attributable to stockholdi  $ 18,24¢ 10.2% $ 9,96° 13.(% $ 3,381 8.8%
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AS COMPARED TO THE YIRAENDED DECMEBER 31, 2010 (in thousands, except @rare data)
Net sales

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2011 $iat@,125 compared to net sales of $76,135 foyele ended December 31, 2010, an increa
$102,990 or 135%.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, sales dhwigibleSHIELD product line accounted for approzitely 58% of our revenues. We have
experienced significant growth in our indirect chahto Big Box retailers including Best Buy, Walmararget and Radio Shack; wireless carriers such
as AT&T, Verizon, T-Mobile, Sprint, The Carphone Whouse and Cricket; and both domestic and foreligetronics accessory distributors. We are
still focused on distribution through our mall Kigsrogram and through our websites www.ZAGG.camd www.iFrogz.com but the significant

growth for 2011 was through our indirect channelvasbegan selling through additional customerseaquhinded our SKU count with our current
customers. For the year ended December 31, 2ppigxmately 78% of our overall net sales were tigtoour indirect channel, 15% were through
our website, 6% were through our mall cart andkm®grams and 1% were from shipping and handlrayges.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales includes raw materials, packing redseand shipping and fulfillment costs. For tleayended December 31, 2011, cost of sales
amounted to $97,201 or approximately 54% of netssabmpared to cost of sales of $38,738 or 51%s$ales for the year ended December 31,
2010. The increase in cost of sales as a perceofaget revenues for the year ended December(31L,, 2s compared to the year ended December 31
2010, is due to the write-up of inventory relatedte iFrogz acquisition of $4,506, which was relear through cost of sales when the inventory was
sold during 2011, and a continued sales mix shifia higher percentage of our total sales was dseapof sales through our indirect channels, which
are at lower-margins than website sales directbpéoconsumer.

Gross profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2044 $81,924 or approximately 46% of net sales apaosd to $37,397 or approximately 49% of
sales for the year ended December 31, 2010. Tdéreate in gross profit percentage is due to thewp of inventory related to the iFrogz acquisitio
of $4,506, which was recorded through cost of salesn the inventory was sold during 2011, and dicoad sales mix shift, as a higher percentage of
our total sales was comprised of sales throughnalirect channels, which are at lower margins twabsite sales directly to the consumer. As we
continue to grow our business, we anticipate treti¥l have increased sales to our indirect custsméiich will continue to put pressure on our gross
profit margins. There are no assurances that Weavritinue to recognize similar gross profit magyin the future.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses for year ended Decemhe&t031, were $53,787, an increase of $33,204 faial bperating expenses for year ended
December 31, 2010, of $20,583. The increasesramaply attributable to the following:

« For the year ended December 31, 2011, marketingsrasing and promotion expenses were $10,246narease of $5,179, as compare
$5,067, for the year ended December 31, 2010. niested heavily in advertising for the keyboardduat line, in online advertising, and
print and radio advertisements during the year. eifeect our marketing and advertising expensesmtirue to be a significant expendit
as our revenues increase and expect to spend secréands on advertising and promotion of our petelas well as sales training. Dut
fiscal 2012, we intend to continue to expand ourketing efforts related to our existing products &or our new product introduction

« For the year ended December 31, 2011, salariesedated taxes increased by $8,542 to $14,931 fr6y838P for the year ended Decembel
2010, which includes $3,258 in expenses relatetheoissuance of common stock and options to ourl@mps. From 2010 to 2011, «
consolidated company headcount increased from b@dlogees to 261, which significantly impacted theemll increase in this exper
category. In addition, the Company incurred $1,568harebased payment expense recorded in Q2 2011 relatdte tmodification of
previously granted stock optio

«For the year ended December 31, 2011, other selijiegeral and administrative expenses, net ofisaland related taxes described ak
were $28,610 compared to $9,127 for the year ebdegmber 31, 2010. The changes by category armatized in the table below
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Year Year

Ended Ended
December 30 December 31

2011 2010
Professional fee $ 3,546 $ 1,21¢
iFrogz transaction fee 1,947 -
Rent 1,001 911
Credit card and bank fe 1,451 78¢€
Commissions 4,14¢ 1,751
Depreciation & amortizatio 4,93¢ 36E
Other 11,58¢ 4,09¢
Total $ 28,61( $ 9,127

The increase in professional fees is due to lega¢reses incurred related to the defense of ountstegal work incurred in connection with
negotiating the Logitech agreement, legal feescateal with the valuation and repossession of aghat collateralize the note receivable, and
accounting fees incurred related to our changeiditars. Commissions were also up on a compatissis due to the strong sales of the ZAGGmate
product online, continued growth through indirect@unts for which we utilize a third-party salesngany, and commissions incurred related to sales
at the iFrogz segment. Depreciation and amortindticreased significantly due to the amortizatbimtangible assets related to the acquisition of
iFrogz and the depreciation of iFrogz assets. iheease in other relates to additional expensesried as a result of (1) the ZAGG segment’s overall
increase in headcount and operations, includingages in health insurance costs, employee cestsjébt expense, supplies, postage and delivery,
utilities, and investor relations; (2) $1,489 kpense incurred in connection with an impairmenbrded on the note receivable; (3) six months of
expenses at the iFrogz segment; and (4) an owecadlase in operations and loss at the HzO segooempared to the prior year, including amortiza

of intangibles of $972.

Income from operation:

We reported income from operations of $28,137 lieryear ended December 31, 2011, compared to inflemeoperations of $16,814 for the year
ended December 31, 2010, an increase of $11,3@8.intreased income from operations for the yede@mecember 31, 2011, as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2010, is primarily atteble to the overall increase in net sales of ouisibleSHIELD product line, the addition of the
keyboard product line, increases in sales acrdgs abnsumer electronics accessory lines, anddtiéi@n of iFrogz operations during 2011, which
was partially offset by a decrease in gross preiti the sales mix shift toward the indirect channe

Other income (expense)

For the year ended December 31, 2011, total otheresse was $1,135 compared to other expense of fp28te year ended December 31, 2010.
increase is primarily due to an increase in intsregpense from debt entered into to acquire iEradich was partially offset by the gain recogni
on the deconsolidation of HzO.

Income taxes

We recognized an income tax expense of $9,41&&yéar ended December 31, 2011, compared to intaexpense of $6,650 for the year ended
December 31, 2010. From 2010 to 2011, our effedtixgate decreased from 40.1% to 34.9% due togdsim permanent items included in our 2011
income tax provision compared to 2010. The sigaiftcchange include the following: (1) impact oirgan deconsolidation of HzO, (2) an increase in
the domestic production activities deduction, (3g@uction in return to provision adjustments,r{d)interest and penalties recorded in the 2011
provision, (5) no federal rate surcharge in 200t @) a number of other items that favorably inmipddhe 2011 tax rate on a net basis.

Net income

As a result of these factors, we reported net ireattributable to stockholders of $18,248 or $@éBdiluted share for the year ended December 31,
2011, compared to net income attributable to stolcldrs of $9,963 or $0.41 per diluted share forysar ended December 31, 2010.
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 AS COMPARED TO THE YIRAENDED DECMEBER 31, 2009 (in thousands, except @trare data)
Net sales

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2010 $#8 435 compared to net sales of $38,362 for ¢lae gnded December 31, 2009, an increa
$37,773 or 98%.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, sales ahwisibleSHIELD product line accounted for apprositely 91% of our revenues. We have
experienced significant growth in our indirect chahto Big Box retailers including Best Buy, Targetd Radio Shack, wireless carriers such as
AT&T, Verizon, The Carphone Warehouse and Criciet] both domestic and foreign electronics accegdistsibutors. We are still focused on
distribution through our mall kiosk program andathgh our website www.ZAGG.corrbut the significant growth for 2010 was througin mdirect
channel as we began selling through additionalocnsts and expanded our SKU count in our currertbouwexrs. For the year ended December 31,
2010, approximately 73% of our overall net salesawkrough our indirect channel, 18% were throughveebsite, 7% were through our mall cart and
kiosk programs and 2% were from shipping and hagdiharges.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales includes raw materials, packing redseand shipping and fulfillment costs. For tleayended December 31, 2010, cost of sales
amounted to $38,738 or approximately 51% of netssabmpared to cost of sales of $16,309 or 43%f$ales for the year ended December 31,
2009. The increase in cost of sales as a perceofaet revenues for the year ended December@D, 2s compared to the year ended December 31
2009, is attributable to the impairment of invegtof $1,511 charged to cost of sales and the dvealids mix shift to wholesale customers which have
a lower average selling price than our internegsalhich have historically represented a largetgrgage of the total sales and increased costwodue
the payment of expedited shipping costs relatesbioe of our raw materials for our invisibleSHIELEbg@uct line and expedited shipping for our
ZAGGmate and ZAGG Sparq product lines.

Gross profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2049 $87,397 or approximately 49% of net sales agpaoed to $22,053 or approximately 57% of
sales for the year ended December 31, 2009. Tdéreake in gross profit percentage is due to thaimgnt of inventory of $1,511 charged to cost of
sales and due to the sales mix shift from direelriret sales to indirect customers which have &taverage selling price and increased costs of
expediting raw materials related to our invisibléSED product line and our ZAGGmate and ZAGGspargdorct lines. As we continue to grow our
business, we will have increased sales to oureatitustomers which will continue to put pressureor gross profit margins. There are no assus
that we will continue to recognize similar groseffirmargins in the future.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses for year ended Decemhe&t03D, were $20,583, an increase of $4,240 fraal tperating expenses for year ended
December 31, 2009, of $16,343. The increasesramaply attributable to the following:

« For the year ended December 31, 2010, marketinggrasing and promotion expenses were $5,067, acdse of $779, as compare(
$5,846, for the year ended December 31, 2009. Wfostur expenses related to marketing, advertiaimgj promotions were spent online.
continued to invest heavily in the developmenthaf invisibleSHIELD and ZAGG brands through interkey word advertising, traditior
print media, television and radio advertising. @4pected our marketing and advertising expensesritinue to be a material expenditur:
our revenues increase and expected to spend iedréasds on advertising and promotion of our préslas well as sales training. Dur
fiscal 2011, we continued to expand our marketiifigres related to our existing products and for naw product introduction

« For the year ended December 31, 2010, salariesedeted taxes increased by $2,241 to $6,389 frofhdd4for the year ended December
2009, which includes $993 in expenses relatedadstbuance of common stock and options to our grepk We have added additional ¢
during 2010 to accommodate our continued gro

« For the year ended December 31, 2010, other seliiegeral and administrative expenses, net ofisaland related taxes described ak
were $9,127 compared to $6,349 for the year endecember 31, 2009. The overall increase in oth#ingegeneral and administrati
expenses is attributable to the following factoa@Bommissions paid to online affiliates and manufeats reps of $1,751, legal and accoun
expenses of $1,158, rent expense of $911, creditazed bank fees of $81

29




Income from operations

We reported income from operations of $16,814lieryear ended December 31, 2010, compared to infremeoperations of $5,710 for the year
ended December 31, 2009, an increase of $11,1bd.irnEreased income from operations for the yede@mecember 31, 2010, as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2009, was primarily atitde to the overall increase in net sales of ouisibleSHIELD product line and other consumer
electronics accessory lines, partially offset lilearease in gross profit with the sales mix sbiftard the indirect channel.

Other income

For the year ended December 31, 2010, total otkgrese was $236 compared to other expense of $tafid year ended December 31, 2009.
increase was primarily due to increased intergséesge associated with our terminated credit fgalitd decreased interest income related to $bort-
loans.

Income taxes

We recognized an income tax expense of $6,65&yéar ended December 31, 2010, compared to intaexpense of $2,132 for the year ended
December 31, 2009. During the fourth quarter eridlecember 31, 2010, we recorded a $436 increasedme tax provision due to a return to
provision adjustment.

Net income

As a result of these factors, we reported net ireattributable to stockholders of $9,963 or $0.ddgluted share for the year ended December 31,
2010, compared to net income attributable to stolcldrs of $3,381 or $0.15 per diluted share fonysa ended December 31, 2009. In connection
with the consolidation of HzO, we have a portiorth@ net loss that is attributable the noncontiglinterest in HzO that was $35 for the year ended
December 31, 2010 giving us net income attributébkockholders of $9,963.

Liquidity and Capital Resources (in thousands)

At December 31, 2011, our principle sources ofitliiy were cash generated by operations, cashamd, and the issuance of a term loan and revc
credit facility. Our principle uses of cash haveméo fund working capital requirements and thetiooled growth of the business, and finance the
acquisition of iFrogz.

Cash and cash equivalents on-hand increased t4326n December 31, 2011 from $2,373 on Decemhe2@®I0, an increase of $24,060. Earnings
from foreign operations are considered permaneatipvested and of the $26,433 cash balance onrbleee31, 2011, cash from foreign entities
totaled $2,346, which constitutes 8.9% of the to&sh and cash equivalents balance.

At December 31, 2011, we had an income tax payzdiEnce of $4,294.
At December 31, 2011, we had working capital of 890 compared to $23,615 as of December 31, 2010.

Based on our current level of operations, we beligat cash generated from operations, cash on haddavailable borrowings under our existing
credit arrangements will be adequate to meet ouwently expected capital expenditures and workiagital needs for the next 12 months and beyond.

Debt and Letters of Crec

On June 21, 2011, and in conjunction with the aitjon of iFrogz, the Company entered into a finagagreement (the “Financing Agreement”) led
by Cerberus Business Finance, LLC (“Cerberus”)RNE Bank National Association (“PNC”), which is iacf as the administrative bank. The
Financing Agreement consists of a $45,000 term (§&&rm Loan”), a $45,000 revolving credit facili{yRevolving Credit Facility”), and a $5,000
letters of credit facility, which is a subset o€t$45,000 Revolving Credit Facility. The Compamnysigations under the Financing Agreement were
secured by all or substantially all of the Compargssets. The Term Loan matures on June 20, a0d@6he Revolving Credit Facility and letters of
credit mature on June 20, 2014.

As of December 31, 2011, the entire Term Loan wastanding, $23,332 of the Revolving Credit Fagiitas outstanding, and no letters of credit v
outstanding.

At the election of the Company, borrowings underBnancing Agreement bear interest at either #fef@nce Rate plus an applicable margin or the
Eurodollar Rate plus an applicable margin, botlefshed in the Financing Agreement. All currentriowvings were made under the Reference Rate,
which is calculated as the greater of (1) 2.75%tH& Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 0.50%tH8)Eurodollar Rate plus 1.00%, or (4) the rate of
interest publicly announced by PNC Financial Ser@soup, Inc. as its reference rate, base raggrjmoe rate. The applicable margin for the Refea
Rate is 4.00%. At December 31, 2011, the weightestage interest rate on all outstanding borrowings 7.25%. At December 31, 2011, the
effective interest rate on all outstanding borrgyginvas 8.02%.
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There are no scheduled payments on either the Team or Revolving Credit Facility prior to maturittHowever, the Financing Agreement calls for
prepayment of the Term Loan if certain conditiorsmet. The prepayment requirement commencesthétfiscal year ended December 31, 2011,
and is calculated based on a percentage of “exes$sflow”as defined in the Financing Agreement. Paymergdaired to be made within ten day:
issuing the year-end consolidated financial statemeBased on current projections, the Comparisnasts that a prepayment of $2,372 will be
required to be made during March 2012. This ambastbeen classified as current in the condensesbtidated balance sheet, while the remaining
Term Loan balance and Revolving Credit Facilityanak is classified as noncurrent.

Starting July 1, 2011, the Company began payingrarsed line fee based on a rate of 0.375% aghiestxcess of $45,000 over the average principal
amount for the month.

At December 31, 2011, the Company was in compliavite covenants associated with the Term Loan aeebRing Credit Facility.

On June 21, 2011, with the proceeds from the Tepanland draw on the Revolving Credit Facility, @@mpany paid off the outstanding U.S. Bank
line of credit and the facility was terminated.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments (in thousails)

The following table provides information on our é@ttual obligations as of December 31, 2011:

Total
Payments on Interest on Operating contractual
Debt Debt Leases obligations (1)
2012 $ 237 % 5,00¢ $ 824 $ 8,20
2013 - 5,32( 524 5,84
2014 23,33: 4,397 431 28,16(
2015 - 3,50¢ 20¢ 3,718
Thereafter 42.62¢ 1,752 - 44 38(
Total $ 68,33: $ 19,98: $ 1987 $ 90,301

(1) Unrecognized uncertain tax benefits of $61 areémmuded in the table above as we are not sure vleamount will be paic
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2011, there were no off balahemt arrangements.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUAL ITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are exposed to certain market risks in the arglicourse of our business. These risks resutigrily from changes in foreign currency exchange
rates and interest rates. In addition, our intéonal operations are subject to risks relatedifferihg economic conditions, changes in political
climate, differing tax structures and other regolst and restrictions.
To date we have not utilized derivative financretruments or derivative commodity instruments. denot expect to employ these or other strate
to hedge market risk in the foreseeable future. iWest our cash in money market funds, which algext to minimal credit and market risk. We
believe that the market risks associated with tfies@cial instruments are immaterial, althoughr¢hean be no guarantee that these market risks will
be immaterial to us.
See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for furthéalission of our financing facilities and capitalsture. Market risk, calculated as the potential
change in fair value of our cash equivalents amel &if credit resulting from a hypothetical 1.0%Xasis point) change in interest rates, was not
material at December 31, 2011.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our consolidated financial statements and footnitteeto are set forth beginning on page F-1 af Report.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON A CCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

On January 24, 2011, acting upon a decision togiaccountants recommended and approved by thel Bb&irectors, the Company dismissed
Hansen Barnett & Maxwell (“HBM”), which has auditdtk financial statements of the Company for tkedi years ending December 31, 2007, 2008,
and 2009. Additionally, on January 24, 2011, tlear of Directors approved the engagement of KPMB 'KPMG”) as the new independent
registered public accounting firm to audit the Camys financial statements beginning with the fisesmar ended December 31, 2010.

The reports of HBM on the financial statementshaf Company as of and for the years ended Decenih@089, 2008, and 2007, did not contain an
adverse opinion, or a disclaimer of opinion. Dgrihe periods ended December 31, 2009, 2008, abid, #rough the date of dismissal, (i) the
Company did not have any disagreements with HBNMmnmatter of accounting principles or practicésricial statement disclosure, or auditing
scope or procedure, which disagreements, if natved to the satisfaction of HBM would have cauided make a reference to the subject matter of
the disagreements in connection with its reportd, (@) there were no “reportable events,” as dbgctin Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

During the Company’s three most recent fiscal yeand any subsequent interim period prior to enga$iPMG, neither the Company nor anyone
acting on its behalf consulted KPMG with respediidhe application of accounting principles tggecified transaction, either completed or proppsed
(ii) the type of audit opinion that might be reneléion the Company’s financial statements; or &iiiy matter that was the subject of a disagreenrent o
reportable event between the Company and HBM.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
1. Disclosure Controls and Procedure:

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executffecer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure contats procedures, as such term is defined under Ralel5(e) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchang§,/s of December 31, 2011. Based on our evainas of December 31, 2011, our principal
executive officer and principal financial officenrcluded that a material weakness in internal cbotrer financial reporting existed as of December
31, 2011, resulting from a lack of a sufficient raemof accounting and IT professionals with theessary experience and training. As a result of the
material weakness, our principal executive offimed principal financial officer have concluded that disclosure controls and procedures were not
effective as of December 31, 2011.

2. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the fourth quarter of 2011, management deteed that we lacked a sufficient number of IT pssionals with the necessary experience and
training (discussed in detail below). Other thas tetermination by management, there have beeigndicant changes in our internal control over
financial reporting during the quarter ended Decen#i, 2011, that have materially affected, orraesonably likely to materially affect, our intekrna
control over financial reporting.

We are taking specific remedial actions to hireitgithl accounting and IT professionals with theegsary experience and training. The Company
continues to evaluate its resource needs giveapisl and sustained growth. We are also workinigtimalize accounting policies, IT policies, and
training. While management believes that the reaiexfforts will resolve the material weakness, ¢hisrno assurance that management’s remedial
efforts conducted to date will be sufficient ortthdditional remedial actions will not be necessary

3. Managemen’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (dollars in thousands)

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@aorting as defined in Rule 13&(f) under th
Exchange Act. Our internal control over financigborting is a process designed to provide reaseregdslurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetséor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. Internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies @nocedures that:

« pertain to the maintenance of records that in realsie detail accurately and fairly reflect the s@ctions and dispositions of our assets;

« provide reasonable assurance that transactionseaoeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements in accordance \
generally accepted accounting principl

« provide reasonable assurance that our receipt&xpehditures are being made only in accordance authorization of our management
directors; anc

« provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, oselisposition of assets that could ha
material effect on our consolidated financial staets.
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Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executffeeer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofiernal control over financial reporting based tire framework in "Internal Control—Integrated
Framework" issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@izations of the Treadway Commission. Based @retraluation, our management
determined that a material weakness in internairobnexisted as of December 31, 2011, resultingnfa lack of a sufficient number of accounting
IT professionals with the necessary experiencetiaining. As a result of the material weakness staiements in the preliminary consolidated
financial statements were corrected prior to tsaasice of the consolidated financial statementditnally, there is a reasonable possibility that
material misstatement of the consolidated finarstiaiements would not be prevented or detectedtiomedy basis.

As a result of the material weakness describede@bmanagement has concluded that our internalaaer financial reporting was not effective as
of December 31, 2011.

The Company acquired iFrogz during June 2011 anthgement excluded from its assessment of the efé@etss of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, iFtedaternal control over financial reporting asstaiawith total assets of $108,778 and total nets
of $36,046 included in the consolidated financiatements of the Company and subsidiaries as ofaartte year ended December 31, 2011.

Our independent registered public accounting fkiAMG LLP, has issued an attestation report on ot@rinal control over financial reporting, whict
included at 9A.5 below.

4. Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designprbvide reasonable assurance of achieving tigéictives. Nevertheless, an internal control
system, no matter how well conceived and operaisa provide only reasonable, not absolute, asseardyat the objectives of the control system are
met. Further, the design of a control system rédléte fact that there are resource constraintstr@nbenefits of controls are considered relative
their costs. Because of the inherent limitationalirtontrol systems, no evaluation of controls pesvide absolute assurance that all control isanes
instances of fraud, if any, within the Company hbeen detected. These inherent limitations incthdeealities that judgments in decisiorking cal
be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur becausengiie error or mistake. Additionally, controlsndae circumvented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people, ontanagement override of the internal control. Thagteof any system of controls also is based in
part upon certain assumptions about the likelihofiiture events, and there can be no assurantarjalesign will succeed in achieving its stated
goals under all potential future conditions. Overet, control may become inadequate because of esangonditions, or the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

5. REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of ZAGG Inc

We have audited ZAGG Inc’s internal control overaficial reporting as of December, 31, 2011 basedriteria established iimternal Control—
Integrated Frameworlissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatonthe Treadway Commission (COSO). ZAGG kichanagement
responsible for maintaining effective internal gohbver financial reporting and for its assessn@rihe effectiveness of internal control over fiogl
reporting, included in the accompanying ManagenRaygort on Internal Control Over Financial Report{itgm 9A.3). Our responsibility is to expr
an opinion on the Company'’s internal control oveafcial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statglof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri8g&nited States). Those standards ret
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtsassurance about whether effective internarabaver financial reporting was maintained ir
material respects. Our audit included obtainingiaderstanding of internal control over financigdaging, assessing the risk that a material wea
exists, and testing and evaluating the design gretating effectiveness of internal control basedtlm assessed risk. Our audit also inch
performing such other procedures as we consideeedssary in the circumstances. We believe thataadit provides a reasonable basis for
opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is eopess designed to provide reasonable assurancediregdhe reliability of financie
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsidor external purposes in accordance with gelyea@icepted accounting principles. A company’
internal control over financial reporting includig®se policies and procedures that (1) pertaitnéomaintenance of records that, in reasonablelg
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions aigpositions of the assets of the company; (2) idepveasonable assurance that transactior
recorded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiahstatements in accordance with generally @eceaccounting principles, and that receipts
expenditures of the company are being made onbcoordance with authorizations of management arettdrs of the company; and (3) prov
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidethction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opakition of the compang’assets that could hav
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of any evadin

of effectiveness to future periods are subjecthtrisk that controls may become inadequate becafuskanges in conditions, or that the degre
compliance with the policies or procedures may ritaiate.
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A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combimaf deficiencies, in internal control over fing@icreporting, such that there is a reasor
possibility that a material misstatement of the pany’s annual or interim financial statements will netgrevented or detected on a timely bas
material weakness related to a lack of a sufficrmnber of accounting and IT professionals with tleeessary experience and training has
identified and included in managementissessment. We also have audited, in accordaititehs standards of the Public Company Accout
Oversight Board (United States), the consolidateldrice sheets of ZAGG Inc and subsidiaries as aedeer 31, 2011 and 2010, and the re
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdl@epsity and comprehensive income, and cash flowvsefich of the years in the twear perio
ended December 31, 2011. This material weaknessavesdered in determining the nature, timing, exignt of audit tests applied in our audit of
consolidated financial statements for the year @ndecember 31, 2011, and this report does not taffac report on the consolidated finan
statements dated March 15, 2012, which expressedgumrlified opinion on those consolidated finahstatements.

The Company acquired iFrogz during 2011 and manageexcluded from its assessment of the effects®éthe Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, iFtegaternal control over financial reporting assied with total assets of $108.8 million and toiet
sales of $36.0 million included in the consolidafiedncial statements of the Company and subsatias of and for the year ended December 31,
2011. Our audit of internal control over finanaieporting of the Company also excluded an evaloaifche internal control over financial reportiof
iFrogz.

In our opinion, because of the effect of the af@ationed material weakness on the achievemenedfltfectives of the control criteria, ZAGG Inc |
not maintained effective internal control over fic&l reporting as of December 31, 2011, basediteria established iternal Control—Integrated
Frameworkissued by COSO.

/sl KPMG

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 15, 2012
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ITEM 9B. OTHER ITEMS

On March 12, 2012, the Company filed Articles ofr@ction to its Articles of Incorporation with ti8ecretary of State of Nevada. The Articles of
Correction were filed to clarify that the Compasyauthorized to issue 100,000,000 shares of Con8tmrk, par value $0.001, following the
Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders in 2011.

PART Il

Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 in Part Ill of this Be@re incorporated herein by reference to ouindisfe proxy statement for our 2012 Annual Meeting
of Shareholders. We intend to file our definitpm@xy statement with the SEC not later than 12Gsddier December 31, 2011, pursuant to Regulation
14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aledn

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERN ANCE
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

15(a)(1). Financial Statements.

The following consolidated financial statements] aglated notes and Report of Independent Registeublic Accounting Firm are filed as part of t
Annual Report:

Page

Report of KPMG LLP Independent Registered Publicdumting Firm F-2
Report of Hansen Barnett & Maxwell, P.C. Independ®egistered Public Accounting Fir F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &t 201( F-4
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeradsed December 31, 2011, 2010 and Z F-5
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity and Comprehensive Incor

for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 an@l F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeyadled December 31, 2011, 2010 and Z F-7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-9
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15(a)(2). Financial Statement Schedules.
None.

15(a)(3). Exhibits.

Exhibit Number Description

3.1*  Atrticles of Incorporation of Registrant as filedtiwithe State of Nevac

3.1.1  Certificate of Correction as filed with the StaféNevada

3.2* Bylaws of Registran

10.1  Amended and Restated Loan Agreement between ZAG@porated and U.S. Bank National Association dMedch 7, 2011
(filed as Exhibit 99.1 to a Current Report on F@+K filed with the Commission on March 14, 2011, ancbrporated herein k
this reference)

10. 2 Form of Revolving Note under Amended and RestatahlAgreement (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to a Curreep&t on Form 8-K
filed with the Commission on March 14, 2011, ancbiporated herein by this referenc

10.5 Security Agreement between ZAGG Incorporated argl Bank National Association dated March 7, 201édfas Exhibit 99..
to a Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on March 14, 2011, amcbrporated herein by this referenc

10.4 Patent Security Agreement between ZAGG IncorporatetU.S. Bank National Association dated MarcR04,1 (filed as
Exhibit 99.4 to a Current Report on Form 8-K filwidh the Commission on March 14, 2011, and incaapent herein by this
reference)

10.5 Trademark Security Agreement between ZAGG Incotiearand U.S. Bank National Association dated MarcP011 (filed as
Exhibit 99.5 to a Current Report on Form 8-K filwidh the Commission on March 14, 2011, and incaapent herein by this
reference)

10.€ Continuing and Unconditional Guaranty of ZAGG Ewdpl'D (filed as Exhibit 99.6 to a Current Reportfeorm ¢-K filed with
the Commission on March 14, 2011, and incorporh&zéin by this reference

10.7 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated June 21, 201d &ddé=xhibit 99.1 to a Current Report on Form 8kdfwith the
Commission on June 22, 2011, and incorporated mésethis reference

10.€ Financing Agreement, dated as of June 21, 201dd(&ik Exhibit 99.2 to a Current Report on Fo-K filed with the
Commission on June 22, 2011, and incorporatedésethis reference

10.¢  Amended and Restated Marketing Agreement betweedd@#Mc and HzO, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to aifRdl0-Q filed with
the Commission on November 18, 2011, and incorpdrhgrein by this referenct

10.1¢ Distribution Agreement between ZAGG Inc and HzQ:. Iffiled as Exhibit 10.10 to a Form-Q filed with the Commission o
November 18, 2011, and incorporated herein byréference)

10.11 Settlement Agreement dated as of March 23, 201anbyamong ZAGG Incorporated, Teleportall, LLC, idar Holdings,
LLD, Global Industrial Services Limited, and Lorandarmer (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to a Form 10-kdilwith the Commission
on March 25, 2011, and incorporated herein byréfisrence)

14* Code of Ethic

16 Letter of Hansen Barnett & Maxwell, P.C. previouBlgd as an exhibit to our Current Report on F@&il{ dated January 28,
2011, and incorporated herein by referen

21.1 List of subsidiarie!

23.1  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing — KPMG LLP

23.2 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing — Hansen Barnett & Maxwell, P.(

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Secutitiehange Act of 1934, as
Amended

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Secuitkehange Act of 1934, as
Amended

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuarg¢td® 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

32.z  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuargt¢tidd 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

* previously filed with the Securities and Exchangernission
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of section 13 or 16f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regig has duly caused this Report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly anglkd.

ZAGG INC
Dated: March 15, 2012 By: /sIROBERT G. PEDERSEN
Il
Robert G. Pedersen Il
CEO and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the datbsated.

Dated: March 15, 2012 By: /sROBERT G. PEDERSEN
Il
Robert G. Pedersen
CEO and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: March 15, 20: By: /s BRANDON T.
O’'BRIEN
Brandon T. O’Brien
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

Dated: March 15, 2012 By: /s/ ED EKSTROM
Ed Ekstrom
Director

Dated: March 15, 20: By: /s/ SHU UEYAMA

Shu Ueyama
Director

Dated: March 15, 2012 By: /s/ RANDY HALES

Randy Hales
COQO, President and Director

Dated: March 15, 2012 By : /sICHERYL LARABEE

Cheryl Larabee
Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingdrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
ZAGG Inc:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of ZAGG Inc and subsidiaries as of Deee®b, 2011 and 2010, and the rel:
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdl@epsity and comprehensive income, and cash flowvsefich of the years in the twear perio
ended December 31, 2011. These consolidated filestatements are the responsibility of the Comjmmanagement. Our responsibility is to exg
an opinion on these consolidated financial stateésnieaised on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiogUnited States). Those standards re:
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reablenassurance about whether the financial statisneea free of material misstatement. An &
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgathe amounts and disclosures in the finansialements. An audit also includes assessir
accounting principles used and significant estimatede by management, as well as evaluating thralbfieancial statement presentation. We bel
that our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteaeferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of ZAGG Inc
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010thencesults of their operations and their cash$léov each of the years in the twear period ende
December 31, 2011, in conformity with U.S. gengralicepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), ZAGG Ing’interna
control over financial reporting as of December 3Q11, based on criteria establishediriternal Control — Integrated Framewoiisued by th
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd®@ommission (COSO), and our report dated March20%2 expressed an adverse opinio
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal contkar financial reporting.

(signed) KPMG LLP
Salt Lake City, Utah

March 15, 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
ZAGG Incorporated

We have audited the consolidated statements ofatipes, stockholderséquity and comprehensive income, and cash flowstHeryear ende
December 31, 2009. These financial statementshareesponsibility of the Comparsymanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspnian or
these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statglof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri8g&nited States). Those standards ret
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reablenassurance about whether the financial statisneea free of material misstatement. An &
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgathe amounts and disclosures in the finansialements. An audit also includes assessir
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thralbfisancial statement presentation. We bel
that our audit provide a reasonable basis for pumion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaerf ZAGG referred to above present fairly, inraliterial respects, the results of their operatar
their cash flows for the year ended December 3Q92id conformity with accounting principles gerlgraccepted in the United States of America.

HANSEN, BARNETT & MAXWELL, P.C.

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 12, 2010




ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except par value)

2011 2010
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivale 26,43 $ 2,37:
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $2,0720h1 and $904 in 201 45,45( 17,66¢
Inventories 29,62: 17,947
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,59: 2,62(
Related party other ass - 3,90(
Deferred income tax asse¢ 5,13¢ 2,19¢
Total current assets 108,23( 46,70
Investment in HzO 4.87¢ -
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation at $1,857 in 20L%852 in 201( 4,162 1,497
Deferred income tax asset 82 -
Goodwill 6,92°¢ -
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization at $3,989 in 2a&id $28 in 201 73,69! 9,167
Note receivable 1,34¢ -
Other assets 3,01( 63
Total assets 202,32¢ $ 57,43:
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl 16,01 $ 12,12:
Income taxes payab 4,29¢ 8,031
Accrued liabilities 3,88¢ 24C
Accrued wages and wage related expe 1,46¢ 303
Deferred revenu 32C 29t
Current portion of note payak 2,37 31
Sales returns liabilit' 5,381 2,06¢
Total current liabilities 33,74( 23,09(
Deferred income tax liability - 1,561
Revolving line of credit 23,33: -
Noncurrent portion of note payable 42,62¢ -
Total liabilities 99,70( 24,65!
Stockholders' equity
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000 share®edr#u;
29,782 and 23,926 shares issued and outstanésygatively 30 24
Additional paic-in capital 70,24¢ 15,49t
Cumulative translation adjustme 33 (60)
Note receivable collateralized by stc (56€) -
Retained earning 32,94¢ 14,701
Total stockholders' equity 102,62¢ 30,16(
Noncontrolling interest - 2,621




Total equity 102,62¢ 32,78!

Total liabilities and equity $ 202,32¢ $ 57,43.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgstents.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2011 2010 2009

Net sales $ 179,12 % 76,13t % 38,36:
Cost of sales 97,20: 38,73¢ 16,30¢
Gross profit 81,92« 37,39: 22,05
Operating expenses

Advertising and marketin 10,24¢ 5,067 5,84¢

Selling, general and administrati 39,59: 15,50¢ 10,49(

Amortization of definit-lived intangibles 3,94¢ 12 7
Total operating expense: 53,78 20,58t 16,34
Income from operations 28,131 16,81« 5,71(
Other income (expense)

Interest expens (3,029 (243%) (232)

Gain on deconsolidation of Hz 1,90¢ - -

Other income and (expens (19) 7 35
Total other expense (1,135 (23€) (197)
Income before provision for income taxe: 27,00: 16,57¢ 5,51t
Income tax provision (9,415 (6,65(0) (2,1372)
Net income 17,58¢ 9,92¢ 3,381
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 664 35 -
Net income attributable to stockholders $ 18,24¢ % 9,96 $ 3,381
Earnings per share attributable to stockholders:

Basic earnings per share $ 067 $ 044 $ 0.1€

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.6 $ 041 $ 0.1f

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsents.
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Balances,
December 31,
2008

Comprehensive
income:

Net income (los:
Foreign currenc
translation gain
(loss)
Comprehensive
income

Issuance of
common stock t
employees
Option exercise
Warrant
exercises
Warrant grant
expenst

Option expens
Excess tax
benefits related
to share-based
payments
Balances,
December 31,
2009

Purchase of Hz(
technology and
equipmen
Comprehensive
income:

Net income (los¢
Foreign currenc!
translation gain
(loss)
Comprehensive
income

Issuance of
common stock
employees
Option exercise
Warrant
exercises
Warrant grant
expenst

Patent
acquisition
Option expens
Excess tax
benefits related
to share-based
payments

Balance

ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY & COMPREHENSIVE IN COME

(in thousands)

Note

Additional Receivable Cumulative Total Redeemable
Common Stock Paid-in  Collateralized Retained Translation Stockholders Noncontrolling Total Noncontrolling

Shares Amount Capital By Stock  Earnings Adjustment Equity Interest Equity Interest
19,16« $ 19% 454t % -$ 1351 % (107 $ 5817 $ -$ 5811 % =
- - - - 3,381 - 3,381 - 3,381 -
- : : : : 5) ®) : ®) :
3,37¢ - 3,37¢ -
80 - 282 - - - 282 - 282 -
634 1 46¢ - - - 46¢ - 46¢ -
1,83¢ 2 2,27t - - - 2,27 - 2,27 -
- - 222 - - - 222 - 222 -
- - 382 - - - 382 - 382 -
- - 1,062 - - - 1,067 - 1,067 -
21,71: $ 22$% 9,23¢ - 4,73¢ (112) 13,887 - 13,88 -
- - - - - - - 2,65¢ 2,65¢ -
- - - - 9,96: - 9,96: (35  9,92¢ -
- - - - - 52 52 - 52 -
10,01t (35 9,98« -
20 - 42 - - - 42 - 42 -
524 - 70¢ - - - 70¢ - 70¢ -
1,60( 2 2,07¢ - - - 2,08( - 2,08( -
- - 29z - - - 29z - 29z -
70 - 1,60t - - - 1,60t - 1,60t -
- - 952 - - - 957 - 957 -
- - 577 - - - 577 - 577 -




December 31,
2010

Addition to
redeemable
noncontrolling
interest
Acquisition of
noncontrolling
interest
Noncontrolling
interest at fair
value
Adjustments to
redemption valu
Reversal to
adjustments to
redemption valu
prior to
deconsolidatior
Deconsolidation
of HzO
Comprehensive
income:

Net income (los:
Foreign currenc
translation gain
(loss)
Comprehensivi
income

Issuance of
common stock
purchase iFrog
Issuance of
common stock t
consultan
Issuance of
common stock
related to
contract
termination
Option exercise
Warrant
exercises
Warrant grant
expenst
Restricted stock
expense

Option expens
Excess tax
benefits related
to share-based
payments
Reclassification
of note
receivable
collateralized by
stock

Balances,
December 31,
2011

2392t$ 24$ 1549 $ - $1470. $ (60) $ 30,16( $ 2,621 $ 32,78 $ -
- - (165) - - - (165) - (16€) 5,50(

- - - - - - - (392 (392 -

: : (36) : : : (36) (2,017 (2,059 1,60¢

- - (22) - (319) - (341) - (341) 341

- - 22 - 31¢ - 341 - 341 (341)

- - - - - - - 64 64 (6,720

- - - - 18,24¢ - 18,24¢ (276) 17,97: (389)

- - - - - 27 27 - 27 -
18,27 (276)  17,99¢ (38¢)

4,441 4 46,19 - - - 46,20( - 46,20 -
10 - 10C - - - 10C - 10C -
90 - 89¢ - - - 89¢ - 89¢ -
951 1 1,55: = = = 1,55¢ - 155¢ =
361 1 91z - - - 914 - 914 -
- - 377 - - - 377 - 377 -

- - 61¢ - - - 61¢ - 61¢ -

- - 2,64( - - - 2,64( - 2,64( -

- - 1,65¢ - - - 1,65¢ - 1,65¢ -

: : : (56€) : : (56€) : (56€) :
2078:$ 30$ 70,24t $ (566€) $ 32,94¢ $ (33$ 102,62 $ - $102,62¢ $ -

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsents.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 17,58 $ 9,92¢ $ 3,381
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net ¢
provided by (used in) operating activitit
Stock-based compensatic 3,25¢ 994 665
Excess tax benefits related to sl-based paymen (1,670 (620) (1,0672)
Depreciation and amortizatic 5,92¢ 34¢& 242
Deferred income taxe (3,909 (1,482 50¢
Amortization of deferred loan cos 32¢ - -
Expense related to issuance of warri 377 293 -
Expense related to issuance of stock for consu 10C - -
Expense related to issuance of stock for roya 33€ - -
Impairment on notes receivalt 1,48¢ - 43¢
Gain on deconsolidation of Hz (1,90¢6) - -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, natqtiisition
Accounts receivabl (22,099 (12,219 (1,857)
Inventories 2,46¢ (14,25 (1,789
Related party other ass - (2,747 (1,1572)
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,607 (1,867 (8)
Other asset 134 (54) -
Accounts payabl 42 9,341 1,15¢
Income taxes payab (2,097 6,802 -
Accrued liabilities 3,36¢ 68€ 97¢
Accrued wages and wage related expe (959 13¢ 44
Deferred revenue (72) 32 (1049
Sales return liabilit 2,811 1,517 25¢
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 7,131 (3,159 1,70¢
Cash flows from investing activities
Deposits on and purchase of intangible as (96) (2,119 (1,230
Purchase of property and equipm (1,590 (819 (575)
Deconsolidation of HzO, net of ca (4,277) - -
Proceeds from investment in note receiv: 49¢€ - -
Acquisition of iFrogz, net of cash acquir (47,537) - -
Net cash used in investing activiti (52,999 (2,936) (1,805)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of debt issuance cc (2,539¢) - -
Proceeds from issuance of term note pay 45,00( - -
Proceeds from revolving credit faciliti 29,831 31 -
Payments on revolving credit faciliti (11,546 - (20)
Proceeds from exercise of warrants and opt 2,467 2,79(C 2,967
Excess tax benefits related to sl-based paymen 1,67( 61¢ 1,06z
Cash paid for investment in Hz (392) - -
Net HzO proceeds from issuance of Series B Prefé&teck 5,33¢ - -
Net cash provided by financing activiti 69,83: 3,44( 4,00¢
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on casnd cash equivalents 95 52 (5)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivake 24,06( (2,59¢) 3,90¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the perc 2,37: 4,971 1,06¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the peric $ 26,43: $ 237 $ 4,971




Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatiot
Cash paid during the period for inter 2,60z $ 242 $ 231
Cash paid during the period for ta 13,09¢ 71C 552

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgstents.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(Dollars and shares in thousands)
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and finaing activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011:
Issued 90 shares of common stock with a fair vafug899 in connection with the acquisition of iteetual property and payment of royalties.
Issued 4,444 shares of common stock with a fairesaf $46,200 in connection with the purchase oidg (see Note 2).
Exchanged inventory for asset purchase credity85$see Note 4).
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010:
Issued 100 warrants to consultants to purchase constock with a fair value of $31.
Issued 70 shares of common stock and 250 warnaetznnection with the acquisition of patents.
Issued 8,418 shares of HzO Series A Preferred Stock imection with the acquisition of the HzO technology.
Issued 500 shares of HzO Series A Preferred Stodké purchase of equipment.

Issued 20 shares of common stock to employees.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009:
Issued 370 warrants to consultants.

Issued 80 shares of common stock to employees.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsents.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

(1) ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING  POLICIES
The Company

ZAGG Inc (the “Company”) was incorporated in thatStof Utah on March 25, 2005, as Protective SahstiInc. On January 30, 2006, the Company
amended its articles of incorporation and changedame to ShieldZone Corporation. On FebruaB08y the Company was acquired by an inactive
publicly held company, Amerasia Khan Enterprises irt a transaction accounted for as a recapitiizaf the Company. On March 1, 2007, the
Company redomesticated its operating subsidiamelmcorporating it in the State of Nevada and @t #ame date the Company merged that subs
into Amerasia Khan Enterprises Ltd, the parent, whs the surviving entity. In connection with therger, the Company changed the name of
Amerasia Khan Enterprises Ltd. to ZAGG Incorporai2dring 2011, we changed our name from ZAGG Inoaafed to ZAGG Inc. On June 21, 20
ZAGG acquired 100% of the outstanding shares afggrwhich further diversified the existing ZAGGoguct line, particularly for audio and
protective case accessories under the EarpollutiandFrogz™ brand names.

The Company designs, manufactures and distributgsgiive coverings, audio accessories and powetisos for consumer electronic and hand-held
devices under the brand names invisibleSHIELD®, B%&ins™, ZAGGbuds™, ZAGGsparg™, ZAGGmate™, ZAGGI8Y, ZAGGkeys™,
iFrogz™ and Earpollution™.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesi@ntonformity with U.S. generally accepted acdmgnprinciples requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartexiints of assets and liabilities and disclosuatingent assets and liabilities at the datdef t
consolidated financial statements and the repa@nedunts of revenue and expenses during the reggréiriod. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. Significant items subject to such edgésinclude the allowance for doubtful accoumeemtory reserve, sales returns liability, the ukef
life of property and equipment, the useful lifeimtangible assets, purchase accounting, the reabiligy of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets, the fair value of the retained interebta®, stock-based compensation, deferred tax ass®tsncome tax uncertainties and other
contingencies. These estimates and assumptierisaaed on management’s best estimates and juddgvieemigement evaluates its estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis using historiga¢gence and other factors, including the econ@nidgronment, which management believes to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Managemerstagjuch estimates and assumptions when factsranthstances dictate an adjustment is
necessary.

Principles of consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of ZAGG Inc and its wholly owned subsidiarAGG Europe Limited, ZAGG
International, ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Gnc., ZAGG Retail, Inc., iFrogz, and iFrogz EpecSAS. All intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

At December 31, 2010, HzO was consolidated by th@@ny as a variable interest entity (VIE). On®&mber 22, 2011, HzO, entered into an
Amended Series B Stock Purchase Agreement witlo@pgof third party investors. ZAGG considered thigconsideration event and concluded th
of December 22, 2011, HzO should no longer be demned a VIE under authoritative accounting literatiut is now considered a voting interest
entity. Ultimately, management concluded that HrOutd no longer be consolidated into the ZAGG firials as of December 31, 2011. This
transaction and the related accounting is discuissdetail at Note 5, Investment in HzO and Noncdlfihg Interest.

Acquisition of iFrogz
On June 21, 2011, the Company, ReminderBand,dbe.jFrogz (“iFrogz”) and the owners of iFrogz eatkinto a Stock Purchase Agreement
pursuant to which ZAGG acquired 100% of the outditag shares of iFrogz. The combination of ZAGG #mdgz represents an opportunity to create

a market leader in the mobile device accessorthssiny by building on complementary brands anddasing overall market share by growing product
lines and expanding distribution.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

iFrogz is headquartered in Logan, Utah, and desigasiufactures and distributes protective coveramgkdigital audio accessories for consumer
electronic and hand-held devices under the brantesaFrogz™ and Earpollution™.

iFrogz began in 2006 by creating protective coversPods® with a unique combination of fashion aplity that was received well by the
marketplace through online sales only. In early7Z20Brogz began distributing through large retailSubsequently, the iFrogz™ product offering has
expanded into cell phones, other music devicesaanitdler variety of fashion assortments for mobieices, while continuing to expand into a larger
retail customer base.

In the summer of 2007, iFrogz released its first lof audio products under the Earpollution™ brdriee eclectic selection of Earpollution™ earbuds
and headphones targeted a younger demographistilyeppealed to a wide demographic of consumers.

iFrogz continues to innovate its product lineswlhg it to remain ahead of the curve in the elattralevice accessory fashion market.
Cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instrumemischased with a maturity of three months or tedse cash equivalents. Amounts receivable
from credit card processors are also considerdd eqivalents because they are both short-ternhigindly liquid in nature and are typically converted
to cash within three days of the sales transac@aish equivalents as of December 31, 2011 and 20b8jsted primarily of money market fund
investments and amounts receivable from credit peodessors.

Fair value measurements

The Company measures at fair value certain findreid nonfinancial assets by using a fair value hierarctat trioritizes the inputs to valuati
techniques used to measure fair value. Fair valtled price that would be received to sell an asspaid to transfer a liability in an orderly temttior
between market participants at the measurement esgentially an exit price, based on the highedtleest use of the asset or liability. The levéd
the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 —Significant other observable inputs (e.g., quotedeg for similar items in active markets, quoteitgs for identical or similar items
markets that are not active, inputs other than epligtrices that are observable such as interestarateyield curves, and markedrroborate
inputs); and

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which there igdibr no market data, which require the reporting to develop its own assumptions.
Accounts receivabl

The Company sells its products to end users thringjlrect distribution channels and other resellen® are extended credit terms after an analysis of
their financial condition and credit worthinesstedit terms to distributors and resellers, wheredéed, are based on evaluation of the customers'
financial condition. Accounts receivable are releal at invoiced amounts and do not bear interest.

The Company maintains allowances for doubtful ant®for estimated losses resulting from the ingbdf customers to make required

payments. Management regularly evaluates the atioe for doubtful accounts considering historioabks adjusted to take into account current
market conditions, customers’ financial conditiceceivables in dispute, receivables aging and ntipayment patterns. Account balances are written
off against the allowance after all means of coitechave been exhausted and the potential fovergds considered remote. Payments subsequently
received on written off receivables are creditedad debt expense in the period of recovery.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

The following summarizes the activity in the Comyarallowance for doubtful accounts for the yeardedd December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

For the Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Balance at beginning of ye $ 904 $ 68t $ 21¢
Additions charged to expen 1,657 21¢ 46€
Write-downs charged against the allowa (49)) — —
Recoveries of amounts previously charged off — — —
Balance at end of year $ 207C $ 904 $ 68E

On May 13, 2009, the Company entered into an adsaegeivable financing agreement with Faunus Giotgrnational, Inc. (“FGI”). Under the
agreement, the Company could offer to sell its antoreceivable to FGI each month during the tefrth@ Agreement, up to a maximum amount
outstanding at any time of $4,000. The Companyctsell accounts receivable to FGI on either aitrgabroved or full recourse basis. Credit
approved invoices were sold to FGI with no recouisel accepted all credit default risk on invoisesd under the credit approved terms. The
Company accounted for the sale of the credit apgtdnvoices as a reduction to accounts receivabdiaounts sold under the financing agreement for
2011, 2010, and 2009 were $0, $5,989, and $6,8%pectively. Under the terms of the agreementCtmapany was charged a monthly collateral
management fee of 0.87% of the average monthlyandig balance and interest at 7% per annum.térhe of the agreement was for a period of
years. However, effective May 12, 2010, the Comygamnminated the receivable financing agreemertt Wis1. As a result of the early termination of
the agreement, the Company paid a terminationffé&®to FGI that was recorded as interest expenge accompanying consolidated financial
statements in full satisfaction of the Company’gattions under the agreement.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of finished goaatsd raw materials, are valued at the lower of,@etermined on a first in, first out basis, or
market. Management performs periodic assessmenistérmine the existence of obsolete, slow moaimdjnon-saleable inventories, and records
necessary write downs in cost of sales to reduck swentories to net realizable value. Once eisfladdl, the original cost of the inventory less the
related inventory write down represents the new bbasis of such products.

Property and equipmer

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Dipien expense is computed using the straighttie¢hod over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. Leasehold improvements are amortizedtiogdesser of the useful life of the asset or gnmtof the lease.

Major additions and improvements are capitalizelijevcosts for minor replacements, maintenancerapdirs that do not increase the useful life of an
asset are expensed as incurred. Upon retiremerther disposition of property and equipment, thet @and related accumulated depreciation or
amortization are removed from the accounts. Thaltieg gain or loss is reflected in selling, ged@nd administrative expense.

Intangibles asset

Intangible assets include internet addresses, {saa@id intellectual property, and acquired intalegilin connection with the acquisition of iFrogz,
which include customer relationships, trademarks-compete agreements, and other miscellaneousjibta assets.
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Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized dieir estimated economic lives, using a straigte-br accelerated method consistent with the
underlying expected future cash flows related eodpecific intangible asset. Amortization expesgecorded within cost of sales and general and
administrative expense depending on the underlyitamgible assets.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of tnadeks acquired in connection with the acquisitibiFoogz.
Impairment of lon¢-lived assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipnrehtafinite-lived intangible assets, are reviewadrmpairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amoumincdsset may not be recoverable. If circumstarezpsre a long-lived asset or asset group be tested
for possible impairment, recoverability of longdiy assets is measured by comparison of its cargyimgunt to the undiscounted cash flows that the
asset or asset group is expected to generatetaveeraining life in measuring whether the assetsexoverable. If such assets are considerbd to
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is mesby the amount by which the carrying amount efdbsets exceeds its fair value. Fair value is
determined through various valuation techniquekiging discounted cash flow models, quoted markéies and third-party independent appraisals,
as considered necessary.

Impairment of goodwill and indefinit-lived intangible assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assetsrieat on the balance sheet at December 31, 2011 averdred as part of the acquisition of iFrogz on
June 21, 2011. The Company does not amortize gdicavd intangible assets with indefinite usefukby rather such assets are required to be test
impairment at least annually or sooner wheneventsver changes in circumstances indicate thatgeeta may be impaired. The goodwill impairment
test is a twaostep test. Under the first step, the fair valuéhefreporting unit is compared with its carryindgwea(including goodwill). If the fair value
the reporting unit is less than its carrying vale jndication of goodwill impairment exists foetheporting unit and the entity must perform step t

of the impairment test (measurement). Under step & impairment loss is recognized for any exoés$ise carrying amount of the reporting unit's
goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodiwT he implied fair value of goodwill is determidéy allocating the fair value of the reportingtuni

in a manner similar to a purchase price allocagiod the residual fair value after this allocatisthie implied fair value of the reporting unit geoi

Fair value of the reporting unit is determined gsindiscounted cash flow analysis and market apprdathe fair value of the reporting unit exceeds
its carrying value, step two does not need to fopaed.

The Company performs its goodwill and intangiblseasmpairment tests in the fourth quarter of désttal year. The Company did not recognize any
goodwill or intangible asset impairment charge20d.1 (no goodwill or indefinite lived intangiblesisted in 2010 or 2009). The Company established
reporting units based on its current reportingcttrie. For purposes of testing goodwill for impagmty goodwill is assigned to a reporting unit. All
goodwill was assigned to the iFrogz reporting unit.

Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising fromics, assessments, litigation, fines, and penadtnesother sources are recorded when it is prolihbte
a liability has been incurred and the amount carebsonably estimated. Legal costs incurred imection with loss contingencies are expensed as
incurred.

Revenue recognitiol

The Company'’s revenue is derived from sales gfritglucts through its indirect channel includingilers and distributors, its direct channels
including www.ZAGG.com and www.iFrogz.com, its corpte owned and third-partywned mall kiosks, from the license fees for thHe sé exclusive
independent distributor licenses related to thslkjgorogram, and for royalties earned on producenbed to third parties. For product sales, the
Company records revenue, net of estimated returdsliscounts, when delivery has occurred and teomer takes ownership and assumes risk of
loss, collection of the relevant receivable is ogeble assured, persuasive evidence of an arramgexists, and the sales price is fixed or
determinable. Shipping and other transportatiotscdsarged to buyers are recorded in both sales@stdf sales. Sales taxes collected from
customers and remitted to governmental authorétiesaccounted for on a net basis and thereforexataded from revenues. For kiosk license fees
Company recognizes revenue on a straight-line loagisthe term of the license which is generalhgéhyears. Royalties are recognized in the period
in which they are earned.
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Promotional products given to customers or potentiatomers are recognized as a component of getieneral and administrative expenses. Sales
incentives provided to customers are recognizealragluction of the related sale price at the tifrgate, and, therefore, are a reduction in revenues

Reserve for sales returns and warranty liabili

The Company'’s return policy generally allows itslersers and retailers to return purchased produictaddition, the Company generally provides the
ultimate consumer a warranty with each producte Tompany estimates a reserve for sales returngamenty liability and records that reserve
amount as a reduction of revenues and as a s#les reserve liability. When product is returneuids expected to be resold, as is the case with
returns of iFrogz products, the reserve is recoated reduction of revenues and cost of salesasiadsales return reserve liability.

The following summarizes the activity in the Comyparsales return and warranty liability for the y@anded December 31, 2011 and 2010:

For the Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Balance at beginning of ye $ 2,06¢ $ 55C $ 291
iFrogz sales reserve at acquisit 524 — —
Additions charged to salt 12,90¢ 7,04¢ 2,84¢
Sales returns & warranty claims charged againgtrves (10,119 (5,530) (2,587)
Balance at end of ye. $ 5387 $ 2,06 $ 55C

Income taxes

The Company recognizes deferred income tax assétbiities for expected future tax consequenaksvents that have been recognized in the
financial statements or tax returns. Under thishoe, deferred income tax assets or liabilitiesdmtermined based upon the difference between the
financial statement and income tax bases of aaselt$iabilities using enacted tax rates expecteapfily when differences are expected to be sattied
realized. Deferred income tax assets are revidareegcoverability and valuation allowances arevied when it is more likely than not that a
deferred tax asset will not be realizable in there. The effect on deferred tax assets and ii@silof a change in tax rates is recognized ine in
the period that includes the enactment date.

The Company recognizes the effect of income taxipos only if those positions are more likely thawt of being sustained. Recognized income tax
positions are measured at the largest amountghgeater than 50% likely of being realized. Charigeecognition or measurement are reflectede
period in which the change in judgment occurs. Thenpany records estimated interest and penalti@edeto unrecognized tax benefits as a
component of income tax provision.

The Company has foreign subsidiaries formed oriaeduo conduct or support its business outsidehiéed States. The Company does not provide
for U.S. income taxes on undistributed earningstfoforeign subsidiaries as the foreign earnindsb& permanently reinvested in such foreign
jurisdictions.

Stocl-based compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsapn its consolidated financial statementsfeards granted to employees and non-
employees under its stock incentive plan, whichuide restricted stock and stock options. Equigssified awards are measured at the grant date fair
value of the award. The fair value of restrictaatktis measured on the grant date based on thedjatuising market price of the Company’s common
stock. The fair value of the stock options is nead on the grant date using the Black-Schole®pptiicing model based on the underlying common
stock closing price as of the date of grant, theeeted term, stock price volatility, and risk-fiagerest rates . The Company recognizes compensati
expense net of estimated forfeitures on a strdigatbasis over the requisite service period ofatvard, which is generally the vesting term of the
award. No compensation cost is ultimately recogphifor awards for which employees do not renderé¢heisite service and are forfeited. Excess tax
benefits of awards that are recognized in equigted to stock option exercises are reflectedramnfiing cash inflows.
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Advertising and marketing

General advertising is expensed as incurred. Achwegtallowances provided to retailers are recom@edn expense at the time of the related sate if t
Company receives an identifiable benefit in excleafog the consideration and has evidence of fdueséor the advertising; otherwise, the allowars
recorded as a reduction of revenue. Advertisingeagps for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2@1P099 were $10,246, $5,067 and $5,846,
respectively.

Foreign currency translation and transactions

The Company’s primary operations are at the pdeset which uses the U.S. dollar (USD) as its fioral currency. The British Pound is the
functional currency of the Company’s ZAGG Europelted subsidiary and the Euro is the functionateocy of the Company’s ZAGG International
and iFrogz Europe subsidiaries. Accordingly, asaet liabilities for these subsidiaries are tratesl into USD using exchange rates in effect at the
end of each period. Revenue and expenses for shibs@iaries are translated using rates that appede those in effect during the period. Gains and
losses from these translations are recorded asmpament of accumulated other comprehensive inconseockholders’ equity. Gains and losses
resulting from foreign currency transactions auded in income as a component of other incomeeapéense in the consolidated statements of
operations and totaled $60, $(16) and $(99) foytes ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 200%atdssy.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per common share excludes dilutidnisscomputed by dividing net income attributatolstockholders by weighted average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the geridiluted earnings per common share reflectpttential dilution that could occur if stock
options or other common stock equivalents wereased or converted into common stock. The dilugffect of stock options or other common stock
equivalents is calculated using the treasury stoethod.

The following is a reconciliation of the numerasord denominator used to calculate basic earningshaege and diluted earnings per share for thes
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

2011 2010 2009

Net income attributable to stockhold: $ 18,24¢ $ 9,96 $ 3,381
Weighted average shares outstanc 27,13¢ 22,51¢ 20,63¢
Dilutive effect of stock options and warrants 1,94¢ 1,744 2,35¢
Diluted shares 29,08: 24,26 22,98¢
Earnings per share attributable to stockholc

Basic $ 067 $ 044 $ 0.1€

Dilutive $ 06 $ 041 $ 0.1t

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, s0® Béstricted stock, warrants and stock optiormutghase 103, 1,157, and 423, respectivedyre
not considered in calculating diluted earningsgieare because the restricted stock, warrant ok sf@ion exercise prices or the total expected
proceeds under the treasury stock method for thieawts or stock options was greater than the aeemaayket price of common shares during the
period and, therefore, the effect would be antixdik.
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Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income includes changes to equityusits that were not the result of transactions sttttkholders. Comprehensive income is
comprised of net income and changes in the cummal&bireign currency translation adjustments.

Recent accounting pronouncemer

Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2-04, Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measemt and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP
and IFRSs On May 12, 2011, the Financial Accounting StaddaBoard (“FASB”) issued FASB ASU No. 2011-@4nendments to Achieve Common
Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure RequiremientéS. GAAP and IFRSto provide largely identical guidance about failueameasurement

and disclosure requirements with the Internatidx@ounting Standards Board 's new IFRSH&r Value Measurementlssuing this standard
completes a major project of the Boards’ joint wtwkmprove and converge International Financighéténg Standards and U.S. GAAP. The new
standard does not extend the use of fair valueratiter, provides guidance about how fair valueukhbe applied where it already is required or
permitted under U.S. GAAP. Most of the changescha#fications of existing guidance or wording chas to align with IFRS 13. A public entity is
required to apply the ASU prospectively for intei@md annual periods beginning after December 151 20he Company has not yet adopted this
standard and does not believe the impact will gricant to the consolidated financial statements.

ASU 201-05, Presentation of Comprehensive Incoriéis ASU increases the prominence of other cohmgmsive income in financial statements.
Under this ASU, an entity will have the option t@gent the components of net income and comprefeeimgiome in either one or two consecutive
financial statements. The ASU eliminates the opiiod.S. GAAP to present other comprehensive incontbe statement of changes in equity. An
entity should apply the ASU retrospectively. Fqgrublic entity, the ASU is effective for fiscal ysaand interim periods within those years, begignin
after December 15, 2011. Early adoption is periitidhe Company has not yet adopted this standatrdlaes not believe the impact will be signific
to the consolidated financial statements.

ASU 201-08, Intangibles—Goodwill and OtheiThis ASU will allow an entity to first assess tjtative factors to determine whether it is necegsa
perform the two-step quantitative goodwill impaimbé&est. Under these amendments, an entity woultheoequired to calculate the fair value of a
reporting unit unless the entity determines, based qualitative assessment, that it is more likielyr not that its fair value is less than its yiag
amount. The amendments include a number of evedtsiecumstances for an entity to consider in catidg the qualitative assessment. The
provisions for this pronouncement are effectivefferal years, and interim periods beginning alilecember 15, 2011, with early adoption permitted.
The Company has not yet adopted this standard eesl ribt believe the impact will be significanthe tonsolidated financial statements.

(2) ACQUISITION OF IFROGZ
On June 21, 2011, the Company, Reminderband IreciFibgz (“iFrogz”), and the owners of iFrogz eettinto a Stock Purchase Agreement pursuant
to which ZAGG acquired 100% of the outstanding shaif iFrogz. The combination of ZAGG and iFroggresents an opportunity to create a market

leader in the mobile device accessories industriguilgling on complementary brands and increasirgyal’market share by growing product lines and
expanding distribution.
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The Company purchased iFrogz for total considematfa$50,000 in cash and 4,444 shares of ZAGG comstmck. The value of the shares of the
Company’s common stock used in determining thelmse price was $12.60 per share, the closing pfitee Company’s common stock on June 21,
2011. 2,222 of the shares issued are subject 2aradhth “lock-up” transfer restriction followingéhdate of acquisition and, therefore, the fair gaiti
these shares has been determined consideringstinietien resulting in a discount of 20.0% from tHesing share price. The other 2,222 shares issuec
were subject to a 6-month “lock-up” transfer restoin following the date of acquisition in accordarwith SEC Rule 144, which expired on December
21, 2011. The fair value of these shares has betemrdined considering the restriction resulting idiscount of 15.0% from the closing share prine. |
addition, $5,000 of the cash consideration paithéoformer owners of iFrogz was placed in an es@ogount to cover any potential tax, legal, or o
contingencies that could potentially arise relatmgre-acquisition events for which ZAGG is indefiedl. If charges exceed $5,000 (not to exceed
$15,000), ZAGG may recover these amounts through payments from the former owners of iFrogz océycelling an appropriate number of she
subject to the lockip to cover the charges. Subject to indemnity cdaivhich may be asserted by ZAGG, the cash helddrogr will be released to tt
former owners of iFrogz 18 months after the actjoisidate (December 21, 2012). As of the date isfReport, the Company was not aware of any
such contingencies or potential indemnity claims.

The following summarizes the components of the pase price (in thousands):

Value of ZAGG shares issued:

ZAGG shares issued wit-month restrictior $ 23,80(
ZAGG shares issued with 12-month restriction 22,40(
46,20(

Cash consideration 50,00(
Total $ 96,20(

The total purchase price of $96,200 has been @#idda tangible and intangible assets acquirediahifities assumed based on their respective fair
values. The excess of the purchase price ovdaihealue of tangible and intangible assets a@gland liabilities assumed was recorded as
goodwill. Fair values assigned are based on reddemethods applicable to the nature of the assesired and liabilities assumed. The following
table summarizes the allocation of the purchassideration:

Cash and cash equivale $ 2,46¢
Trade receivables ($5,880 contractual gross rebkbs} 5,83z
Inventories 14,96:
Prepaid expense¢ 57¢
Property and equipme 2,07¢
Deposits 13¢
Definite-lived identifiable intangible asse 49,90(
Indefinite-lived identifiable intangible asse 25,10(
Goodwill 6,92¢
Current liabilities g11,78£)
Total $ 96,20(

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynpmorded a $220 increase to goodwill as a re§ydtirchase accounting primarily related to
adjustments recorded to various iFrogz balancet stoeeeunt balances as of the acquisition date.

As part of the acquisition of iFrogz, the Compamguirred legal, accounting, and other due diligdres that were expensed when incurred. Total fees
incurred related to the acquisition of iFrogz foe twelve months ended December 31, 2011, werd$1t0spectively, which is included as a
component of selling, general, and administratigeases in the consolidated statement of operations

Identifiable Intangible Asse

Classes of acquired intangible assets include mestoelationships, trademarks, non-compete agretsmemd other intangibles. The fair value of the
identifiable intangible assets was determined usargpus valuation methods, including the income ararket approaches. For assets valued und
income approach, the estimate of the present \adlagpected future cash flows for each identifisdset was based on discount rates which
incorporate a risk premium to take into accountrifles inherent in those expected cash flows. &tpected cash flows were estimated using available
historical data adjusted based on the Companyterigal experience and the expectations of marketigpants. The market approach was utilized to
determine appropriate royalty rates applied tovélaation of the trademarks and patents. The ams@assigned to each class of intangible asset and
the related weighted average amortization perioglaa follows:
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Weighted-
average
Intangible asset amortization
class period

Customer relationshig $ 41,50( 8.0 yeal
Trademarks (indefini-lived) 25,10( Indefinite
Trademarks (defini-lived) 3,50( 9.7 year
Non-compete agreemer 4,10( 4.8 year
Other 80C 3.8 year
Total $ 75,00(
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the iFrogz puelpice over the fair value of the assets acq@iretliabilities assumed.
The Company believes that the acquisition of iFraglzproduce the following significant benefits:
« Create Leading Mobile Device Accessories Compaififie combination of ZAGG and iFrogz has creatéshding mobile device accesso
company with diverse but complementary productsljrd a combined focus on creating both innovatia functional products in the ever-
evolving market of mobile device accessor

« Increased Market PresenceThe combination of ZAGG and iFrogz has created@odunity to capture additional market share ddivaky
and globally from both existing and new custom

The Company believes that these primary factorpatiphe amount of goodwill recognized as a resiuthe purchase price paid for iFrogz, in relation
to the other acquired tangible and intangible asset

The goodwill acquired in the acquisition is dedbletifor income tax purposes and will be amortizedra period of 15 years.
Results of Operatior

For the year ended December 31, 2011, iFrogz dorétd net sales of $36,046 and net loss of $1,46&toonsolidated statement of operations. In
addition, iFrogz leases office space from its farme&ners for monthly rent of $14.

Pro forma Results from Operatio

The following table contains unaudited pro-formsules of operations for the year ended Decembe2@11 and 2010. The unaudited pro-forma
results from operations give effect as if the asijioin had occurred on January 1, 2010, after gieffect to certain adjustments including the
amortization of intangible assets, interest expgtaseadjustments, specific transaction relatedeagps incurred prior to the execution date, and
assumes the purchase price was allocated to thesgegchased and liabilities assumed based onviddeies at the date of purchase.

December 31 December 31

2011 2010
Net sales $ 204,54( $ 117,07:
Net income $ 17,78: % 9,43¢
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For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 201@omna net income includes projected amortizatiopemse of $9,038 and $6,491,

respectively. The unaudited pro forma informai®presented for illustrative purposes only andasnecessarily indicative of the operating results
that would have occurred had the transaction beaswmmated for the dates indicated. Furthermard anaudited pro forma information is not
necessarily indicative of future operating resaftthe combined companies, due to changes in dpgrattivities following the purchase, and should
not be construed as representative of the operegsgts of the combined companies for any futateslor periods.

(3) INVENTORIES

Inventory consisted of the following components:

December 31

2011 2010
Finished good $ 19,87 % 7,92¢
Raw materials 9,751 10,02:
Total inventory $ 29,62: $ 17,947

(4) ASSET PURCHASE CREDITS

The Company entered into a nonmonetary exchangsacéion with Argent Trading Inc. (“Argent”) duririge second quarter of 2011 whereby the
Company transferred inventory with a carrying vatfi§986 to Argent in exchange for asset purchasgits with a face value of $1,350. The credits
can be used for the purchase of goods or servicesdertain vendors until March 1, 2016, when thesed asset purchase credits expire.

The Company accounted for this nonmonetary traimabased on the fair value of the inventory trensfd as the inventory’s fair value was more
clearly evident than fair value of the asset puseharedits. The Company determined that the invetitad a fair value of $785 at the date of the
transfer and thus recorded an impairment loss entrentory of $202, which is recorded as a compboécost of sales in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations. These aasetase credits of $785 will be utilized as theebpsirchase credits are applied in future peridts.
Company evaluates the recoverability of the creglite. quarterly basis and expects to utilize @&tlits recorded prior to their expiration in March
2016. As of December 31, 2011, $2 in asset purobr@stits had been utilized.

(5) INVESTMENT IN HzO AND NONCONTROLLING INTEREST
Noncontrolling interests are classified in the aditgted statements of operations as part of cadeted net income and the accumulated amou
noncontrolling interests is included in the cordaled balance sheets as part of equity and redéematicontrolling interest. If a change in ownepshi

of a consolidated subsidiary results in loss oftedrand deconsolidation, any retained ownershiprests are remeasured with the gain or loss reghort
in net earnings.
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At December 31, 2010, HzO was consolidated by thm@any as a variable interest entity (VIE). On Asigl2, 2011, HzO entered into a Series B
Stock Purchase Agreement with third party investdrereby HzO issued 9,869 shares of its newly des@yl Series B Preferred Stock to new third
party investors (collectively, the “HzO Investor$dy net cash of $2,335. ZAGG considered thiscamsideration event and concluded that HzO
remained a VIE and should continue to be consditlas ZAGG was the primary beneficiary of HzO.

On December 22, 2011, HzO, entered into an AmeRees B Stock Purchase Agreement with anothepgobthird party investors (collectively, t
“new HzO investors”) whereby HzO issued 10,768 sbarf Series B Preferred Stock for net cash of(8B,AAGG considered this a reconsideration
event and concluded that as of December 22, 204Q, $thould no longer be considered a VIE under ait#tive accounting literature, but is now
considered a voting interest entity. Managementlkeoied that as ZAGG owns 36.8% of HzO following Becember 22, 2011 transaction and cannot
control HzO through voting interests, seats onHk® Board of Directors, or through any other coctial agreement or method, HzO should be
deconsolidated as of December 22, 2011.

The noncontrolling interest included in the Compargpnsolidated financial statements is a resuttafcontrolling interest investments in HzO up to
the date of deconsolidation of December 22, 2011.

Management applied deconsolidation accounting guieawhich included analyzing ZAGG's investmenHirO at December 22, 2011 to determine
the fair value on the date of deconsolidation dredrélated gain or loss upon deconsolidation. Mameent determined that the fair value of ZAGG's
investment in HzO at December 22, 2011 was $4 8ppropriate valuation techniques were employeduitiog the use of the market approach that
considered the recent equity transactions betwexh the HzO investors, and the new HzO investerd,am option pricing model. Ultimately, the fair
value of ZAGG'’s investment in HzO of $4,879 wasareled as ZAGG'’s equity-method investment in HzOatember 22, 2011. In addition, upon
deconsolidation, ZAGG recorded a gain of $1,906G¢ctvis recorded as a component of other incomee(ese) in the consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Prospectively, management will account for its Btagent in HzO under the equity method accountingelopgnizing ZAGG's share of the earnings or
losses of HzO in the periods in which they are riggbby HzO in its separate financial statements.

(6) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31

2011 2010
Useful Lives

Computer equipment and softwe 3 to 5 year: $ 1,180 $ 587
Equipment 31010 year: 1,73 937
Molds 7 years 77C —
Furniture and fixture 7 years 381 98
Automobiles 5 years 333 177
Leasehold improvements 1to 4.75 years 1,622 55C
6,01¢ 2,34¢

Less accumulated depreciati (1,857) (852)
Net property and equipment $ 4,16 $ 1,497

(7) INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Definite-lived Intangibles
Definite-lived intangibles as of December 31, 20d4rid December 31, 2010, were as follows:

As of December 31, 201

Weighted
Average
Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Amortization
Amount Amortization Amount Period

Customer relationshif $ 41500 $ 257t % 38,92¢ 8.0 year
Non-compete agreemer 4,10(C 47¢ 3,621 4.8 year
Trademarks 3,50( 40C 3,10( 9.7 year
Other 80C 29¢ 507 3.9 year
Acquired technolog 564 14 55C 7.0 year
Internet addres 124 4C 84 10.0 year

Patents 1,992 18¢ 1,80« 14.0 yeat




Total amortizable assets $ 52,58( $ 3,98¢ $ 48,59: 8.0 year
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As of December 31, 201

Weighted
Average
Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Amortization
Amount Amortization Amount Period
Internet addres $ 124 % 28 % 96 10.0 year
Patents 1,882 — 1,882 14.0 yeat
Total amortizable assets $ 2,006 $ 28 $ 1,97¢ 13.8 year

Customer relationships, trademarks, and other gilides are amortized on an accelerated basis t¢ensisith their expected future cash flows over
their estimated useful life, which results in aecated amortization. The remaining definite-livetdingible assets are amortized using the stréiight
method over their estimated useful life. For tearg ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 aatanti expense was $4,921, $12, and $7
respectively. Amortization expense was primarilgorgled as a component of selling, general, andrasdirdtive expense, however, amortization
expense related to the acquired technology, whicluded the HzO technology intangible until decdidsdion on December 22, 2011, totaled $972

and was recorded as a component of cost of sales.
Estimated future amortization expense is as follows
2012
2013
2014

2015
Thereafter

Total

Indefinite-lived Intangibles

The gross carrying amount of indefinite-lived irdéles as of December 31, 2011 and December 3D, @@te as follows:

December 31

$ 9,772
9,077
7,98¢
6,86¢

14,88

$ 48,591

December 31

2011 2010
Trademarks $ 25,10C $ —
HzO Technology — 7,18¢
Total non-amortizable assets $ 25,10 $ 7,18¢

The HzO technology intangible asset was not beingrized as of December 31, 2010 as the technal@gynot yet placed into service. During 2C
HzO began selling products that utilize the techggland began amortizing the intangible asset.disdhin note 5, HzO was deconsolidated at
December 22, 2011, thus the HzO technology asset isicluded in the consolidated balance she#di@fCompany at December 31, 2011.
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(8) INCOME TAXES

The components of income tax (provision) benefittfee years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and&@09

2011 2010 2009

Current (provision)

Federa $ (11,487 $ (7,05¢) $ (2,080
State (1,767%) (1,079 (155)
Foreign (72) — —
Total current (13,326 (8,137) (1,235)
Deferred (provision) benefi

Federa 3,40z 1,28: (777)
State 50€ 19¢ (120
Total deferred 3,90¢ 1,48 (897)
Total (provision) benefit $ (9,419 $ (6,650 $ (2,139

The following is a reconciliation of the income éaxcomputed using the federal statutory rate t@tbeision for income taxes for the years ended

December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

2011 2010 2009

Tax at statutory rate (359 $ (9,45)) $ (5,636 $ (1,839
State tax, net of federal tax bent (88¢) (55€) (179)
Gain on deconsolidation of Hz 31€ — —
Non-deductible expense and ott (130) (199) (115
Domestic production activities deducti 771 587 —
Return to provision adjustme (36) (437) —
Interest and penaltie — (202) —
Federal 38% rate bracket surcharge — (209) —

$ (9,419 $ (6,650 $ (2,139

The tax effects of temporary differences that géseto significant portions of deferred tax assetd liabilities at December 31, 2011 and 2010aare

follows:

Deferred tax asset
Allowance for doubtful accoun
Deferred revenu
Net operating loss carryforwa
Inventories
Stocl-based compensatic
Sales returns accru
Acquisition costs, net of amortizati
Intangible assel
Reserve on note receival
Other liabilities

Total deferred tax asse
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2011 2010
$ 791 $ 337
12 48

— 47

1,63€ 1,04¢

597 234

2,061 76€

292 =

307 —

56¢ —

35 —

6,30( 2,477




ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
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(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

Deferred tax liabilities

Property and equipme 633 314
Investment in Hz( 384 —
Goodwill 69 —
Intangible assets — 1,52¢
Total gross deferred tax liabilities 1,08¢ 1,847
Net deferred tax asse $ 521¢ $ 63E
Deferred tax assets, r- current $ 513z $ 2,19¢
Deferred tax assets, r— noncurren 82 (1,567
Net deferred tax asse $ 521¢ $ 63E

The Company has recorded a full valuation allowaideecember 31, 2011 on a deferred tax assetaeddsy operating losses in France and the UK
from operations of iFrogz Europe SAS (gross cunivdadperating loss of $651) and ZAGG Europe (gmsaulative operating loss of $153).
Operations for iFrogz Europe and ZAGG Europe haenliransitioned to Ireland and therefore, we deerpect future taxable income within France
and the UK to offset current net operating losEes.all tax jurisdictions other than France, thees no valuation allowance at December 31, 2011
2010, as management believes it is more likely tiwtrthat the results of future operations will gexte sufficient taxable income to realize its def
tax assets.

The Company has not recognized a deferred taXitiafor the undistributed earnings of its foreigperations that arose in 2011 and prior yearses th
Company considers these earnings to be indefinigghwested. Cash held by foreign entities thabissidered permanently re-invested totaled $2,396
as of December 31, 2011. If this cash were repattito the United States, the Company would need¢oue and pay the related tax, however, the
Company considers these funds permanently re-iedestd has no plans to repatriate these funds.

The Company recognizes the impact of a tax positidhe financial statements if that position isrenbkely than not of being sustained on audit€o
on the technical merits of the position. As of Beber 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company recorded adatingency of $61 and $0, respectiv
related to foreign taxes at the iFrogz segment. tke years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and, 2009Company recorded $0, $201, anc
respectively in interest and penalties, which aotuded as a component of income tax provision.

The Company is currently not under examination by federal or state tax authority, but remains scibjo income tax examinations for each c
open tax years, which extend back to 2008 for f@dacome tax purposes and 2007 for state incompugposes.

(9) STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

In 2007, the Company’s board of directors adoptetlia 2008 the Company’s shareholders approved G Incorporated 2007 Stock Incentive
Plan which provides for the issuance of up to 2 §iires of common stock to the company’s directargloyees, consultants and advisors (the “2007
Incentive Plan”). On July 16, 2009, the Compargjiareholders approved an amendment to the 200itimedlan to increase the number of shares
issuable under the 2007 Incentive Plan to 5,000 .J@e 23, 2011, The Company’s shareholders appav@amendment to the 2007 Incentive Plan to
increase the number of shares issuable under Bi&I20entive Plant to 10,000. As of December 31,120here were 5,215 shares available for grant
under the 2007 Incentive Plan.

The 2007 Incentive Plan provides for awards infthen of options to acquire shares of common stouk r@stricted stock grants. The 2007 Incentive
Plan is administered by the Compensation Commdtelee Company’s Board of Directors.

Common Stock Options

Option awards are granted with an exercise pricelep the market price of the Company’s stockhatdate of grant; those option awards generally
vest based on three years of continuous servichawvel five-year contractual terms.
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The fair value of stock options has been estimasedf the grant date using the Black-Scholes ogiaing model. For the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009 the following assumptions wsegl in determining the fair value of option grants

2011 2010 2009
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rat 1.21% 1.2(% 1.31%
Expected term (year: 3.5 year 3.5 year 3.5 year
Expected volatility 90.5%% 95.81% 90.52%

The Company determines the expected term of itksiption awards by using the simplified methodjcklassumes each vesting tranche of the a
has a term equal to the midpoint between whenwadvests and when the award expires. Expectediltyl is calculated by weighting the
Company’s historical stock price to calculate expdwolatility over the expected term of each grérthe Company’s historical stock price history
does not cover the entire expected term, expedlkdility is also weighted based on the averaglital volatility of similar entities with publigl
traded shares over the expected term of each graatrisk-free interest rate for the expected tefr@ach option granted is based on the U.S. Trgasur
yield curve in effect at the time of grant with erjpd that approximates the expected term of thieop

The following table summarizes the stock optionvitgtfor the Company’s stock incentive plan foetiiear ended December 31, 2011:

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Options Exercise Price Term Value
(In (In
thousands) (Per share) (In years) thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 235 % 1.94 3.3
Grantec 93 8.14
Exercisec (951) 1.6
Forfeited/expired (199 1.1z
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,29¢ $ 2.7¢ 27 $ 5,71¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 407 $ 1.8¢ 22 3% 27C

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of otigranted during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 was $4.98, $1.82, and $1.29,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of optiaeercised during the years ended December 31, 2010, and 2009, was $8,170, $2,016, and $2,356,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2011, there was $1,133 of tatebcognized compensation cost related to nonveste#t options granted under the stock
incentive plan. That cost is expected to be reamghover a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.tdtal fair value of shares vested during theyear
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, was $25638, and $230, respectively.

The Company recorded shadvased compensation expense only for those optiaste expected to vest. The estimated fair vafitiee stock optior

is recognized on a straight-line basis over theiggig service period of the award, which is geliethe vesting term of the award. During the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Compaasded equity-based compensation expense od$2$952 and $665, respectively, which is
included as a component of selling, general andrmidtrative expense. The net tax benefit recoghize equity-based compensation expense for the
year ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 wa$3$88and $(6), respectively. The tax benefilized from stock options exercised for the year
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $1%888, and $1,238, respectively.

During the second quarter of 2011, the Companyriedua charge of $1,560 related to the modificatiba previously granted stock option, which is

included as a component of selling, general andmidtrative expenses and additional paid in cajitéhe accompanying condensed consolidated
financial statements (see Note 11, Notes Receiyable
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Warrants- During the year ended December 31, 2011, 2012809, the Company issued warrants to purchasenoonshares for investor relations
consulting services of 50, 100, and 0, respectivEtfiye 2011 and 2010 warrants are exercisable @6%thd $2.58, respectively. The warrants expire
five years from the grant date. The 2011 granteidty vested on the date of grant. The 2010 gvasted equally over the twelve month period from
the grant date. The 2011 grant and each vestnghie of the 2010 grant was independently valuadyube Black-Scholes option pricing model with
separate assumptions for each tranche based dairtalue of the Company’s common stock on eading date, expected term equal to the
remaining contractual term on each vesting dateeeted volatility weighted between the Company&drical volatility and the average historical
volatility of similar entities with publicly tradeshares over the expected term for each vestirgg datl riskiree rate for the expected term based ol
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect with a peribdttapproximates the remaining contractual ternreémh vesting date. For the year ended December
31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, the Company recordecherpef $377, $292, and $0, respectively, for themeants. During 2010, the Company also
issued warrants for 250 common shares exercisaBig.B3 per share expiring in 5 years and vestimgediately to Andrew Mason as part of the asset
purchase agreement (see Note 13).

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyniganed warrants for consulting services for 2@emn shares exercisable at $2.05 per share
expiring in 1 year and vesting immediately, warsdior sales commissions to an independent thiry far 175 common shares exercisable at $6.40
per share expiring in 1 year and vesting immedjaseid additional warrants for sales commissioratindependent third party for 175 common
shares exercisable at $4.00 per share expiringbigears and vesting immediately. Each warranttgras independently valued using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. For the years eridlecember 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, the Companyded@&xpense of $0, $222, and $0,
respectively. The warrants are accounted for agyemstruments.

The fair value of warrants have been estimated #weovesting date using the Black-Scholes optigcing model. For the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010, and 2009 the following assumptions weesl in determining the fair value:

2011 2010 2009
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rat 2.02% 1.91% 0.17%
Expected term (year: 4.86 year 4.46 year 0.2 year
Expected volatility 90.71% 88.8&% 66.65%
The following table summarizes the warrant actitityythe year ended December 31, 2011:
Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Warrants Exercise Price Term Value
(In (In
thousands) (Per share) (In years) thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,311  $ 3.14 25 % 5,87¢
Grantec 49 9.0t
Exercisec (361) 2.6¢
Forfeited/expirec - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 99¢ $ 3.6C 20 $ 3,93¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 99¢ $ 3.6C 2C 8 3,93¢

The weighted-average and grant-date or vest-datedte of warrants granted during the years eridecember 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, was $6.46,
$3.47, and $0.62, respectively. The total intringitue of warrants exercised during the years eiEember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, was $3,302,
$5,080, and $6,159, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2011, there was $0 of total eogrized estimated compensation cost related teasded warrants granted. The total fair value of
warrants vested during the years ended Decemb&031, 2010, and 2009 was $377, $1,390, and $22pectively.

For warrants that are compensatory, the Compamydsshare-based compensation expense relatedr@nigaonly for warrants that have

vested. The amount of the expense recognizedsedban the estimated fair value of the warrant$ervesting date. During the years ended Dece
31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company recordedyehaged compensation expense related to warran®/@f $293, and $199, respectively, whic
included as a component of selling, general andmidirative expense. The net tax benefit recoghize equity-based compensation expense related
to warrants for the year ended December 31, 20010 2nd 2009 was $144, $67, and $75, respectitytax benefits were realized from warrants
exercised for the year ended December 31, 2011 a0d 2009, respectively.

Restricted Stocl

Restricted stock awards are granted with a famevalqual to the ending stock price on the dateatgPrior to 2011, the Company had not granted
any restricted stock.

A summary of the status of the Compayestricted stock as of December 31, 2011 and,28idchanges during the years ended Decembef31
and 2010, is presented below:

Weighted-
Average
Restricted Grant Date
Stock Fair Value
(In

thousands) (Per share)
Balance at December 31, 20 - % -
Grantec 432 8.52
Vested - -
Forfeited (8) 7.07
Balance at December 31, 2011 424 3 8.5E

As of December 31, 2011, there was $2,861 of toiedcognized compensation cost related to nonvesstdcted stock awards granted under the
stock incentive plan. That cost is expected todwegnized over a weighted-average period of 2.syéd December 31, 2011 no shares were vested.

The Company recorded share-based compensationsxpaly for restricted stock that is expected t&t.vd he estimated fair value of the restricted
stock awards is recognized on a straight-line bagés the requisite service period of the awardgctvis generally the vesting term of the award.
During the year ended December 31, 2011 the Compmaoyded equity-based compensation expense of, $62dh is included as a component of
selling, general and administrative expense. H®idax benefit recognized on equity-based compmmsakpense for the year ended December 31,
2011 was $236. The tax benefit realized from styutions exercised for the year ended Decembe2(@®ll1 was $0.

Included in the 2011 grants of restricted stockent24 shares issued to an employee by the Compéigcsto the employeg’continued employmet
These shares vest quarterly over a two year vetging and will be expensed on a straight-line bagés the two-year vesting term. In connection with
the issuance of 124 shares of restricted stockCtmpany issued the employee an additional 90 steireommon stock with a fair value of $899 as
consideration in full satisfaction of current amdufre royalties under a prior intellectual propextyyeement primarily related to the ZAGGmate. The
portion of the consideration related to currentaltigs was $336 and is included as a componentsifaf sales in the condensed consolidated stat

of operations. The remaining $563 portion of thesideration was capitalized as it represents gpyeaent of future royalties and will be amortized
on an accelerated basis, consistent with the eeggestderlying cash flows of the intellectual prapeover a seven year life. This capitalized amasint
included as a component of intangible assets icdinelensed consolidated balance sheet.
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(10) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair Value of Financial Instrumen

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company’s @iimstruments included cash and cash equivalentounts receivable, accounts payable, note
receivable, a line of credit with US Bank (as ofcBeber 31, 2010 only), a Revolving Credit Faci{ig of December 31, 2011 only), and a Term L
(as of December 31, 2011 only). The carrying am®ohtash and cash equivalents, accounts receigablaccounts payable approximate fair value
due to the short-term maturities of these financisiruments. The carrying value of the debt begarapproximate fair value because the variable
interest rates approximate current market rates.

In addition, as discussed in Note 11, managementds the note receivable at the fair value ofuthéerlying collateral. Management determined the
fair value of assets that collateralize the noteirable. The collateral includes private compawglsand warrants, real property, interests intiexsti
that own real property, and 80 shares of the Coipatock that carry a restrictive legend until tmonths after the note receivable is paid in full.

Fair Value Measuremen
The Company measures at fair value certain findacid non-financial assets by using a fair valedrichy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Fair valtiee price that would be received to sell an amspaid to transfer a liability in an orderly teaction

between market participants at the measurementeksgentially an exit price, based on the highedteest use of the asset or liability. The levéls o
the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 —Significant other observable inputs (e.g., quotedeg for similar items in active markets, quoteites for identical or similar items
markets that are not active, inputs other than efugrices that are observable such as interestarateyield curves, and markedsroborate
inputs); and

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which there igdibr no market data, which require the reporting to develop its own assumptions.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the following asaetsliabilities were measured at fair value oe@urring basis using the level of inputs shown (in
thousands):

Fair Value Measurements Using.

December 31
2011 Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs

Cash equivalent $ 1452 $ 1,452 — —

Fair Value Measurements Using:

December 31
2010 Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs

Cash equivalent $ 41€ $ 41€ — —

Nor-Recurring Fair Value Measurements
The Company also measures the fair value of ceasgrts on a non-recurring basis, generally qiaremually or when events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amouthefassets may not be recoverable. These asskiddnotangible assets, goodwill, property and
equipment, asset purchase credits, and collatecaling the note receivable.
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The following table presents assets held as of Dbee 31, 2011, measured at fair value on a norrAiaegubasis using the level of inputs shown at the
time of impairment (in thousands).

Fair Value Measurements Using:
December 31
2011 Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs
Note receivabl $ 191t $ 56€ $ 1,08¢ $ 26C

There were no assets held at December 31, 201Gunmeebat fair value on a non-recurring basis.

The note receivable is recorded at the fair vafub@underlying collateral. Management considehed80 shares of ZAGG common stock to be a
Level 1 asset as quoted market prices exist. Téleestate holdings were considered Level 2 assedgaificant observable inputs exist for similar
items in active markets. The investments in redtescompanies, and private company preferred stodkwarrants were considered Level 3 assets as
the value was determined based on unobservablésinpu

The Company recorded impairment charges of $1,48@glthe year ended December 31, 2011 relateuetadte receivable and the underlying
collateral assets held as of December 31, 2011sumed at fair value on a non-recurring basis. L8vatsets comprise $125 of the impairment charge.
These impairment charges were recorded as a compohselling, general and administrative experisese consolidated statement of operations.
There were no impairment charges during the yede@December 31, 2010 related to assets heldBsagimber 31, 2010, measured at fair value
non-recurring basis.

(11) NOTES RECEIVABLE
Lorence Harmer Note Receival

In June 2008, Lorence Harmer became a member dfoidvel of directors and in December 2009 the chaairof the Audit Committee. Mr. Harmer
introduced the Company to a consumer electroniodymt, which became known as the ZAGGbox. The ZA®Gwas intended to aggregate digital
content such as music, pictures, videos and mavies single location so that users could shagectimtent with most other networked media players,
including mobile devices. After investigating tmarket opportunity for the ZAGGbox, the Companyedetined in June 2009 that it wished to obtain
certain rights for the development and sale ofAA€&Gbox in North America. The Company entered imgotiations with Teleportall, LLC
(“Teleportall”), the owner of the technology usedhe ZAGGbox, regarding production and distribatad the ZAGGbox. On June 17, 2009, the
Company issued its initial purchase order for ZAG®&hnits in the amount of $3,500 and advanced tepbetall a total of $1,153 representing a $200
non-recurring engineering (NRE) fee and $953 imparyt of 30% of the total purchase price for theésuoidered by the Company. Mr. Harmer
participated in the negotiations between the Comyena Teleportall, and continued to represent tbe@any throughout 2009 and 2010 concerning
the ZAGGbox. In May 2010, the Company entered &nfdistribution and License Agreement with Teleplbrtvhich memorialized Teleportall’s
agreement to manufacture and deliver ZAGGboxelBddompany and appointed the Company as the exeldistributor for the ZAGGbox in North
American. Additionally, in May 2010 the Companytened into an agreement with Harmer Holdings, Lag affiliate of Mr. Harmer, under which
Harmer Holdings, LLC agreed to repurchase unsol@&&hoxes under certain circumstances.

Teleportall proceeded to develop the ZAGGbox amdiged periodic progress reports to the CompangweéVer, Teleportall did not deliver the
product in time for the 2009 Christmas selling s@asSubsequently, during the December 1, 2009inteef the Board of Directors of the Company,
Mr. Harmer disclosed to the other members of tharBdhat he owned an interest in Teleportall. A&eliscussion about his financial interest in
Teleportall during that meeting, Mr. Harmer stabedwas willing to divest himself of any ownershipTieleportall and the Board of Directors voted
unanimously to accept Mr. Harmer’s proposal thaivbeld do so, and assumed thereafter that Mr. Halraé completed his divestiture.
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The development of the product continued in 201t Wie expectation that the product would be dedigien time for the 2010 Christmas selling
season. The Company made additional paymentstigrlead-time parts to Teleportall in the aggregateunt of $2,747. When it became obvious to
the Company that the product would not be readyddket and sell during the 2010 Christmas seabenCompany commenced discussions to
restructure the Distribution and License Agreemveitit Teleportall. During the course of those dissions, the Company learned in January 2011 that
Mr. Harmer did not divest himself of any interasfTieleportall following the December 2009 meetifighe Board of Directors of the Company where
he agreed to do so, but retained an indirect ovipeisterest of 25% in Teleportall as well as otbetities potentially affiliated with the

ZAGGbox. As a result of the foregoing, the Compantered into an agreement with Teleportall, Mreriker and several entities owned or controlled
by Mr. Harmer (the “Harmer Agreement”), dated Ma&3) 2011, but subject to further negotiations eatification through April 5, 2011. Pursuant to
the Harmer Agreement, the parties agreed to tetmih& Distribution and License Agreement on tHiefdng terms:

« Mr. Harmer, Teleportall, and certain of their affies delivered a promissory note (* Note”) dated March 23, 2011 to the Company ir
original principal amount of $4,126 which accrueterest at the rate of LIBOR plus 4% per annumugtdd quarterly) payable as follows
interest only payments (a) on September 23, 20dd,(b) thereafter on or before the last day of ezalendar quarter, (ii) 50% of the
profits of each ZAGGbox sale by Teleportall andaifiliates to be applied, first, to accrued insrand, second, to the principal balance ¢
Note, and (iii) the unpaid balance of principal antérest due in full on March 23, 2013. The pnratiamount of the Note is the aggre:
amount of the payments made by the Company to ®ekdpplus the internal cost of the ZAGGbox prajawurred by the Company. T
Note is secured by certain real property, interigsestities that own real property and restricied frew-trading securities

« Teleportall and the Company entered into a Licékxgg@ement on March 23, 2011 under which the Compiaepsed to Teleportall the use
certain ZAGG names and trademarks to sell andillige the ZAGGbox product. Teleportall will pay &% a 10% royalty on net sales
ZAGGboxes per calendar quarter as a license

« Teleportall and ZAGG entered into a -exclusive, two year Commission Agreement on Margh2®11, under which Teleportall could m
introductions of many ZAGG products in all coungri@here ZAGG does not currently have exclusiveidgagreements in respect of
marketing, distribution or sale of its productsheTCommission Agreement provided that (a) it waudtbmatically terminate concurrent w
any uncured default under the Note, and (b) then teould be extended for an additional time periodreasonable terms if Teleportall’
introductions during the initial two year term rktsn the purchase of no less than $25,000 of ZAg&lucts during the initial term. Paym
terms of the Commission Agreement are as follc

« 10.0% commission payments on orders received byCtmapany from retailers and distributors first @duced to the Company
Teleportall during the first 60 days after the aatnction is made (the “ Loaid Period”) to be split 50/50 between cash to Telepc
and principal payments on the Note. However, athgission payments will be paid to ZAGG if Telepdrisin breach of the tern
of the Note or any other agreements between theep;

« 3.0% commission on all orders within the first 2dnths after the Loe«in Period, and 2.0% thereafter, from retailers distributor:
first introduced to the Company as described utiteterms set forth in the preceding bullet poifihe 3.0% and 2.0% commissit
will be split 50/50 between cash to Teleportall gnidcipal payments on the Note; 8

« 3.0% commission on all orders generated in cowtnibere Teleportall is paid commission under thengeof the preceding tv
bullet points (excluding the United States), retgssl of Teleportall’s involvement in ZAG&Teceipt of the order until the first
occur of (i) payment in full of the Note, (ii) temation of the Commission Agreement or (iii) 24 rtftunafter the applicable Load-
Period.

No revenue was recognized from Teleportall durmgytear ended December 31, 2C
As part of the Harmer Agreement, the Company medié previously granted stock option award to Matriker, which resulted in a charge of $1,560

that was recorded in the second quarter of 201 charge was recorded in the second quarter df @04 to further negotiations and ratification on
April 5, 2011. The further negotiations concertieg restricted legend placed on 80 shares of stoloject to repayment of the Note.
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The Note was originally accounted for under thet cesovery method and was originally included ia donsolidated balance sheet at $3,900 which
was the value of the ZAGGbox inventory advancelse driginal face value of the Note of $4,126 was&@mbursement of the inventory advances
other costs associated with the ZAGGbox and appratdd fair value at March 23, 2011 as the variaitérest rate on the Note approximated market
rates.

On September 20, 2011, and prior to the due dateedirst interest-only payment due on the Note, Marmer and two of his affiliates, Harmer
Holdings, LLC, (“Holdings”) and Teleportall, filed lawsuit in Utah state court against the CompRwoypert G. Pedersen, Il (ZAGG’s CEO), Brandon
T. O'Brien (ZAGG’s CFO) and KPMG LLP (ZAGG'’s indepéent registered public accounting firm). KPMG kabsequently been dismissed from
the lawsuit. In their lawsuit, the plaintiffs ajle that the defendants defamed Mr. Harmer, breattseHarmer Agreement and interfered with other
rights of the plaintiffs. The Company has responidetthe plaintiffs’ claims, denying all of the metd allegations made by the plaintiffs. The
Company believes the plaintiff's claims to be withanerit and intends to vigorously defend againsit.

Subsequently, Mr. Harmer failed to make the reglingerest-only payment to the Company due on Sapte 23, 2011, and had until October 23,
2011 to cure the default. Mr. Harmer failed to cilme default by October 23, 2011, and on that datsmagement directed ZAGG legal counsel to
commence foreclosure on the collateral securinddiue, which consists of real property, interestsntities that own real property and restricted an
free-trading securities, which included 45 shafedAGG common stock. In addition to the collatefdl, Harmer had also agreed that he would not
sell 80 shares of ZAGG common stock until two merdfier the Note was paid in full. Given the Nistéull recourse, and the shares have a restri
legend associated with repayment of the Note, trafiany believes they can recover the 80 shares.

Given Mr. Harmer’s default on the loan on Septen8r2011 and failure to cure the default on Oat@® 2011, management determined that it was
probable that the Company would be unable to colif@mounts due from Mr. Harmer according totérens of the Note. As the Note became
collateral-dependent upon Mr. Harmer’s default, agggment engaged various thpdrty certified appraisers valuation specialistagsist manageme

in its determination of the fair value of the ctdial and whether it is sufficient to recover thet&lbalance.

The collateral was originally valued as of Septen8fe 2011 by management with the assistance tfiedrappraisers and valuation specialists and
was determined to be between $2,829 and $3,272rafye of collateral values is the result of a nement in the Harmer Agreement for Mr. Harmer
to provide evidence after March 23, 2011 of 100%ership in Holdings. Holdings is the entity throughich Mr. Harmer held investments in the real
property and related investments. At the time eftfarmer Agreement, Mr. Harmer demonstrated owierdi50% of Holdings and his intent and
ability to acquire the remaining 50% ownership iiegt in Holdings shortly after execution of the idar Agreement. Following the execution of the
Harmer Agreement, Mr. Harmer failed to provide evide that he had acquired the remaining 50% ofiRlgéd Thus, the low end of the range is based
on the assumption that Mr. Harmer owns 50% of Hadj while the high end of the range is based eragisumption that Mr. Harmer’s ownership is
100%.

As management cannot ascertain Mr. Harmer’s owigistHoldings, we determined to reserve $1,07thefSeptember 30, 2011 Note balance as the
remaining balance was management’s best estimalte afish recovery on the collateral securing thte fair value, less cost to sell), assuming a
50% ownership in Holdings by Mr. Harmer. Thus, @@mpany recorded a reduction in the note receivafid, 071, which was recorded as a
component of selling, general and administrativeesse.

During the fourth quarter of 2011, management conued the foreclosure process on all collateralrseguhe Note. In December, management
foreclosed and sold 45 shares of ZAGG common dtmck496. This cash recovery was recorded as actiediuto the note receivable. Subsequent to
December 31, 2011 year-end, management foreclosesbbproperty valued at $238.

As the note remains collateral dependent, managesssassed the fair value of the collateral aseafenber 31, 2011. As a result of our analysis, we
noted that the estimated fair value of the undegydollateral was between $1,915 and $2,176. Theedse in value is attributable to (1) the 80 share
of ZAGG Inc common stock as the ZAGG Inc stock eriecreased from $9.92 at September 30, 201103 $7 December 31, 2011 and (2) the
reduction in the fair value of securities in a pi& entity. As management has not been able totascerhether Mr. Harmer owns 50% or 100% of
Holdings, management used the low end of the abtavge ($1,915) and compared it to the carrying arhofithe note of $2,333. As a result,
management recorded an additional reserve at Desre®ibh 2011 of $418, which was recorded as a cosmasf selling, general and administrative
expense. The remaining note balance of $1,91®septs management'’s best estimate of the cashergoaw the collateral securing the Note (fair
value, less cost to sell). Additionally, the Comphaas reclassified $566 of the Note as an offsegdty, representing the fair value of the colate
attributable to shares of ZAGG common stock at bwer 31, 2011, which management intends to redovespay the Note.
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At December 31, 2011, the reserve recorded agdiastiote receivable totaled $1,489 and the net bahle was $1,915.At December 31, 2011, the
total unpaid principle balance, including accruetiest, late fees and costs incurred on collectaialed $3,910.

Brighton Partners, LLC Note Receival

On March 11, 2008, the Company entered into aneageat to fund a bridge loan (the “Bridge Loan”upfto $500 to Brighton Partners, LLC. The
purpose of the secured loan is to fund the devedmprof a superhero series created by Stan Lee @Wd! Entertainment, Inc., in partnership with
Brighton Partners, LLC, with the hope that ZAGG bhenefit from the marketing exposure and anylliedéual property created using ZAGG's
trademarks.

In consideration of the bridge loan, Brighton Parsy LLC executed a secured promissory note wa¥oarigination fee and bearing 10% interest for
the 90 day term of the note. As of December 3192@% Company determined that the note had bedomyeired and reserved against the full bale
of the note and accrued interest. The Companydedaca charge of $438 for the note receivable &7d $or the related accrued interest in the
accompanying consolidated financial statemente Gbmpany will continue to assert its legal righitth relation to the note receivable.

(12) DEBT AND LETTERS OF CREDIT
Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

On June 21, 2011, and in conjunction with the aitjon of iFrogz, the Company entered into a finagagreement (the “Financing Agreement”) led
by Cerberus Business Finance, LLC (“Cerberus”)BN& Bank National Association (“PNC”), which is iact as the administrative bank. The
Financing Agreement consists of a $45,000 term (6&&rm Loan”), a $45,000 revolving credit facili{yRevolving Credit Facility”), and a $5,000
letters of credit facility, which is a subset o€t$45,000 Revolving Credit Facility. The Companyfsdigations under the Financing Agreement were
secured by all or substantially all of the Compargssets. The Term Loan matures on June 20, a0d6he Revolving Credit Facility and letters of
credit mature on June 20, 2014.

As of December 31, 2011, the entire Term Loan wastanding, $23,332 of the Revolving Credit Fagiitas outstanding, and no letters of credit v
outstanding.

At the election of the Company, borrowings under Bnancing Agreement bear interest at either #fef@nce Rate plus an applicable margin or the
Eurodollar Rate plus an applicable margin, botlefshed in the Financing Agreement. All currentriowvings were made under the Reference Rate,
which is calculated as the greater of (1) 2.75%tH& Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 0.50%tH8)Eurodollar Rate plus 1.00%, or (4) the rate of
interest publicly announced by PNC Financial Serycoup, Inc. as its reference rate, base rafgrime rate. The applicable margin for the Refee
Rate is 4.00%. At December 31, 2011, the weightestage interest rate on all outstanding borrowings 7.25%. At December 31, 2011, the
effective interest rate was 8.02%.
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There are no scheduled payments on either the Team or Revolving Credit Facility prior to maturitHowever, the Financing Agreement calls for
prepayment of the Term Loan if certain conditiorsmet. The prepayment requirement commencesthétfiscal year ended December 31, 2011,
and is calculated based on a percentage of “exes$sflow”as defined in the Financing Agreement. Paymergdaired to be made within ten day:
issuing the year-end consolidated financial statémeBased on current projections, the Comparignasts that a prepayment of $2,372 will be
required to be made during March 2012. This ambastbeen classified as current in the consolidsa¢ghce sheet, while the remaining Term Loan
balance and Revolving Credit Facility balance &ssified as noncurrent.

Starting July 1, 2011, the Company began payingnancitment fee of 0.375% on the unused portion efttbrrowing capacity under the Revolving
Credit Facility based on the average principal amoutstanding for the month compared to $45,000 tfe year ended December 31, 2011, the
Company incurred $46 in commitment fees, whicimeduided as a component of interest expense incghsotidated statement of operations.

The Company incurred and capitalized $2,538 ofctlicests related to the issuance of the Term LoanRevolving Credit Facility. Of the total
amount incurred, $1,699 was directly related toTtaem Loan and $839 was directly related to thedReéng Credit Facility. As neither debt
instrument has a mandatory payment schedule anehtire balance of each is due at maturity, the @amg amortizes these deferred loan costs on a
straight-line basis over the respective terms efitlan: the Term Loan is being amortized througiel20, 2016, and the Revolving Credit Facility
through June 20, 2014. For the year ended Dece®ih@011, the Company amortized $329 of these doats, which is included as a component of
interest expense in the consolidated statemenperfations. The carrying value of deferred loartscas December 31, 2011, was $2,209 and is
included as a component of noncurrent other ags#te consolidated balance sheet.

Attached to the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Fgcire a number of financial and non-financialenants. At December 31, 2011, the Company
was in compliance with covenants associated wighTdérm Loan and Revolving Credit Facility.

Mandatory payments under the Financing Agreemenpegsented in the following table:

Mandatory

Paxments
2012 $ 2,37
2013 -
2014 23,33:
2015 -
Thereafter 42,62¢
Total $ 68,33

US Bank Line of Credit

Effective May 13, 2010, the Company entered intman Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with U.S. Baational Association (“US Bank”). The
Loan Agreement provided for revolving loans andeotfmancial accommodations to or for the bendfihe Company of up to $5,000, to be used for
working capital and other corporate purposes. Tbmpany’s obligations under the Loan Agreementahilated agreements were secured by all or
substantially all of the Company'’s assets. Thégakibn of U.S. Bank to make advances under thenlAgreement was subject to the conditions set
forth in the Loan Agreement. The Loan Agreemert thre credit facility were to mature on May 13, 201

On March 8, 2011, the Company entered into an Areéraothd Restated Loan Agreement (the “Amended asthfee Loan Agreement”) with U.S.
Bank which provided for revolving loans and otheahcial accommodations to or for the benefit & @ompany of a principal amount not to exceed
$20,000. Advances under the Amended and Restatad Agreement bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.75%e Amended and Restated Loan
Agreement required the Company to maintain a fodearge coverage ratio of no less than 1.25 to th@8sured quarterly on a trailing twelve month
basis and a leverage ratio of no greater thano2150t measured quarterly on a trailing twelve mdrgtkis. The Amended and Restated Loan
Agreement and the credit facility were to matureMarch 15, 2012.
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On June 21, 2011 the Company paid off the entitstanding balance on the line of credit, and tharLAgreement with U.S. Bank was terminated.
(13) — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating leases

The Company leases office and warehouse spacee @ffjuipment, and mall cart locations under opggdtiases that expire through 2015. Future
minimum rental payments required under the opegdéases at December 31, 2011 are as follows:

2012 $ 824
2013 524
2014 431
2015 20¢
2016 —
Total $ 1,987

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 arfy] 28@ expense was $1,002, $911 and $534, regplycti Rent expense is recognized on a basis
which approximates straight line over the leasmter

Commercial Litigation

Wrapsol, LLC, v. ZAGG Inc, U.S. District Court, Dist of Massachusetts, 1:11-cv-11006-RG$he Company was engaged as the defendant in civil
litigation in Massachusetts in which Wrapsol, LL@Vapsol”) has alleged unfair competition and tortious intenfiee with business relations claim
that the Company’s sales representatives attenptiearm Wrapsol by making false allegations. Thenfany denied these allegations. The parties
conducted extensive written discovery, and engagsdttlement negotiations. On March 2, 2012 cthee was dismissed with prejudice without
payment of any consideration by the Company to \&hp

Lorence A. Harmer, et al v ZAGG Inc et al, Thirdlidial District Court, Salt Lake County, State afald, Civil No. 11091768. On September 20,
2011, Lorence A. Harmer, a former director of ZAG® and two of his affiliates, Harmer Holdings, LL&nd Teleportal, LLC, filed a lawsuit in Utah
state court against the Company, Robert G. Peddis@&iandon T. O’'Brien and KPMG LLP. KPMG has saljuently been dismissed from the
lawsuit. This case is discussed in greater detdlldte 11, Notes Receivable. Plaintiffs allege thatdefendants defamed Mr. Harmer, breached a
settlement agreement and other agreements betiegtaintiffs and ZAGG, and interfered with othigihts of the plaintiffs. ZAGG has responded to
the plaintiffs’ claims, denying all of the materallegations made by the plaintiffs, and has asdatfirmative defenses. Fact discovery has
commenced. The Company believes the Plaintifishes to be without merit and intends to vigorowddfend against them.

On September 27, 2011, the Company and Focus, &&ifed an arbitration claim brought by Focus thatCompany was obligated to pay Focus a
finder’s fee in the amount of $2.0 million relatisdthe Company's acquisition of iFrogz (see, Nota@yuisition of iFrogz). Focus subsequently
dismissed with prejudice all claim asserted agahesiCompany. The Company did not make any paytodrdcus in consideration of the dismissal
addition, upon execution of the settlement agreenierth Focus and the Company agreed to releasdiscithrge the other party of any and all cla

ZAGG v. Trekstor, Regional Court, Dusseldorf, Gamnda@he Company brought suit in Dusseldorf, Germanyreagd rekstor for infringement of

ZAGG design registrations for ZAGGmate and the tagji Keyboard Case by ZAGG. As of the date of Report, all briefing had been completed,
but a hearing had not yet been scheduled.
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Patent Litigation

ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Co. Inc. v. NIRdoducts, LLC, Wrapsol, LLC, U.S. District Courgral District of California, 2:10-cv-06511;
ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Co. Inc. v. Ghésmor, Griffin Technology, Russell B. Taylor, tdd SGP, XO Skins, U.S. District Court,
District of Utah, 2:1(-cv-01257.The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, ZAGG Intetieal Property Holding Company, Inc. (“ZAGG IP}, i
engaged as the plaintiff in patent infringemeigdition pending in California and in Utah that se&kenforce rights under United States Patent No.
7,784,610. The defendants in these cases have @a$enses and, in some cases, asserted counterelgainst ZAGG IP that seek declarations of
unenforceability or non-infringement of the patértiese counterclaims do not assert any claimsffiomative relief against ZAGG IP or the
Company, apart from a request for an award agai&G IP of costs and attorneyfees. Several of the defendants have settledA®®G IP and th
remaining parties are engaged in discovery. Onbeoflefendants filed a motion for summary judgniemespect of all of the claims of ZAGG IP, but
that motion was denied by the court. The partiehacently filed briefs relating to claims constian. In the opinion of management, the ultimate
disposition of these patent infringement claims|uding disposition of the counterclaims, will f@ve a material adverse effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial position, results of opemasi, or liquidity. Management believes the likebdoof an unfavorable outcome in this case is remote
and that any potential loss contingency is notresile at this time.

ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Co. Inc. v. NIRdoducts et al, U.S. District Court, District of &H, 2:11-cv-00517 ZAGG IP is also engaged as
the plaintiff in patent infringement litigation peing in Utah that seeks to enforce rights undetédhStates Patent No. 7,957,524 (one of the patents
acquired from Andrew Mason, see below). The defetwdia this case have raised defenses and, in sag®s, asserted counterclaims against ZAGG
IP, that seek declarations of unenforceability @am-mfringement of the patent. These counterclalmsot assert any claims for affirmative relief,
including claims for damages, against ZAGG IP @ @ompany, apart from a request for an award ds@usl attorney’s fees to the prevailing party.
Discovery has not yet commenced in this case, heweeveral of the defendants have settled with GAB. Also, Wrapsol, one of the defendants has
filed a petition to reexamine Patent No. 7,957, 8®dch is pending before the United States Patetiflandemark Office. There are no claims asserted
in these actions against the Company. In the opiofananagement, the ultimate disposition of thgggent infringement claims, including disposition
of the counterclaims, will not have a material adeesffect on the Company’s consolidated finanmislition, results of operations, or liquidity.

The Company is not a party to any other litigatimrother claims at this time. While the Companyrently believes that the amount of any ultimate
potential loss for known matters would not be mateo the Company’s financial condition, the outemof these actions is inherently difficult to
predict. In the event of an adverse outcome, ttimale potential loss could have a material adveffgzt on the Company’s financial condition or
results of operations in a particular period.

Patent Acquisitior

On August 31, 2010, Andrew Mason (“Mason”) filed@nplaint against the Company claiming infringemantnited States Patent No. 7,957,524 as
a result of the Company'’s invisibleSHIELD instailtet kits. On September 4, 2010, the Company filedunter complaint against Mason and his
company, eShields LLC (“eShields”). On Novembe?2®10, before either party had responded on thetsrterihe claims asserted, the Company,
Mason and eShields entered into an Asset Purchgieeent (“Purchase Agreement”) under which a whmlined subsidiary of the Company,
ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Company, IncZAGG IP"), acquired all of the rights of Mason tmet(i) patents (United States Patent No.
7,957,524) which is the subject of the litigati@ii), patent application filed on August 13, 2018gt'CIP Application”) and (iii) rights to sue for
infringement of the patents.

In consideration for the conveyance of Mason’s @ssescribed above, the Company agreed to paynweydo Mason the following:
(a) a first payment of $200 by November 11, 2010, asda@nd payment of $150 after December 31, 2
(b) issue to Mason five-year warrants (the “Watteto purchase 750 shares of the Company’s réstti€ommon Stock at an exercise price equal

to the closing bid price on November 9, 2010 ($8.p8Bovided that 500 of the 750 warrant sharesaezcisable only upon the issuance of a
patent from the CIP Application with at least otedra that satisfies the Claim Conditions (as defibelow);
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(c) issue to Mason 70 shares of the Com|'s restricted Common Stock; a
(d) grant eShields a fully pe-up, perpetual, nc-exclusive license, with limited rights to transéersublicense, for the patents and ¢
Applications.

The Company also agreed to dismiss the claimstasisagainst Mason and eShields, and to make additgayments to Mason if the US Patent and
Trademark Office (“USPTQ") issues a U.S. patentl@nCIP Application that includes at least onerol#iat broadly encompasses any protective kit
that includes a package, as well as a squeegegnaadhesive-coated protective film for a consuntetmnic device with a peel-away backing within
the package (collectively, the “Claim Conditiondfthe Claim Conditions are met, the Company will:

(a) pay Mason the sum of $500; a
(b) issue to Mason 430 shares of the Com/'s restricted Common Stoc

If the Claim Conditions are not met, the Company ha obligation to make the payment or issue tleeshdescribed in the preceding paragraph and
Mason will not be able to exercise 500 of the WiatisaThere can be no assurance that the USPTGssuk a patent on the CIP Application that meets
the requirements of the Claim Conditions. As of ®@aber 31, 2011, no applicable patent had beenddspthe USPTO.

We establish liabilities when a particular continggis probable and estimable. We have not acdiareghy loss at December 31, 2011 in our
consolidated financial statements in light of thelyability and ability to estimate any potentialility. It is reasonably possible that the potaintisse
may exceed our accrued liabilities for contingesici®wever, the amount cannot be currently estidnate

(14) CONCENTRATIONS
Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consistgipally of cash and accounts receivable. The
Company places its cash with high credit qualitaficial institutions. The Company maintains itshce bank deposit accounts, which, at times,
exceed federally insured limits. The Company haerperienced any losses in such accounts throeglember 31, 2011.

At December 31, 2011, approximately 55% of the tegeof accounts receivable was due from one custoAieDecember 31, 2010, approximately
64% and 17% of the balance of accounts receivabtedue from two customers. No other customer attdmlances were more that 10% of accounts
receivable. If one or more of the Compangignificant customers were to become insolventare otherwise unable to pay for the products ipiex\;

it would have a material adverse effect on the Camyfs financial condition and results of operations

Concentration of supplier

The Company purchases its raw materials relatéetinvisibleSHIELD product line primarily from ors®urce. Management is aware of similar raw
materials that would be available from other sosii€eequired and has current plans to immediatelyage such resources if necessary. A change in
supplier, however, could cause a delay in manufaxgand a possible loss of sales, which could esblg affect operating results.

In addition, iFrogz purchases all inventory througte third party sourcing company. Managemenwara of other manufacturing sources that it
could utilize if there was a disruption in the cg@ns of the third party sourcing Company. A amin the sourcing Company, however, could cause
a delay in manufacturing and a possible loss @fssalhich could adversely affect operating results.

Concentration of sales
For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, &08] Be customer accounted for 30%, 41%, and 3&8pgectively, of the Company’s sales. In
addition, during 2011, a second customer accouioretil% of sales. No other customer account balamere more that 10% of sales. If the

Company loses one or more of the Company’s sigmificustomers, it would have a material adverszeéin the Company’s financial condition and
results of operations.
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The percentage of sales by geographic region doyéars ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2008ppagximately:

2011 2010 2009
United State: 88% 83% 85%
Europe 6% 12% 8%
Other 6% 5% 7%

Net assets located overseas in Shannon Irelanddda90 at December 31, 20:
(15) SEGMENT REPORTING

The operating segments reported below are the Coyigpaegments for which separate financial infoiorats available and upon which operating
results are evaluated by the chief operating datisiaker on a timely basis to assess performartéoaalocate resources.

Prior to the Company’s acquisition of iFrogz, then@pany was a single reporting segment consistehttie nature of its operations. Due to the
acquisition, the Company has reassessed its reg@gigments and concluded that it will analyzevdgddwide operations based on the following three
reportable segments:

« ZAGG segment —This segment designs, manufactures and distrilpuit#ective coverings, audio accessories and poalatians fol
consumer electronic and hand-held devices undeordned names invisibleSHIELD&AGGskins™, ZAGGbuds™, ZAGGsparq
ZAGGfolio™, ZAGGmate™, and ZAGGkeys™

« iFrogz segment-Fhis segment designs, manufactures and distrilprteective coverings and digital audio accessdoesonsume
electronic and har-held devices under the brand names iFrogz™ andoliatipn ™.

« HzO segmer—This segment is engaged in the development of walterking coating technologies for consumer andugtda
applications. As discussed in note 5, HzO was dealatated as of December 22, 2011, however, managiewill continue to repa
HzC’'s operations within the segment reporting bel

The Company evaluates segment performance basth@ @egment’s income from operations. Other incmpense), which includes interest
expense, is not presented by segment since it imcladed in the measure of segment profitabilétlyiewed by the chief operating decision maker. All
inter-segment transactions have been eliminatefihrrhation concerning our operations by reportaeigment is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
Revenue 2011 2010 2009
ZAGG segmen $ 143,06¢ $ 76,138 $ 38,36:
iFrogz segmer 36,04¢ — —
HzO segment 11 — —
Total $ 179,12 $ 76,138 $ 38,36:
Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
Income from Operations 2011 2010 2009
ZAGG segmen $ 31,51¢ $ 16,93t $ 5,71(
iFrogz segmer (1,267 — —
HzO segment (2,119 (122) —
Total income from operations $ 28,137 $ 16,81 $ 5,71(
Total other income (expense) (1,135 (23€) (197)
Income before provision for income taxes $ 27,00: $ 16,57¢ $ 5,51¢
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As of
December 31 December 31
Identifiable Assets 2011 2010
ZAGG segmen $ 88,671 $ 50,24(
iFrogz segmer 108,77¢ —
HzO segment 4,87¢ 7,192
Total $ 202,32¢ $ 57,43.
(16) — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
Quarterly financial information is presented in thibowing summary:
Year ended December 31, 201
Second Third Fourth
First Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
Net sales $ 26,97¢ $ 38,78¢ % 45887 $ 67,47. $ 179,12!
Operating incom 4,86¢ 4,24¢ 4,61¢ 14,41: 28,13
Net income attributable to stockhold: 3,31( 2,74: 2,24¢ 9,947 18,24¢
Earnings per share attributable to stockholc(1)
Basic $ 014 $ 011 $ 0.07 $ 034 $ 0.67
Diluted 0.1z 0.1C 0.07 0.3Z 0.6
Weighted average common shal
Basic 24,09¢ 25,24( 29,44; 29,67 27,13
Diluted 26,21¢ 27,27¢ 31,37¢ 31,37¢ 29,08:
Year ended December 31, 201
Second Third Fourth
First Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
Net sales $ 8,77t % 15,05¢ $ 23,05¢ $ 29,24t % 76,13¢
Operating incomi 1,332 3,22¢ 6,15¢ 6,10¢ 16,81:
Net income attributable to stockhold: 791 1,911 3,85¢ 3,40z 9,96:
Earnings per share attributable to stockholc(1)
Basic $ 004 % 0.0¢ $ 017 $ 014 $ 0.44
Diluted 0.0z 0.0¢ 0.1€ 0.1z 0.41
Weighted average common shal
Basic 21,71¢ 22,06: 22,56¢ 23,70: 22,51¢
Diluted 23,37: 23,531 24,02¢ 25,44, 24,26

(M The earnings per share calculations for eatcheofjuarters were based upon the weighted averagber of shares outstanding during each

period, and the sum of the quarters may not beléquilae full year earnings per common share an®

F-36




ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)
(17) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN
The Company offers a 401(k) for full-time employé&est have been with the Company for over 90 dalie. Company matches participant
contributions of 100% up to 3% of an employeesasalnd 50% of contributions from 4-5% of an empley salary. Costs recognized for the year
ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 relati temployer 401(k) match totaled $267, $0, and&thectively.
(18) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no subsequent events identified thatdweguire disclosure or adjustment to the consddid financial statements.
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Carson City, Nevada 89701-4520 Filed in the office of Document Number
(775) 684-5708
Website: www.nvsos.gov . -:_""'-.-:r' A |20120175456-63
Ross Miller Filing Date and Time
Secretary of State 03/12/2012 400 PM
State of Nevada Entity Numbel
C8720-2004
Certificate of Correction
(PURSUANT TO NRS
CHAPTERS 78,
78A, 80, 81, 82, 84,:86, 87,
87A,.88,
88A, 89 AND 92A)
USE BLACK INK ONLY- DO NOT ABOVE SPACE IS FOR OFFICEUSE ONLY
HIGHLIGHT Certificate of Correction

(Pursuant to NRS Chapters 78, 78A, 80, 81, 82, &8, 87, 87A, 88, 88A, 89 and 02A)
1.  The name of the entity for which correctiobé&ng made:
ZAGG Inc
2. Description of the original document for whiabrrection is being made:
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation AGLG Inc
3. Filing date of the original document for whiabriection is being made: 09/01/2011
4. Description of the inaccuracy or defect:
The preferred stock language included in ArticlAuithorized Capital was inadvertently includedhe filing but was not ‘approved by the
stockholders and should be deleted.
5.  Correction of the inaccuracy or defect:
DELETE ARTICLE Il AUTHORIZED CAPITAL IN ITS ENTIRETY AND REPLACE:WITH THE FOLLOWING:
ARTICLE Il
AUTHORIZED CAPITAL

The total number of shares which the Corporatiall $tave the authority to issue is One Hundredibfill(100,000,000) shares of common stock,
$0.001 par value per share. All of the shares®fQbrporation's capital stock shall be non-asséssab

6. Signature:
x MV/J&N Chief Financial Officer ’ sjufz,g_ag_
Authorized Signature Title * Date

* |f entity is a corporation, it must be.signed dy officer if stock has been issued, OR an incaifooror director if stock has not been issued; a
limited-liability company, by a manager or managimgmbers; a limited partnership or limited-lialiliimited partnership, by a general partner; a
limited-liability partnership, bya managing partner; a business trust, by a trustee.



IMPORTANT: Failure to include any of the above information antmit with the proper lees may cause this fitmgpe rejected.

This form must be accompanied by appropriate 1 Nevada Secretary of State Correc
SLC_1 03095( Revised: -26.0¢



EXHIBIT 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The subsidiaries of ZAGG Inc (the “Registrant”)addMarch 15, 2012, are listed below:

Subsidiary Name Ownership Jurisdiction
ZAGG Europe Limitec 100% United Kingdom
ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Company, i 100% United State:
ZAGG International Distribution Limite 100% Ireland
ZAGG Retail, Inc. 100% United State:
iFrogz Inc. 100% United State:
iFrogz Europe SA! 100% France

HzO, Inc. 37% United State:



EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
ZAGG Inc:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrdggstration statements (Registration Nos. 333187and 333-179227) on Form8f ZAGG Inc
of our reports dated March 15, 2012, with respedhe consolidated balance sheets of ZAGG Inc @eckember 31, 2011 and 2010, and the re
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdl@epsity and comprehensive income, and cash flawvseich of the years in the twear perio
ended December 31, 2011, and the effectivenesstefnial control over financial reporting as of Dmter 31, 2011, which reports appear in
December 31, 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K of ZARC.

Our report dated March 15, 2012, on the effectigera internal control over financial reportingaisDecember 31, 2011, expresses our opinior
ZAGG Inc did not maintain effective internal coritover financial reporting as of December 31, 20&tause of the effect of a material weakne:
the achievement of the objectives of the contridéia and contains an explanatory paragraph tha#¢sthat a material weakness related to a lae
sufficient number of accounting and IT professisnaith the necessary experience and training hes toentified.

Our report dated March 15, 2012, on the effectigsenef internal control over financial reporting @sDecember 31, 2011, contains an explan:
paragraph that states that the Company acquirashiFduring 2011 and management excluded from igsssnent of the effectiveness of
Company'’s internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2011, iFrogzhternal control over financial reporting assteiawith tota
assets of $108.8 million and total net sales of&3#illion included in the consolidated financithtements of the Company and subsidiaries as ¢
for the year ended December 31, 2011. Our audittefnal control over financial reporting of the r@pany also excluded an evaluation of the int¢
control over financial reporting of iFrogz.

/sIKPMG LLP

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 15, 2012



Exhibit 23.2

H| B M

HANSEN, BARNETT & MAXWELL, P.C.
Certified Public Accountants

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by refereincéhe registration statements (Nos. 333-147510 383-179227) on Form 8-of ZAGC
Incorporated of our report dated March 12, 201@atned to the consolidated financial statementstlier year then ended December 31, 2009, v
appear in the Annual Report on Form 10-K, of ZAG@drporated for the year ended December 31, 2011.

HANSEN, BARNETT & MAXWELL, P.C.

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 15, 2012



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Robert G. Pedersen lI, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Repartrmrm 10-K of ZAGG Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repoggdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@calor omit to state a material fact necessamage
the statements made, in light of the circumstanceer which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all materiaspects
the financial condition, results of operations @aadh flows of the registrant as of and for thequipresented in this report.

4. The registrant's other certifyinfjadr(s) and | are responsible for establishing araihtaining disclosure controls and proceduresiédimed
in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d—15(e))raedhal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
() for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andqalures, or caused such disclosure controls mruégures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the petin which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control oveafinial reporting, or caused such internal contveldinancial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgaerdang the reliability of financial reporting atiie preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thegstegnt's disclosure controls and procedures argkpted in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhmregistrant's internal control over financiglogting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal cohtreer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifyinfadr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our masinteevaluation of internal control over finanaigborting
to the registrant's auditors and the audit committethe registrant's board of directors (or pesguerforming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and magdnveaknesses in the design or operation of inteararol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regitteaability to record, process, summarize and refiaincial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material,tthrevolves management or other employees who haigréficant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.
Date: March 15, 201

/sl ROBERT G. PEDERSEN I

Robert G. Pedersen Il
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Brandon T. O’Brien, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Reportramrm 10-K of ZAGG Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repoggdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@calor omit to state a material fact necessamage
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all materiaspects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of and for thequiipresented in this report.

4. The registrant's other certifyin§iadr(s) and | are responsible for establishing eraihtaining disclosure controls and proceduresiéisied
in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d—15(e))raedhal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andqalures, or caused such disclosure controls mrueégures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metin which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control oveafinial reporting, or caused such internal contver dinancial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgaerdang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thestegit's disclosure controls and procedures arsepted in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhmregistrant's internal control over financigloging that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal cohtreer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifyin§iadr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our masnteevaluation of internal control over finanaigborting
to the registrant's auditors and the audit committethe registrant's board of directors (or pesguerforming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and matdnveaknesses in the design or operation of intearérol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigtsaability to record, process, summarize and refmaincial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, tthrevolves management or other employees who haigréficant role in the registrant's internal qoht
over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 201

/s BRANDON T. O'BRIEN

Brandon T. O'Brien
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report ondt0-K of ZAGG Inc (the "Company") for the year edddecember 31, 2011, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "RepdrtRobert G. Pedersen Il, Chief Executive Officétree Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sasb@rkey Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knadge:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejterements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Sem&iExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Retairly presents, in all material respects, timafcial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sIROBERT G. PEDERSEN Il

Robert G. Pedersen Il
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
March 15, 201:

This certification accompanies the Reparspant to Section 906 of the Sarba@edey Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the ektequired b
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filethbyCompany for purposes of Section 18 of the SesiExchange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statemeaguired by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA@002 has been provided to the Company and will
be retained by the Company and furnished to ther8ies and Exchange Commission or its staff ugguest.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report ondt0-K of ZAGG Inc (the "Company") for the year edddecember 31, 2011, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "RepdrtBrandon T. O'Brien, Chief Financial Officer di¢ Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sasb@rkey Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knadge:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejterements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Sem&iExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Retairly presents, in all material respects, timafcial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sIBRANDON T. O'BRIEN

Brandon T. O’Brien
Chief Financial Officer
March 15, 201:

This certification accompanies the Reparspant to Section 906 of the Sarba@edey Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the ektequired b
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filethbyCompany for purposes of Section 18 of the SesiExchange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statemeaguired by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA@002 has been provided to the Company and will
be retained by the Company and furnished to ther8ies and Exchange Commission or its staff ugguest.



